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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

(A) GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF BUSINESS

Comdial Corporation (together with its subsidiaries, "Comdial" or "the Company"), is a Delaware
corporation formerly based in Charlottesville, Virginia. During the first guarter 2001, Comdial moved

its corporate headquarters to Sarasota, Florida. Comdial was originally incorporated in Oregon in 1977
and was reincorporated in Delaware in 1982 when it acquired General Dynamics Telephone Systems Center,

Inc. (formerly known as Stromberg-Carlson Telephone Systems, Inc.), a wholly owned subsidiary of General
Dynamics Corporation. Comdial's common stock is traded in the Nasdaq SmallCap Market(R) of the National
Association of Security Dealers Automated Quotation System ("Nasdag(R)") under the symbol, "CMDL".

Comdial {R) designs and markets sophisticated voice communications solutions for small to mid-sized
offices. Comdial products consist of business telephone systems, unified and voice messaging, call
processing, and computer telephony integration solutions. Comdial currently has an installed base of
approximately 375,000 telephcne systems, 4 million telephones and 80,000 messaging systems.

During 2001, Comdial was comprised of three major business segments:{l) voice switching, (2) messaging,
and (3) computer telephony integration ("CTI") applications and other.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

On March 6, 2002, Comdial and Bank of America entered into the First Amendment to the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement (the "First Amendment") which reduced the Revolver commitment to $8 million,
reduced the Term Loan to approximately $4.9 million and agreed to extend the $1.5 million in letters of
credit until March 31, 2003. Both the Revolver and the Term Loan mature March 31, 2003.

The First Amendment changed the schedule of principal payments on the Term Loan balance. The term note
will start amortizing in September 2002 using a 36-month amortization schedule. The First Amendment also
changed the applicable interest rate to an interest rate based on the Prime Rate plus a specified
margin. Effective as of March 6, 2002, the interest rate is equal to the Prime Rate plus four percent.
As of March 6, 2002, Comdial had no additional availability under the Revolver or the Term Loan.

Comdial's indebtedness to Bank of America under the Credit Agreement, as amended by the First Amendment
is secured by liens on all of Comdial's properties and assets. The First Amendment modified the
financial covenants relating to consolidated net income and contained other covenants related to
consolidated net worth and cross default provisions. The First Amendment also provided for the waiver of
all 2001 violations and defaults.

In addition to the terms discussed above, 1n connection with the First Amendment, $10 million of
outstanding debt of Comdial to Bank of America was converted into Series B Alternate Rate Cumulative
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock, par value $10 per share (the "Preferred Stock™). Comdial issued
1,000,000 shares of the Preferred Stock to Bank of America. The Preferred Stock can be converted at any
time into a maximum of 1.5 million shares of Comdial common stock. This conversion ratic will be reduced
to as low as 500,000 shares of common stock in the event Comdial elects tc pay down the Term Loan by up
to $3 million in connection with new investment into the Company by an outside investor. Comdial has a
call option allowing it to buy out Bank of America's Preferred Stock at par value, but Bank of America
has no mandatory redemption. The Preferred Stock has a 5 percent cumulative annual dividend if paid with
cash or 10 percent if paid in common stock, at the election of Comdial. The shares of common stock
issuable to Bank of America upon conversion of the Preferred Stock and as payment of dividends are
subject to certain demand and piggyback registration rights pursuant to a registration rights agreement
which will require the Company to register such shares of common stock for resale in the public market
upon request.

In the first quarter of 2002, the Company reached agreements with certain vendors and other creditors to
forgive $7.1 million in current non-bank obligaticns, net of fees payable to the debt management firm
that the Company hired to assist with these efforts. These liabilities included amounts owed to a former
distributor of the Company's products, several component parts suppliers and a seller of industrial
equipment. The gains on forgiveness of $4.6 million will be recognized in 2002.

Included in the non-bank obligations reduction is $2.1 million related to a promissory note that was
canceled by a supplier upon Comdial returning the original inventory purchased from the supplier. Upon
return of the inventory, Comdial entered into a purchase commitment with the supplier to repurchase the
inventory by January 2007, with a minimum monthly purchase amount of $25,000. Also included in the non-
bank obligations reduction is $0.5 million related to a supplier canceling the amount owed by Comdial in
exchange for a purchase commitment of $0.8 million for product that Comdial must purchase by December
2002.

On March 21, 2002, the Company and Relational Funding Corporation and its assignees (collectively "RFC")
reached agreement to reduce the total payments due under the operating and capital leases from a
combined balance of approximately $5.5 million to a payout schedule over 72 months totaling
approximately $2.3 million. For the first 30 months, the monthly payment is $39,621, which then reduces
to $25,282. In addition, Comdial agreed to provide RFC warrants to purchase 175,000 shares of the common
stock of the Company for $0.61 per share, which have an estimated fair market value of approximately
$0.1 million.




RESTRUCTURING

In 2000, due to declining market conditions, unfavorable economic factors, uncompetitive product costs,
and excess inventory levels, the Board of Directors and management deemed it necessary to develop a plan
to restructure the Company. This plan was approved by the Board of Directors, and implementation
commenced during the fourth quarter of 2000. Significant terms of the restructuring plan ("the Plan")
included outsourcing the manufacturing operations, reducing the Company's workforce and selling the
headquarters and manufacturing facility in Virginia. The primary objectives of the Plan were:

Consolidation of business units

Reorganization of the management team
Reorganization of functional departments
Relocation/consolidation of headquarters operations
Qutsourcing of the manufacturing operations

Sale of the Virginia manufacturing facility
Streamlining product lines

Achievement of overall cost savings and efficiencies
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CONSOLIDATION, REORGANIZATION AND RELOCATION

During 2000, each of the four strategic business units within Comdial: CCC, KVT, CES, and CBCC/Array,
had its own engineering, finance, information technology ("IT"), marketing and administrative functions.
Comdial determined that this structure was not sufficiently effective with respect to the Company's
strategic objectives. Consequently, from a functional standpoint, CCC, KVT, and CES were combined under
the Comdial Corporate umbrella during the first quarter of 2001. In conjunction with this combination,
management and functional departments were also reorganized to create a more efficient use of common
corporate infrastructure and eliminate redundant functions.

After approving the Plan, management immediately began to identify potential outsourcing partners and
downsize its current workforce. Pursuant to the Plan, 152 employees were terminated effective December
15, 2000, another 222 employees were notified as of December 28, 2000 that their positicns would be
eliminated during 2001. As of December 31, 2001 a total of 342 employees have been terminated as part of
the Plan. (See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

The relocation and consolidation of certain functions from Virginia to Florida was substantially
completed during the first quarter of 2001. The Company achieved significant cost savings during 2001
due to the consolidation of administrative, information technology, finance, and sales and marketing
functions.

OUTSOURCING MANUFACTURING OPERATIONS

In January 2001, the Company entered into an agreement with an overseas manufacturer to produce a cost-
competitive small key system to supplement the Company's offerings.

In February 2001, the Company entered into an agreement with a domestic manufacturer to outsource
certain of its existing manufacturing operations. During 2001, the Company transiticned a significant
portion of its manufacturing operations to this manufacturer.

In August of 2001, the Company added a third manufacturing outsource partner, also foreign-based, to
allow for increased capacity of its telephone manufacturing requirements.
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At the present time, the Company believes it has a sufficient number of outsource manufacturers.
However, the Company will continue to look at alternative manufacturers to ensure it receives the best
product value for its customers.

The Company does not own any egquity interests or provide any form of debt
financing to .its outsourcing partners.

SALE OF VIRGINIA FACILITY

On March 9, 2001, the Company sold its Virginia manufacturing facility in a sale leaseback. The Company
is leasing approximately 120,000 sgquare feet of space for low volume board production, light assembly
work, warehousing, engineering, and technical services functions under a three year agreement.

STREAMLINING PRODUCT LINES AND COST SAVINGS

During the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company undertcok a rigorous analysis of the number of telephcne
and circuit boards it marketed to its customers. As a result, Comdial has significantly reduced the
number of telephone models available by discontinuing items with low demand and/or redundant items. Low
demand versions of circuit cards used in the FX(tm) and DXP(tm) systems were also eliminated. During
2001, Comdial streamlined the number of telephones offered in conjunction with its digital systems from
over 50 models to 8. Likewise, the number of key system model numbers was also reduced from thirteen to
sizx. The Company has benefited as a result of this streamlining. More volume concentrated ¢n fewer
products has reduced product cost and inventory levels, while making the product lines easier to
configure, warehouse and sell.

EVENTS OF SEPTEMBER 11, 2001 AFFECT COMDIAL SALES

On September 28, 2001, management and the Board approved and executed a second restructuring plan in
response to the downturn in the economy and the events of September 11, 2001. This second plan was
designed to achieve certain operational and financial efficiencies throughout the organization. The
Company also developed a contingency plan to guickly react if the disaster proved tc cause more serious
economic effects to the company.

Significant terms of the second plan included downsizing the workforce in both the Sarasota and
Charlottesville locations. Accordingly, reductions were made across several departments including sales,
finance, manufacturing, engineering, and technical support. Thirty employees in total were notified that
their positions had been eliminated on September 28, 2001.

During the month of October, it became clear to management that further restructuring was required and
that the Company's contingency plan must be implemented. Accordingly, a third restructuring plan was
announced in November 2001. The Company decided to make some fundamental changes to the engineering
department, as well as cut expenses further in light of the events of September 11, and the effects that
this event had on the sales of its products. The Company announced that it would be outsocurcing the
entire production and assembly work presently being conducted in Charlottesville. The Company announced
it would eliminate more than 75 positions between November 2001 and April 2002 as it totally exits
manufacturing.




SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

some of the statements included or incorporated by reference into our Securities and Exchange Commission

filings, press releases, and sharehoclder communications and other information provided periodically in
writing or orally by our officers, directors or agents, including this Form 10-K, are forward- looking
statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties. These forward- looking statements are not
historical facts but rather are based on certain expectations, estimates and projections about our
industry, our beliefs and our assumptions. Words such as "may", "will", "anticipates", "expects",
"intends", "plans", "believes", “seeks" and "estimates" and variations of these words and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Some of the risks and uncertainties
include, but are not limited to:

any inability to stem continued operating losses and to generate
positive cash flow;

any adverse impact of competitors' products;

delays in development of highly complex products;

lower than anticipated product demand and lack of market acceptance;
adverse market fluctuations caused by general economic conditions;

any negative impact resulting from the outsourcing of manufacturing and
the continued risks associated with outsourcing;

any lack of success of our restructuring plans;
any inability to meet our restructured debt obligations to Bank of
America, N.A., including, without limitation, compliance with all

applicable covenants;

any inability to renegotiate on favorable terms or otherwise meetf our
obligations to suppliers and other creditors;

the risk of de-listing from the Nasdag SmallCap Market;
unfavorable outcomes in any pending litigation;

any inability to form or maintain key strategic alliances;

our inability to raise capital when needed;

any continued reductions in ourkliquidity and working capital;

the significant dilutive effect on existing stockholders of issuances of
stock to Bank of America and other creditors;

any adverse impact to the market of our stock if Bank of America elects
to sell a material amount of shares;

any negative impact resulting from our downsizing of our workforce;
unanticipated liabilities or expenses;
the availability and pricing of parts and components;

other risks detailed from time to time in our filings with the
Securities and Exchange Cormmission.

These risks could cause our actual results for 2002 and beyond to differ materially from those
expressed, implied or forecasted in any forward-looking statement made by, or on behalf of, us. We
undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise the forward-looking statements made in this Form

10-K to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Form 10-K or to reflect the occurrence of

unanticipated events.




OUTSOQOURCING RISKS

As part of its restructuring program, Comdial ocutsourced substantially all of its manufacturing
requirements. Outsourced manufacturing is carried out in three principal locations: Asia, Mexico and
Florida. It is expected that all manufacturing will be outsourced by the end of the second quarter of
2002. Outsourcing carries certain risks which include, but may not be limited to: the financial
solvency, labor concerns and general business condition of Comdial's outsocurcing contractors, pelitical,
legal and economic conditions, language and cultural barriers, trade barriers, currency fluctuations and
changes -in requlatory requirements related to foreign locations, risks of fire, flood or acts of God
affecting manufacturing facilities and Comdial's ability to meet its financial obligations to our
outsourcing contractors. In addition, Comdial's outsourcing contractors acquire component parts from
various suppliers. Similar risks are involved in such procurement efforts. Due to the Company's
dependency on outsourced manufacturing and the inherent difficulty in replacing outsourced manufacturing
capacity in an efficient or expeditious manner, the occurrence of any condition preventing or hindering
the manufacture or delivery of manufactured goods by any one or more of its outsourcing contractors
could have a material adverse effect on Comdial's business and financial results.

INDUSTRY BACKGROUND

Comdial's primary business and product offerings fall into three categories: (1) voice switching
systems, (2) voice messaging systems, and (3) computer telephony integration ("CTI") applications that
incorporate voice messaging and voice processing products with advanced computer technologies and/or
Internet applications. All of these businesses are focused on small- to medium-sized offices, are highly
competitive and are influenced by trends and events in technology, regulation and the general economy.

VOICE SWITCHING SYSTEMS

Comdial produces and markets digital voice switching systems known as key/hybrid systems. Historically,
voice-switching systems were categorized as either key/hybrid systems or Private Branch Exchanges
("PBXs"). Key/hybrid systems are typically purchased by small- to medium-sized offices of small to large
organizations with 3 to 500 employees per location or branch office, while larger businesses with more
than 500 employees in one location typically purchase PBXs. However, design advances in key/hybrid
systems and PBXs in recent years have blurred the distinction between the two systems. As key/hybrid
systems continue to evolve, they increasingly encroach on the domain of the traditional PBXs, and vice
versa.

A basic business telephone system consists of: (a) a central switching unit, (b) telephone instruments,
(c) associated wiring and connection hardware, (d) system software, and (e) adjunct devices such as
facsimile machines and voice processing systems. Voice switching systems are measured in terms of
"ports". A port is an access point on the switch to an outside trunk or terminal device. Examples of
terminal devices include telephones, facsimile machines, modems, and voice mail ports. Examples of
trunks include standard business lines and digital lines such as ISDN and T-1, as well as other types of
circuits provided by a telephone company or an alternative service provider. With the proliferation of
modems, facsimile machines, and voice mall systems, the demand for port capacity in key/hybrid systems
has grown.

Due to the voice and data convergence phenomenon, data access to Internet Protocol (IP) networks and the
Internet as a type of access point is becoming increasingly important in voice switching systems. As
part of this technology change the emergence of IP-based terminal devices such as IP telephones are
becoming an important component in the Company's product portfolio. Data access points are available for
trunks, terminal devices and networking. The Company accomplishes this with an IP media board that
supports voice over IP (VoIP) protocols. The Company has developed an IP telephone, which is currently
manufactured by one of its outsourcing partners.
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The 2001 enterprise communications market size dramatically decreased by 24.3 percent in terms of number
of systems shipped. Comdial's systems shipped remained approximately flat year over year at ~-0.2
percent. The first half of 2001l resulted in a 12.6 percent decrease, while Comdial improved in the
second half by increasing units shipped by 14.3 percent year over year. For the year, Comdial increased
its market share by approximately 31.9 percent from approximately 4.1 percent to 5.5 percent. The
Company is ranked seventh behind Avaya, Panasonic Company, Nortel, NEC, Inter-tel, and Toshiba,
according to the Phillips Infotech, Enterprise Communications Fourth Quarter 2001 Report.

The domestic demand for traditional key/hybrid switching systems, as projected by Phillips Infotech, a
leading industry market analyst firm, is expected to decline 27.6 percent, decline 4.1 percent, and
increase 3 percent in 2001, 2002, and 2003, respectively. Per the same firm, the key/hybrid market is
expected to generate revenues of approximately $1.53 billion, $1.45 billion, and $1.48 billion in 2001,
2002, and 2003, respectively.

The PBX switching systems market, where Comdial has no product offerings, is expected to decline 27.2
percent, decline 5.1 percent, and remain unchanged in 2001, 2002, and 2003, respectively. The PBX market
is expected to generate revenues of $2.89 billion, $2.71 billion, and $2.66 billion in 2001, 2002, and
2003, respectively, according to the Phillips Infotech, Enterprise Communications Third Quarter 2001
Report.

The IP PBX switching market in terms of stations shipped, a market that Comdial introduced new products
to in late 2001, is expected to grow 202 percent, 40.8 percent, and 47.8 in 2001, 2002, and 2003,
respectively. This projected growth translates into revenues of approximately $757 million, $984
million, and $1.37 billion in 2001, 2002, and 2003, respectively, according to the Phillips Infotech,
Enterprise Communications Third Quarter 2001 Report.

The year 2002 and 2003 projected declines in the key/hybrid and PBX markets are primarily due to the
adoption of IP PBX systems. In 2001, Comdial gained market share in the key/hybrid market and started
selling in the emerging IP PBX segment. The Company believes it is well positioned to compete
effectively in both markets. The Company's FX IITM product is classified as a converged IP telephony
system and provides customers with the option of deploying circuit switched and/or packet switched
solutions. The FX II is Comdial's key entry to the projected high growth IP PBX market.
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VOICE MESSAGING

As the market for voice processing systems has matured, a new variation known as "unified messaging" has
evolved. Unified messaging provides a means of storing voice and fax messages along side email messages
in a single location (such as the "inbox" associated with Microsoft(R) Outlook(R) in-box). Unified
messaging enables a system user to play voice mail messages (using the sound capabilities of their PC)
at the same time the user is picking up their email messages. The user can also annotate, store and
forward voice messages in the same manner as e-mail messages. Unified messaging also allows the user to
listen to voice messages via the telephone and also listen to e~mail messages via the telephone through
the use of sophisticated text-to-speech software. The unified messaging "in-box" is a multimedia store
for voice, fax and e-mail messages. In 1999, Comdial introduced iNTerchange (TM), its unified messaging
system combining voice mail, fax, and e-mail. Comdial's iNTerchange unified messaging system is
available in several sizes and configurations. iNTerchange integrates with Microsoft(R) Exchange and
other popular e-mail servers. According to IDC's February 2001 press release, the number of UM mailboxes
is projected to increase from 1 million in 1999 to more than 38 million in 2004. Vendor revenues in this
market are expected to jump from $132 million to nearly $2 billion during this time. iNTerchange, in
combination with Corporate Office(TM), Comdial's mid- market offering, and Debut (TM), its entry-level
product, constitute a complete range of voice processing solutions. These products provide veice
processing for applications ranging in size from 2 to 64 ports. Most Comdial sales are in the 2 to 8
port range, corresponding with the needs of small to mid-size offices that are Comdial's primary
markets.

According to Phillips Infotech in terms of systems shipped, for the year ending 2000, Comdial with its
subsidiary key voice was ranked fourth with 6.4 percent market share behind Avays, Nortel, and Active
Veoice. For the first half year 2001 (year-end 2001 figures have not yet been released), the Company was
ranked sixth with 4.3 percent market share behind Avays, Nortel, Panasonic, NHC (via its acquisition of
Active Vecice), and Toshiba. Comdial believes that its second half performance will boost its voice mail
market standings.

COMPUTER TELEPHONY INTEGRATION SOLUTIONS AND OTHER

Comdial has also developed sophisticated desktop software applications designed to run in a Microsoft
Windows (R) /Outlook environment. Examples of these applications include Impact Attendant(TM), Impact
Group(TM), and Impact Call(TM). All of these applications enable a PC user to visually monitor and
control (transfer, hold, etc.) phone calls. The call control capabilities of these desktop applications
are enabled by Comdial's "Enterprise" CTI link and WideOpen Office(TM), a server based program. The
market for CTI products is very diverse and difficult to quantify. Most of Comdial's CTI sales derive
from sales of the Company's switching and/or voice messaging products. Comdial has also developed
products targeted at vertical markets. Two examples include the "Concierge(TM}", a hotel/motel targeted
market, and "Avalon(TM)", an assisted living targeted market. Comdial sold its Avalon business in 2001
(discussed in greater detail in the following section) to a company focused exclusively in the health
care market, who will now be a reseller of other Comdial equipment.

STRATEGY
Comdial seeks to expand sales and profits by:

1. Focusing on its core competencies in the switching and messaging markets
and introducing feature-rich and competitively priced products;

2. Leveraging the core competency in communications technology to develop and
introduce advanced IP telephony products and solutions;

3. Leveraging its expertise in messaging and offering technologically advanced
solutions like unified messaging at a competitive price point;

4. Increasing profitability and penetration of government and national account

opportunities through a channel-centric strategy versus the Company's

direct model;

Expanding voice processing software sales in international markets; and

Adding recurring revenue opportunities by offering bundled solutions to

users, which integrate Comdial hardware and software products with various

service offerings.
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PRODUCT OFFERINGS

Comdial currently offers digital business telephone systems, wired and wireless terminals, computer and
telephony software applications, voice processing and unified messaging systems, Voice Over Internet
Protocol ("VoIP"), and other products alcng with a variety of product enhancements. Comdial believes
that it offers a competitive range of products enabling dealers to meet differing price and feature
requirements. Comdial strives to introduce new products that meet the needs of a changing market.

Comdial currently provides the newly released DX-80(TM) and FX II(TM), plus the Impact FX(TM), DXP and
DSU(TM) switching products. In 2001, Comdial introduced the DX-80 digital key system and the FX II
digital key system. The DX-80 and the FX II are expected to continue to cannibalize sales of the DXP and
DSU, which Comdial plans to retire in 2002. The DX-80 is positioned for the lower end of the small to
medium office market and provides a unique set of features at a very competitive price coupled with easy
installation and operation.

The FX II appeals to a broad range of customers due to its robust advanced feature set and scalability.
Businesses with as few as 10 people can afford the FX II. The FX II is Comdial's most current and
sophisticated switching platform. The FX Il is expandable to 560 ports. The FXII differs from Comdial's
other switching platforms in that it is more "open" and more software-intensive. The FX II is a rack
mountable version of the FX platform. FX II is designed to provide a lower initial cost of entry for
customers who desire the sophisticated features including IP gateway functionality, support for IP
telephones and digital trunk capabilities. The rack mount design provides convenient installation
alongside other rack-mounted IT egquipment. Alternatively, the FX II can be wall mounted.

The introduction of the FX II provides Comdial with a competitive, feature-rich product offering that is
scaleable though chassis expansion and networking, thereby servicing a broader range of customer size
segments, which should result in improved sales.

The FX II supports fiber connectivity for chassis expansion. Fiber connectivity provides a fiber optic
link between cabinets for optimal equipment placement in environments that can benefit from multiple
cabinets in the same application, but separated by up to 2500 meters. Typical applications for fiber
connectivity are campus environments and multi-level buildings.

The FX II's networking capabilities allow multiple locations to share one numbering plan and feature
transparency throughout the network. This feature is important for applications where multiple locations
require total integration of the communications system. For example, the FX II network design has
enjoyed success in the campus environment of educational facilities.

In addition to the networking feature based on dedicated telecom facilities, the FX II alsc supports IP
networking. IP netwerking allows the networking of switching systems over data facilities. This is
important as voice and data now can share the same wide area or local area network reducing the total
cost of ownership of the system by leveraging the existing facilities instead of separate facilities for
data and telecom. Comdial provides for the use of multiple compression algorithms to best suit the users
application and bandwidth requirements.

Comdial offers the iNTerchange(TM) unified messaging, Corporate Office, and Debut voice messaging
systems. Comdial alsc provides CTI based products that work in conjunction with the FX and or DXP. These
CTI products are "Concierge" for the hospitality industry, Enhanced Customer Service features for
informal call centers, and QuickQ, which provides automatic call distributor ("ACD") functionality
designed for more sophisticated call centers. Sales of these products constitute the majority of
Comdial's CTI sales revenue.
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PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT / NEW PRCDUCTS

Comdial currently has a number of new products and product enhancements either in testing or scheduled
for release during 2002. These include: new IMAP4 protocol support for iNTerchange, an enhanced IP
telephone, a new voice processing platform for the DX-80, more advanced call center functionality for
our Enhanced Customer Service feature, a new wireless telephone, a new CPU enhancement designed for
advanced next generation functionality, enhancements to its line and station cards, as well as a next
generation, open-standards-based product designed around Session Initiation Protocol ("SIP") and
Microsoft's .NET initiative.

Throughout 2001 and beyond, Comdial plans to continue to evolve IP-based capabilities for both the
switching and voice processing product lines. The Company plans to continue to enhance new technologies
and incorporate them into existing products based on the maturity of the technology and customer
perceived value-add. :

PRODUCT DISTRIBUTION

The majority of Comdial's products are sold to the end-user through a network of Comdial authorized
dealers. The Company has authorized dealers in every major metropolitan area in the U.S. These dealers
purchase Comdial products from Comdial-authorized distributors. Use of the distributors enables Comdial
to minimize receivables credit risk, sales administration and inventory. The distributors also make
Comdial products widely available on a same-day or next- day basis. Comdial dealers benefit from having
multiple sources from which they can obtain product on short notice, which keeps down the cost of the
product to dealers and minimizes the need for dealers to maintain their own inventory.

Comdial is in the process of shifting most of its products into the distribution channel. In January
2002, it introduced all of its voice messaging and unified messaging products to the distributors as
well as many telephony products that Comdial sold direct. This enhances the position of Comdial with
respect to its warehousing, customer credit exposure and simplifies its dealer and rebate programs. In
addition, Comdial is engaged in discussions with its distributors regarding how to migrate its direct
national accounts and government sales to the distribution channel. This strategy will further reduce
Comdial's receivables risk and increase geographic scope and coverage.

STRATEGIC ALLIANCES
Comdial plans to continue to evaluate strategic alliances where it can either generate more customers or
enhance its product lines and utilize its distribution power through the dealer channel.

(B) FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT INDUSTRY SEGMENTS
During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, substantially all of Comdial's sales,
net income (loss), and identifiable net assets were attributable to the telecommunications industry.

Additional information is included in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Product Sales Information:

The following table presents certain relevant information concerning
comdial's business segments for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
{In thousands) 2001 2000 1999

Business segment sales:

Switching $53,511 $49,545 $ 81,868
Messaging 15,183 28,014 38,907
CTI and other 7,473 12,005 19,982

Net sales (a) $76,1867 $89,564 $140,757

(a) buring 2001, the Company classified certain sales rebates and incentives as a reduction of revenue.
Previously, these incentives were classified as a selling, general and administrative expense. The
Company has also reclassified such amounts for fiscal years 2000 and 1999 to conform to the 2001
presentation. These and other reclassifications had no effect on operating or net income.

(C) NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS:

PRODUCTS

Comdial has strategically changed its product portfolic. While the new product portfolio consists of
fewer product SKUs, it represents, in management's opinion, the strongest most scalable product lineup
ever offered by Comdial. By significantly reducing the number of similar products and focusing on
increasing volume and lowering product costs, the Company intends to strengthen its ability to provide
stable profit margins in the future. We believe this also enhances the Company's competitive position.
This strategic product shift was the key benefit of the restructuring plans.

Comdial offers a variety of communications products, including switching products, messaging systems,
CTI solutions and other software applications. Comdial's telecommunications products meet the
requirements of three agencies: (1) the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC"}, (2) an independent
laboratory approved by the Occupational Safety and Health Act Commission ("OSHA") to produce safety
standards, and (3) a nationally recognized test laboratory that performs product evaluations. Selected
products are also registered with the Canadian government and are Canadian safety certified.

SWITCHING
The following products comprised the majority of Switching sales:

The FX II is Comdial's most current and sophisticated switching platform and is expandable to 560 ports.
Since its introduction of the original FX in 1997, Comdial has continually enhanced the FX Series. The
FX II differs from Comdial's other switching platforms due to its open, software-enhanced, scaleable
architecture. The introduction of the FX II increases Comdial's competitiveness for a broader range of
applications, thus expanding its market opportunity, which should in turn produce incremental sales.

The DXP system, originally introduced in 1992, has had several major upgrades over the years. The DXP
was the first Comdial digital switching platform that expanded to 560 ports. The Company expects sales
of the FX II to continue replacing sales of the DXP during 2002.
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The DSU (Digital Service Unit) system, originally introduced in 1990, has been the mainstay of Comdial's
key system offering. The DSU has been used as the platform for three iterations of key system products:
the Impact (using Impact phones), Impact SCS (using Impact SCS phones) and the Impression(TM). The
Impression was discontinued during first quarter of 2001. The Company expects sales of DX-80 and FX II
to continue replacing sales of the DSU during 2002. Impact telephones were introduced in 1992. These
telephones offer a variety of features, including an interactive liquid crystal display ("LCD"),
programmable feature keys, three color lighted status indicators, and subdued off-hook voice announce
for receiving intercom calls while on a telephone call. The phones are offered in a variety of models,
distinguished by the number of programmable buttons, an optional display, and an optional speakerphone.
Impact phones can be used with the FX, DXP and DSU switching platforms, thus providing customers with
investment protection as they upgrade from one switch to another.

Impact SCS was introduced in 1997. Impact SCS retains many of the original Impact telephone models, but
has a new design and other distinguishing capabilities such as a full-duplex speakerphone model,
simultaneous voice and data, large screen display and adjustable viewing angle. Impact phones can be
used with the FX, DXP and DSU switching platforms, again offering customers investment protection when
upgrading their switch.

The DX-80 is a new all-in-one digital key system with advanced features including voice mail, live call
screening, auto attendant, plus others. This new system is competitively priced and has resulted in an
increase in market share in the small office market segment. The DX-80 was released in Ql of 2001. In
spite of a difficult year for equipment sales, the DX-80 performed well in 2001.

MESSAGING

Debut was introduced in 1998 to meet the needs of small offices seeking basic
voice processing capabilities at an attractive price.

Corporate Office(TM}, introduced in 1996, is the trade name of a PC-based voice processing system. The
product provides all standard voice processing ‘features such as auto attendant, voice store and forward,
multiple greetings, and individual voice mail boxes. Advanced features such as fax tone detection, audio
text (interactive response to user touch-tone commands), and Visual Call Management (TM) (the ability to
view voice messages from a PC) are also available. Corporate Office can be integrated with Comdial's
digital telephone systems so that display messages on liquid crystal display ("LCD") terminals prompt
user operations. The Company offers similar integration packages for telephone systems made by other
companies. Corporate Office is offered in 4 to €4 port configurations. Corporate Office is available in
a variety of form factors and utilizes various Microsoft operating systems Voice storage capacity is
virtually unllmlted, which is an advantage of PC-based design.

iNTerchange is a unified messaging system that was introduced in the third quarter of 1999. This system
was specifically designed tc meet both small and large company needs. It is a Microsoft Windows 2000 (TM)
based unified messaging system that fits into any office's local area network ("LAN") and combines voice
mail, fax and e-mail capabilities. The system provides a way to better prioritize messages with more
efficient alternatives for receiving and responding to each type of electronic messaging.
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COMPUTER TELEPHONE INTEGRATION ("CTI") SOLUTICNS AND OTHER SOFTWARE APPLICATIONS

QuickQ ACD, introduced in 1994, is an automatic call distributor ("ACD"), designed for call center use.
The QuickQ ACD answers and distributes incoming calls rapidly and efficiently, helping to assure maximum
call center productivity and superior customer response levels. The Company also has a call center
product for informal call centers called Enhanced Customer Service ("ECS"), which is.integrated into
Comdial's messaging systems. Informal call centers are call centers that do not require some of the
added sophistication of QuickQ, but require sophisticated call routing and queuing. ECS provides an
entry-level call routing and queuing for informal call centers as part of our messaging platform. The
Company is enhancing ECS and expects to create a superior version later in 2002.

DISCONTINUED VERTICAL MARKET PRODUCTS

Due te the restructuring of the business, the Company has decided to exit the direct sales of Avalon
vertical market application for the assisted living market. The Company sold the Avalon business assets
to Fidelity Telealarm in October 2001. It is expected that Fidelity will resell Comdial products
alongside its solutions. The Company has now completely exited this business, which had negative
financial results.

SALES AND MARKETING

Comdial markets its products through both direct and indirect channels. Indirect channels include both
one-tiered and two~-tier distribution. Comdial's primary channel of distribution to U.S. and Canadian
markets is through five wholesale distributors, which in turn, resell to hundreds of independent
dealers.

Three supply houses collectively account for more than 65% of Comdial's net sales. These are ALLTEL
Supply, Inc. ("ALLTEL"}, Graybar Electric Company, Inc. ("Graybar"), and Sprint/North Supply, Inc.
("North Supply"). In 2001, net sales to ALLTEL, Graybar, and North Supply amounted to approximately $9.1
million (12%), $29.8 million (39%), and $11.0 million (14%), respectively.

Comdial has established four classes of dealers that purchase Comdial's products from distributors for
sale to end-users. These are Platinum, Gold, Associate, and General Interconnect. Comdial coffers an
incentive package for Platinum and Gold dealers, including exclusive access to certain products, cash
rebates related to dealer purchase levels, cooperative advertising allowances, a measure of territorial
protection, toll free assistance, and training., Platinum and Gold dealers have sales gquotas, and
Comdial's sales department monitors their performance against these targets. Associate and General
Interconnect dealers purchase Comdial's products on an as-needed basis, and are not rewarded through
product rebates. Associate and General Interconnect dealers do not have quotas but also do not have
access to certain "Dealer Only" products, a reduced cooperative advertising allowance, and other
preferred dealer services that are offered by Comdial.

Comdial supports its existing dealers and seeks to attract new dealers through direct selling efforts,
joint sales activities with distributors, and other new dealer recruitment tactics.

Comdial has defined thirteen geographic sales territories, each of which include a regional sales
manager ("RSM") who is responsible for recruiting new dealers, as well as managing existing dealers.
Dealers are supported through thirteen dedicated inside sales representatives, direct mail, and local
product seminars often organized by distributors. To stimulate demand, each RSM makes joint sales calls
with dealers to end-users and trains dealer sales personnel in product benefits. Product specialists at
Comdial are available to help engineer complex configurations and solve any technical problems.
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Comdial's dealers sell Comdial's products to end-users and provide after-sale support. Comdial maintains
a technical staff devoted to dealer technical support. Comdial also generally provides a limited
warranty on elements of its products up to a maximum of 24 months.

Other indirect channels include OEM relationships, international sales, and
dealer direct sales for specific products.

In recent years, Comdial initiated a national accounts marketing program to market its products to large
multi-location end-users. The branch offices and retail outlets that employ 5-500 employees are a good
fit with Comdial's product line. The program allows end-users to contract with one entity (Comdial or
designated partner) for sales, while achieving local installations and maintenance from Comdial's
network of independent dealers. This program is also a key delivery vehicle for sophisticated computer
telephony solutions sales that often require advanced custom integration and superior knowledge and
understanding of end-user communications and business objectives. The National Accounts Marketing
Program allows Comdial to work directly with end-users to assure that the best combination of Comdial
and, if necessary, third party products are incorporated into the final solution. Comdial employs
dedicated personnel to close national accounts' contracts, yet, leverages its regional sales managers
and dealer network to identify prospects.

Because the bulk of Comdial's sales are made under short-term sales orders issued by customers on a
month-to-month basis rather than under long-term supply contracts, backlog is not considered material to
Comdial's business.

ENGINEERING, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Comdial believes that it must continue to introduce new products and enhance existing products to
maintain a competitive position in the marketplace. Comdial's engineering department, working in
collaboration with the marketing and manufacturing departments, is responsible for design of new
products and enhancements. Significant amounts of engineering expenditures are dedicated to new product
development, with the balance used for cost reductions and performance enhancements to existing
products. Comdial strives to ensure research and development resources are spent on projects that
provide the best return and have the most strategic value. This may at times mean utilizing resources
outside the company on a contract basis or partnering with other companies to bring products and/or
features faster to the market place.

Research and development costs for the fiscal years ended 2001, 2000 and 1999, comprise the majority of
engineering, research, and development costs, which were $7.6 million, $6.3 million and $9.7 million,
respectively. Comdial is unable to segregate and quantify the amount of research and development costs
from other engineering costs for such fiscal years.

Some of the research and development costs associated with the development of product software have been
capitalized as incurred. The accounting for such software follow the provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 86. The amounts capitalized in 2001, 2000 and 1999 were $2.8
million, $4.4 million and $4.7 million, respectively. The amortization expense of capitalized software
development costs in 2001, 2000 and 1999 were $3.1 million, $3.3 million and $2.4 million, respectively.
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MANUFACTURING AND QUALITY CONTROL

Comdial has streamlined its product offerings in 2000 and 2001 by eliminating products and models that
were redundant and/or low volume, thereby simplifying outsourcing and reducing the associated risk. This
action also has the added benefit of concentrating more volume on the remaining models, which is
expected to have a positive effect on cost, efficiency and quality. During 2001, Comdial successfully
completed substantially all of its outsourcing objectives. The Company believes that outsourcing the
manufacturing of its products will return benefits in the form of lower costs, higher margins and
competitively priced products. While 2001 has been a restructuring year for the Company, the outsourcing
of the majority of its products has already resulted in significant benefits to the Company. The Company
has experienced mincr disruptions in its supply chain during this process. The guality of the products
produced by its outsourcing partners has been good and the Company expects to maintain or improve the
quality over time.

COMPETITION

The market for Comdial's switching and voice-processing products is highly competitive. Comdial competes
with over 25 suppliers of small business telephone systems, many of which have significantly greater
resources. Examples are Avaya, Nortel Networks, Cisco, 3Com, NEC, Inter-tel, Vodavi, Panasonic, and
Toshiba Corporation. Key competitive factors in the sale of telephone systems and related applications
include performance, features, reliability, service and support, name recognition, distribution
capability, and price. Comdial believes that it competes favorably in its market with respect to the
performance, features, reliability, distribution capability, and price of its systems, as well as the
level of service and support that Comdial provides. In marketing its telephone systems, Comdial also
emphasizes system expandability, gquality, and high technology features including the IP and CTI
capabilities of its products.

Comdial expects that competition will continue to be intense in the markets it serves, and there can be
no assurance that Comdial will be able to continue tc compete successfully in the marketplace or that
Comdial will be able to maintain its current dealer network.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

From time to time, Comdial has been subject to proceedings alleging infringement by Comdial of
intellectual property rights of others. Such proceedings could require Comdial to expend significant
sums in litigation, pay significant damages, develop non-infringing technology, or acquire licenses to
the technology that is the subject of the asserted infringement, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on Comdial's business. Moreover, Comdial relies upon copyright, trademark, patents and
trade secret protection to protect Comdial's proprietary rights in its products. There can be no
assurance that these protections will be adequate to deter misappropriation of Comdial's technologies or
independent third- party development of similar technologies.
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The business telecommunications industry is characterized by rapid technological change. Industry
participants often find it necessary to develop products and features similar to those introduced by
others, with incomplete knowledge of whether patent protection may have been applied for or may
ultimately be obtained by competitors or others. The telecommunications manufacturing industry has
historically witnessed numerous allegations of patent infringement and considerable related litigation
among competitors. Comdial itself has received claims of patent infringement from several parties that
sometimes seek substantial sums. In response to prior infringement claims, Comdial has pursued and
obtained nonexclusive licenses entitling Comdial to utilize certain fundamental patented functions that
are widely licensed and used in the telecommunications manufacturing industry. These licenses will
either expire at the end of the patent license or the end of an agreed-to period. The Company holds
certain licenses with Avaya .Inc., however, at this time the Company has informed Avaya it is not in a
position to pay the fees that Avaya claims are owed pursuant to the licenses.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2001, Comdial, including subsidiaries, had 258 full-time employees, of whom 51 were
engaged in manufacturing, 35 in engineering, 115 in sales and support, and 57 in general management and
administration. During 2000 and 2001, Comdial initiated restructuring programs that included outsourcing
the manufacturing of most of its products. As a result, the Company experienced a reduction in its
workforce by 303 employees during 2001. During the first half of 2002, Comdial expects to reduce the
workforce by more than 50 people. Continued assessment of cost efficiencies may necessitate additional
headcount reductions.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

In March 2001, the Company sold its Charlottesville, Virginia, headquarters and manufacturing facility
to Seminole Trail Properties, LLC ("STP"). The purchase price for the property was $11.4 million, all of
which was collected in 2001. ’ .

The Company is leasing back a portion of the facility through August 31, 2003, for low volume board
production, light assembly, engineering, and technical services functions. Lease payment obligations
total $2.6 million over the 30 month lease term.

The total gain on the sale of the facility amounted to $5.1 million. The Company immediately recognized
a gain of $2.9 million in 2001 which is the amount by which the gain exceeds the present value of the
ninimum lease payments to be made by the Company from the closing date through August 30, 2003. The

» remaining amount of the gain of $2.2 million has been deferred due to the leaseback and is being
amortized over 30 months, the term of the lease, as a reduction of rent expense. During 2001, the
Company amortized $1.1 million as a reduction of rent expense. As of December 31, 2001, the balance of
the deferred gain amounts to $1.1 million.

In addition, the Company leases approximately 60,000 square feet of office and warehouse space in
Sarasota, Florida, which serves as its corporate headquarters. This lease expires in January 2010.

17




ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Comdial currently and from time to time is involved in litigation arising in the ordinary course of its
business. Those that the Company believes may have a significant impact on it are described below.
Comdial can give no assurance that the resolution of any particular claim or proceeding would not have a
material adverse effect on its results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.

On March 5, 2001, William Grover, formerly a senior vice president of Comdial, filed suit in state court
in Charlottesville, Virginia alleging breach of an employment contract and defamation, and seeking
compensatory, punitive and exemplary damages in the total amount of $1.9 million, plus interest. Among
other things, Mr. Grover claims that the for-cause termination of his employment was unjustified and
that he is therefore entitled to all benefits accrued to him pursuant to the Company's executive
retirement plan. The Company removed this case to the federal district court for the Western District of
Virginia, because Mr. Grover's state law claims against Comdial are preempted by federal law,
specifically ERISA. Presently, Mr. Grover is seeking to remand the case back to state court. Comdial
believes that it has adequate substantive 'and procedural defenses against all claims made against
Comdial in this matter.

On October 5, 2000, William G. Mustain resigned as president and chief executive officer of Comdial. On
the same date, Comdial agreed to pay Mr. Mustain his normal salary for the remainder of 2000 plus
severance in the amount of $0.1 million per year for three years beginning on January 1, 2001. Mr.
Mustain was also entitled to be paid approximately $1.7 million in three installments over a 15 month
period plus certain fringe benefits under Comdial's Retirement Benefit Restoration Plan (the "Plan"). In
2001, Comdial made the initial payment of $0.6 million under the Plan. However, on June 30, 2001,
Comdial notified Mr. Mustain that it would not make payment of the second $0.6 million installment due
under the Plan because of its financial condition, as permitted under the terms of the agreement with
Mr, Mustain. On December 27, 2001, Comdial reached agreement with Mr. Mustain on modified terms with
respect to the remaining amounts due to him. In lieu of those remaining amounts due of $1.1 million, we
agreed to pay Mr. Mustain a total of approximately $0.3 million payable in five annual installments
commencing in 2004. No gain will be recognized until the Plan is liguidated. Comdial also agreed to
continue to pay Mr. Mustain the aforementioned severance pay through the three-year severance period
that expires on December 31, 2003.

On September 28, 2001, Baisch & Skinner, Inc. ("Baisch") filed suit against Comdial and a second
defendant, Barron Communications, Inc. ("Barron") in St. Louls County, Missouri, alleging multiple
counts of breach of contract and breach of warranty in connection with an agreement involving the
installation by Barron of a communications system at Baisch's place of business. The suit seeks $78,000
in compensatory damages and unspecified incidental and consequential damages, interest and costs.
Comdial believes it has ample defenses to the claims alleged in this matter. The matter is currently in
the discovery phase.
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On October 2, 2001, ePHONE Telecom, Inc. filed for arbitration against Comdial in Washington, DC,
alleging fraud in the inducement, among other things, arising from the alleged breach of an asset
purchase and software license agreement. ePHONE is seeking rescission of the agreement and a return of
the full amount of $2.7 million paid to us thereunder. On March 20, 2002, ePHONE requested leave to
clarify its original claim by asserting $5.0 million in compensatory damages and $5.0 million in
punitive damages in addition to the damages described above. No ruling has been made on that request.
Comdial will vigorously defend itself against ePHONE's allegations and it has filed counterclaims
against ePHONE for an amount in excess of $2.0 million based on ePHONE's failure to make minimum royalty
payments due under the agreement and for loss of future revenues based on ePHONE's breach of the
agreement and the resulting termination thereof. Comdial believes it has ample defenses to the claims
alleged against Comdial in this matter.

On November 2, 2001, Comdial reached a settlement of a lawsuit filed against the Company by Rates
Technology Inc. ("RTI") in the Eastern District of New York alleging that certain of its products had
infringed an expired patent held by RTI. According to the settlement agreement, Comdial agreed to pay an
amount not in excess of $0.5 million pursuant to a promissory note payable in guarterly installments
through BAugust 2004 in exchange for dismissal of the suit against Comdial and King Technologies, Inc.
("King"). King had been named as an additional defendant in the suit under an amendment by RTI to its
initial complaint. The specific financial terms of the settlement are confidential. On February 13,
2002, Comdial reached agreement with RTI on modified payment terms under the aforementioned promissory
note. The note has been paid in full.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matter was submitted during the fourth quarter of 2001 to a vote of Comdial's
security holders. :
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

As of March 18, 2002 there were 1,192 record holders of Comdial's Common Stock.

Quarterly Common Stock Information

The following table sets forth, for the periods shown, the high and low closing stock prices during the
quarter in the over-the-counter market for Comdial's Common Stock, as reported by the National

Association of Security Dealers Automated Quotation System ("Nasdaqg"). Comdial's Common Stock is traded
on the Nasdag SmallCap Market (R) under Comdial's symbol, CMDL.

2001 2000
Fiscal Quarters High Low High Low
First Quarter $2.37 $1.06 $21.63 $8.00
Second Quarter 1.34 0.79 14.06 4,44
Third Quarter 1.02 0.61 5.38 2.03
Fourth Quarter 0.65 0.28 2.25 1.00

Comdial has never paid a dividend on its Common Stock and its Board of Directors currently does not
intend to change the policy of not paying cash dividends on Common Stock.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL DATA

Selected Consoclidated Statements of Operations Data For the Years Ended December
31 In thousands, except per share amounts

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Net sales (a) $76,167 $89,564 $140,757 $123, 639 $ 110,819
(Loss) income before income taxes (21,799) (47,864} 10,033 6,295 5,218
Net {loss) income (21,799) (63,264) 7,343 17,032 5,069
(Loss) Earnings per share:
Basic (2.37) (6.89) 0.82 1.93 0.58
Diluted (2.37) (6.89) 0.82 1.88 0.58
Selected Consclidated Balance Sheet Data
December 31,
In thousands 2001 2000 1999 1998 13897
Current assets $22,440 $33,152 $72,077 $50,854 $37,107
Total assets 43,092 71,178 133,074 108,990 79,264
Current liabilities 20,634 41,145 23,833 19,734 21,196
Long-term debt and other
long-term liabilities 32,742 18,518 38,633 26,624 13,998
Stockholders' (deficit) equity (10,284} 11,515 70, 608 62,632 44,070

(a) During 2001, the Company classified certain sales rebates and incentives as a reduction of revenue.
Previously, these incentives were classified as a selling, general and administrative expense. The
Company has also reclassified such amounts for fiscal years 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997 to conform to the
2001 presentation. These and other reclassifications had no effect on operating or net income.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION & RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States, which requires the use of estimates and assumptions
(see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements). Management believes the following critical
accounting policies, among others, affect its more significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of its consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue using the guidance from SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 "Revenue Recognition
in Financial Statements" and the AICPA Statement of Position No. 97-2, as amended, on "Software Revenue
Recognition." Certain of our sales have multiple elements, such as product and installation, and we
allocate the revenues using the relative fair values of the elements and recognize them separately. We
allow certain of our customers to return unsold product when they meet Company-established criteria as
outlined in the Company's trade terms. Under these guidelines, we estimate the amount of product returns
based upon actual historical return rates and any additional unique information and reduce our revenue
by these estimated future returns. Returned products which are recorded as inventories are valued based
upon expected realizability. If the historical data we use to calculate these estimates does not
properly reflect future returns, these estimates could be revised.

Rebates and Incentives

We record estimated reductions to revenue for customer programs and incentive offerings including
special pricing agreements, promotions and other volume- based.incentives. If market conditions were to
decline, we may take actions to increase rebates and incentive offerings possibly resulting in
incremental reduction of revenue at the time the incentive is offered.

Warranty

We provide a two-year warranty to our customers, and as of 2001 we are using a third party to perform
much of this warranty. Our outsource manufacturing partners are now responsible for the first year of
this warranty. We provide feor the estimated cost of product warranties at the time the revenue is
recognized. While we engage in various product quality programs and processes, our warranty obligation
may be affected by product failure rates, the ability of our outsource manufacturers to satisfy warranty
claims and the cost of warranty from our third party. The outcome of these items could differ from our
estimates and revisions to the warranty estimates could be required.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We provide allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses from the inability of our customers to
satisfy their accounts as originally contemplated at the time of sale. We calculate these allowances
based on detail review of certain individual customer accounts, historical rates and our estimation of
the overall economic conditions affecting our customer base. If the financial condition of our customers
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances
may be required.
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Inventory

We measure our inventories at lower of cost or market. For those items which we manufacture, cost is
determined using standards which we believe approximate first-in, first-out (FIF0O) method including
material, labor and overhead. We also provide allowances for excess and obsolete inventory equal to the
difference between the cost of our inventory and the estimated market value based upon assumptions about
product life cycles, product demand and market conditions. If actual product life cycles, product
demand, or market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory
allowances or writedowns maybe required. :

Deferred Income Taxes

We estimate our actual current tax exposures together with our temporary differences resulting from
differing treatment of items for accounting and tax purposes. These temporary differences result in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. We then must assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets
will be recovered from future taxable income and to the extent that we believe that recovery is not
likely, based on the guidance in FAS 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes," we establish a valuation
allowance. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, all net deferred tax assets were reduced by a valuation
dllowance. In later years, after the Company ceases to have cumulative tax losses for three years,
management will need to assess the continuing need for a full or partial valuation allowance.
Significant judgment is required in this calculation and changes in this assessment could result in
income tax benefits, in later periocds, or the continued provision of valuation allowances until the
realizability is more likely than not.

Long-lived Assets, including Goodwill and Other Intangibles

We assess the impairment of our long-lived assets (such as Property and Equipment, Goodwill and other
Intangibles) whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. Some factors we consider important which could trigger an impairment review include the
following:

Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected
future operating results

Significant changes in our strategic business plans, including changes in
product mix

Significant negative information such as litigation or other claims or
negative industry or economic trends

When we determine that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable based on the above and
other factors, we measure any impairment based on a projected discounted cash flow method using a
discount rate commensurate with the risk inherent in our current business model. FAS 142 states that
goodwill will no longer be amortized, however the FAS also requires some changes in this assessment
which may result in impairments different from those resulting from cur present assessment.
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Retirement and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

Prior to the fourth quarter 2000, we provided a defined pension benefit and other postretirement
benefits to our employees. In the fourth quarter of 2000, we froze these plans. We accrue benefit
obligations based on an independent actuarial valuation. This valuation has a number of variables, not
only to estimate our benefit obligation, but also to provide us with minimum funding requirement for the
retirement plan. The actuarial estimates include the expected rate of return on the retirement plan
assets, the rate of compensation increases to eligible employees, the interest rate used to discount
estimated future payments to retirement participants and the assumed health care cost trend rates.
Differences in actual experience as compared to these estimates or future changes in these estimates
could require us to make changes to these benefit accruals.

Commitments and Contingencies

Management's current assessment of it's the claims which have been asserted against the Company is based
on our review of the claim, our defenses and consultation with certain of our external legal counsel.
Changes in this assessment could result as more information is obtained or as management decides that a
settlement is more advantageous to the Company than a protracted legal process. These changes in our
estimates of the outcome could require us to make changes in our conclusions or our accruals for these
contingencies.

The following discussion is intended to assist the reader in understanding and evaluating the financial
condition and results of operations of Comdial Corporation and its subsidiaries ("Comdial"). This review
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. This
analysis attempts to identify trends and material changes that occurred during the periods presented.
Prior years have been reclassified to conform to the 2001 reporting basis (see Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements).

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements included or incorporated by reference into our Securities and Exchange Commission
filings, press releases, and shareholder communications and other information provided periodically in
writing or orally by our officers, directors or agents, including this Form 10-K, are forward-looking
statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements are not
historical facts but rather are based on certain expectations, estimates and projections about our
industry, our beliefs and our assumptions. These risks could cause our actual results for 2002 and
beyond to differ materially from those expressed, implied or forecasted in any forward- looking
statement made by, or on behalf of, us. The risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to,
those discussed in "Safe Harbor Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995"
set forth in Part I above.
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SEGMENT REPORTING

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Selected consolidated statements of operations for the last three years are as

follows:

In thousands 2001 2000 1999
Business segment net sales:
Switching $ 53,511 $ 49,545 $ 81,868
Messaging 15,183 28,014 38,907
CTI & Other 7,473 12,005 19,982
Net sales 76,167 89,564 140,757
Cost of goods sold 53,053 77,715 85,554
Gross profit 23,114 11,849 55,203
Selling, general & administrative 29,892 36,621 30,336
Engineering, research & development 7,603 6,283 9,735
Goodwill amortization 1,942 3,19% 3,180
Restructuring 486 2,355 -
Impairment of long-lived assets 3,224 7,425 -
Gain on disposal of assets (1,447) - -
Interest expense 2,759 2,902 1,633
Miscellaneous expense - net 454 932 286
{Loss) income before income taxes (21,799) {47,864) 10,033
Income tax expense - 15,400 2,690
Net (loss) income $(21,799) $(63,264) $ 7,343
(Loss) earnings per share:
Basic $(2.37) $(6.89) $0.82
The following table reflects the gross profit margins for the various business
segments of Comdial. See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further clarification of business segments.
2001 2000 1999
Business Segment:
Switching $ 13,702 $ 5,646 $ 29,148
Messaging 8,967 13,248 21,943
CTI & Other 445 (7,045) 4,112
Gross profit margin $ 23,114 $ 11,849 $ 55,203

2001 COMPARED WITH 2000

Net sales as reported for 2001 decreased by 15% to $76.2 million,
The primary factors in the decrease of sales were the market contraction,
decrease in the sales price. Switching sales increased
were very competitively priced, but messaging declined
primarily due to the elimination of the Avalon product

In 2001, net sales for switching increased 8% from $49.
Switching product sales were aided by the introduction
higher-end system, the FX II. Comdial also initiated certain promotional pricing for some of its

products and lowered the price of the phones across the board to improve the value to its customers.

Messaging sales decreased 46%, from $28.0 million in 2000 to $15.2 million in 2001. The Company believes
there are three major reasons why messaging revenues declined from last year. The Company was compelled
to lower prices due to extreme competitive pressure on messaging prices across the product line to

compete in the marketplace. The Company also introduced a new low cost switching platform,
The in-skin voice mail in the DX-80 is priced less than some of Comdial's other voice mail systems due
to the lower overall costs of the platform. Lastly,
messaging products to customers who had non-Comdial switching platforms. Recently, other switch platform
manufacturers have released theilr own versions of voice mail and this has reduced the opportunities for

sharply. Furthermore,
for the assisted living market.

Comdial to sell its messaging systems on the non-Comdial platforms.
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CTI and Other sales decreased 38% from $12.0 million to $7.5 million. This decrease is primarily
attributable to Comdial's decision to exit the assisted living market, previously served by its Avalon
product.

Comdial provides reserves to cover product obsolescence for its products and changes to those reserves
impact gross profit. For the years 2001 and 2000, provisions for obsolescence totaled $2.5 million and
$3.7 million, respectively. The reserve for obsolescence and valuation for 2000 was higher primarily due
to increased product discontinuance. Another factor which caused the inventory obsolescence provision to
be higher in 2000 was the decision to reduce the number of phone models and key systems, which rendered
some raw materials and components obsolete. Future reserves will be dependent on management's estimates
of the recoverability of inventory costs and shifts in product demands.

Gross profit, as a percentage of sales for 2001, was 30% compared with 13% for 2000. In 2001, gross
profit increased by 95% to $23.4 million compared with $11.8 million for 2000. This increase was mostly
due to outsourcing the manufacturing operations as well as specific factors that negatively impacted the
yvear 2000. Cutsourcing resulted in lower product costs due to the consolidation of the product lines so
that volumes were higher and therefore production was done more efficiently and cost effectively. Also,
the DX-80, which is a low-end key system and has therefore more commodity like features, is now
outsourced from the Far East, which provides less expensive labor and production costs. In addition,
fiscal 2000 gross profit was impacted by several negative factors: 1) reduced efficiency caused by the
furloughs that Comdial initiated throughout the year to reduce inventory levels within the plant as well
as the supply houses; 2) a larger provision for inventory obsolescence than 2001; 3) pursuant to its
Restructuring Plan, Comdial charged $1.5 million to cost of sales for discontinued product inventory in
the fourth quarter of 2000; and 4) due to the outsourcing of its manufacturing operations, Comdial
recorded an additional adjustment of $2.4 million to mark down certain of its inventory to the lower of
cost or market.

Switching gross margin increased from 11% in 2000 to 26% in 2001. This increase was mostly due to
outsourcing the manufacturing operations as well as the absence of many of the specific factors that
impacted the year 2000, as explained above.

Messaging gross margin increased from 47% in 2000 to 59% in 2001. This increase in gross margin was a
result of product mix changes that resulted in increased sales of our Windows based unified messaging
products as well as cost reductions due to downsizing and restructuring.

Gross margin for CTI and Other increased in 2001 to 6% compared to a negative 59% in 2000. During 2001
Comdial intentionally reduced the sales to the assisted living market and reduced the number of people
working on these projects and therefore increasing the gross margin. During the latter half of 2001,
Comdial made a concerted effort to complete outstanding projects as it planned to exit this business.
This had a negative impact on the margin even though for the year the gross margin exceeded 2000
significantly.

Other costs including operating expenses, goodwill amortization, interest expense, other miscellaneous
expenses, and income tax expenses or benefits are not allocated to the three segments. Comdial does not
maintain information that would allow these costs to be broken into the various product segments and
most of the costs are shared in nature.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") decreased in 2001 by 18% to $29.9 million compared
with $36.6 million for 2000. SG&A expenses, as a percentage of sales for 2001, decreased to 39% compared
with 41% for 2000. This decrease resulted from downsizing the work force and relocating the headquarters
from Charlottesville to Sarasota. The consolidation of administrative, information technology, finance
and sales and marketing functions created a more efficient use of corporate infrastructure and
eliminated redundant costs.

Engineering, research and development expenses increased in 2001 by 21% to $7.6 million compared with
$6.3 million for 2000. Engineering expenses, as a percentage of sales for 2001, increased to 10%
compared with 7% for 2000. This increase was primarily due to engineers spending more time on non-
capitalizable projects associated with new products that had been put into production.

Goodwill amortization expense in 2001 decreased by 39% to $1.9 million in 2001 compared with $3.2
million in 2000. The decrease was due to the write-down of the Array goodwill that was recorded in 2001
as well as 2000. See discussion below regarding Impairment of Long-Lived Assets.

Restructuring expense was $0.4 million for 2001. On September 28, 2001, as a result of the downturn in
the economy and the events of September 11, 2001, management and the Board approved and executed a
second restructuring plan. Significant terms of the second plan included downsizing the workforce in
both the Sarasota and Charlottesville locations. Thirty employees in total were terminated. During the
month of October 2001, it became clear to management that further restructuring was required and the
Company implemented a further contingency plan. During November 2001, it was announced that the Company
would eliminate more than 75 positions between November 2001 and April 2002. As c¢f December 31, 2001,
the Company has a remaining obligation of $0.5 million related to severance and related ben€fits which
will be paid out in 2002.

Interest expense decreased in 2001 by 5% to $2.8 million compared with $2.9 million for 2000. This
decrease was due to the pay-down of certain debt during 2001, offset by increases in interest rates.

Miscellaneous expense decreased by 51% for 2001 to $.5 million, compared with $0.9 million for 2000. In
2000, the Company recognized a $0.4 million loss due to the curtailment of its pension plans in
September 2000.

Impairments of Long-Lived Assets - In accordance with SFAS No. 121, "Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and
Other Assets to Be Disposed of", the Company evaluates long lived assets for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In
light of the restructuring and the initiative to outsource manufacturing, the Company identified certain
of its fixed assets related to.its manufacturing operations, purchased software, capitalized software
development costs, and the goodwill related to its purchase of Array as assets that were impaired. This
was based on an analysis of discounted and undiscounted (as applicable) cash flows, which were no longer
deemed adequate to support the value of the assets associated with the business. The impairments,
included in Impairments of Long-Lived Assets on the consclidated income statement are discussed below:
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Property and Equipment Impairment -~ As a result of the outsourcing of the manufacturing operations, the
majority of the manufacturing assets are expected to be sold or otherwise disposed of in 2002. The
Company's projected undiscounted cash flows related to those assets is less than the net book value of
the assets associated with the business. Such analysis resulted in impairment loss of fixed assets in
the amount of $1.0 million for 2001 and $0.3 million for 2000.

Capitalized Software Impairment - As part of Comdial's decision to outsource manufacturing and reduce
the number of product lines toc a more appropriate level, certain capitalized software development costs
were impaired. Capitalized software development costs relating to product lines that are to be
discontinued were considered impaired due to the Company's inability to realize any future benefit from
these assets. The impairment loss of capitalized software amounted to $1.4 million in 2001 and $0.4
million in 2000. . :

Goodwill Impairment - Comdial sold the majority of the assets of Array Telecom Corp. to ePHONE Telecom,
Inc. and entered into a licensing agreement with ePHONE on March 31, 2000. In light of the sale, Comdial
performed an impairment analysis on the projected cash flows of the remaining assets in 2000 and
determined that the goodwill associated with the Array assets was impaired. The impairment of the
goodwill was based on an analysis of projected undiscounted cash flows, which were no longer deemed
adequate to support the value of the goodwill associated with the business. Comdial recorded an
impairment write-off of $2.8 million related to goodwill in 2000. In addition, in October 2001, ePHONE
filed for arbitration against the Company alleging fraud in the inducement, among other things, and
seeking return of the $2.7 million paid to Comdial plus additional compensatory and punitive damages.
The Company has filed counterclaims against ePHONE, claiming that ePHONE has not paid us the minimum
royalties due under the license agreement, having paid just $0.09 million of $0.2 million due for the
period prior to May 2001 and none of the $0.1 million in guarterly royalty payments due commencing in
May 2001. Additionally, Comdial is seeking $1.9 million in lost revenue based on the termination of the
license agreement brought about by ePHONE's breach. While the arbitration proceeding is pending, Comdial
concluded the remaining goodwill was impaired. and recognized a loss of $0.8 million in 2001. Comdial
continues to defer certain gains totaling $1.3 million at December 31, 2001 from the sale of the assets
in 2000, pending resolution of the arbitration.

Loss before income taxes, as a result of the foregoing, amounted to $21.8 million in 2001 as compared
with a loss of $47.9 million before income taxes in 2000. Major factors contributing to the loss for
2001 include restructuring and asset impairments, and other factors such as increased bad debt reserves
and inventory write-offs due to product discontinuance.

Income tax expense for 2001 was $0 in 2001 compared with $15.4 million for 2000. The tax expense
recognized in 2000 was primarily due to the provision for a full valuation allowance of $34.1 million
against the deferred tax assets (see Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). No income tax
benefit has been recognized in 2001 due to the cumulative losses for tax purposes, as prescribed by SFAS
No. 108, "Accounting for Income Taxes".

2000 COMPARED WITH 1999

Net sales as reported for 2000 decreased by 36% to $89.6 million, compared with $140.8 million in 1999.
The primary factors in the decrease of sales were the reduction of inventory levels at the distributors
and the market contraction. Early in 2000, market conditions declined, and Comdial's sales were
adversely affected by the combined decision of Comdial and the distributors to reduce their inventory
levels. Comdial sought to respond to adverse sales conditions by offering a more concise product line
that is more responsive to customer needs.
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In 2000, net sales for switching decreased 39% from $81.9 million to $49.5 million. The primary factors
in this decrease were the decrease in inventory levels at the distributors, and the market contraction
as noted above.

Messaging sales decreased 28%, from $38.9 million in 1999 to $28.0 million in 2000. This decrease was
predominantly tied to the decrease in switching sales, as the messaging product is sold to the same
supply houses and a significant number of the same dealers as the switching product.

CTI and other sales decreased 40% from $20.0 million to $12.0 million. This decrease is attributable to
the poor growth in the assisted living market, as well as the overall downturn in the economy.

Comdial provides reserves to cover product obsolescence for all its products and changes to those
reserves impact gross profit. For the years 2000 and 1999 provisions for obsolescence totaled $3.7
million and $0.5 million, respectively. The reserve for obsolescence for 2000 was higher primarily due
to increased product discontinuance. Future reserves will be dependent on management's estimates of the
recoverability of inventory costs.

Also in 2000, Comdial established a warranty reserve in the amount of $0.8 million. Prior to 2000,
Comdial reserved for expected returns through the use of an exchange authorization reserve, and it is
management's best estimate that such exchange authorization reserve covered most of the costs that the
Company incurred with respect to warranty expenses. However, as the Company upgrades its method of
tracking such information, via improved systems, management recorded a reserve specifically for warranty
claims.

In 2000, international sales decreased by 38% to $1.6 million compared with $2.6 million for 1999. Due
to homologation issues dealing with the sale of digital products, Comdial has, for the time being,
suspended its efforts in developing further international markets for hardware products. Homologation is
the process of securing regulatory, safety, and network compliance approvals for the sale of
telecommunications equipment in foreign countries. As many countries have different standards than the
United States, this typically involves additional engineering modifications and compliance testing.
However, Comdial plans to continue to expand its sales of voice mail products in the international
market.

Gross profit, as a percentage of sales for 2000, was 13% compared with 39% for 19389. In 2000, gross
profit decreased by 79% to $11.8 million compared with $55.2 million for 1999. This decrease was
attributable to several factors: 1) reduced efficiency caused by the furloughs that Comdial initiated
throughout the year to reduce inventory levels within the plant as well as the distributors; 2) the
increase in the provision for inventory obsolescence; 3) pursuant to its Restructuring Plan, Comdial
charged $1.5 million to cost of sales for discontinued product inventory in the fourth quarter of 2000;
and 4) due to the outsourcing of its manufacturing operations, Comdial recorded an additional adjustment
to cost of sales and reduced its ending inventory balances by $2.4 million to adjust inventory to the
lower of cost or market.

Switching gross margin declined from 36% to 11%. This decrease is due primarily to the furloughing
during the year, the increased obsolescence reserves and lower of cost or market adjustment of $2.4
million taken against inventory. In addition, Comdial offered several pricing programs during the year
to stimulate sales.

Messaging gross margin decreased from 56% in 1999 to 47% in 2000. Relocation of the manufacturing group
to its new facility resulted in additional one-time costs due te initial set-up.
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The gross margin for CTI and Other decreased from 21% to a negative 59%. As more of Comdial's
competitors enter the market, Comdial has begun experiencing significant market pressure on its pricing
in certain of its vertical market product lines, which adversely affected margins.

Furthermore, during 2000, Comdial began recording installation services expense in cecst of sales, rather
than as a selling expense. Amounts in the 1999 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified
to conform to the 2000 presentation. This resulted in net sales increasing $2.4 million for 1999. Cost
of goods sold was increased by $3.2 million for 1993. Selling, general and administrative costs
decreased by $0.8 million for 1999. These reclassifications had no effect on previously reported
consolidated net income.

Other costs including operating expenses, goodwill amortization, interest expense, other miscellaneous
expenses, and income tax expenses or benefits cannot be allocated to the three segments. Comdial does
not maintain information that would allow these costs to be broken into the various product segments and
most of the costs are universal in nature.

Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&AR") increased in 2000 by 21% to $36.6 million compared
with $30.3 million for 1999. SG&A expenses, as a percentage of sales for 2000, increased fo 41% compared
with 22% for 1999. The primary reasons for the increase were (1) increase in bad debt reserves of $2.5
million, based on the deterioration of the business climate in certain markets in which Comdial sells;
(2) increased personnel costs for national accounts for the majority of the year; and (3) increased
administration costs, including costs for consultants, investment banking services and general legal
fees.

Engineering, research and development expenses decreased in 2000 by 35% to $6.3 million compared with
$9.7 million for 1999. Engineering expenses, as a percentage of sales remained consistent at 7% for 2000
and 1999. .

Goodwill amortization expense in 2000 remained consistent with that of 1989. The Company reviewed
goodwill for potential impairment as of December 31, 2000, and determined that goodwill associated with
the purchase of Array was impaired. See discussion below regarding Impairment of Long-Lived Assets.

Interest expense increased in 2000 by 81% to $2.9 million compared with $1.6 million for 1999. This
increase 1is twofold: 1) interest expenses increased due to higher average debt levels with Bank of
America, N.A. ("Bank of America"), coupled with higher interest rates when compared to 1999 (see Note 6
to the Consolidated Financial Statements), and 2) interest expense associated with capital leases
increased by approximately $.3 million in 2000 based on higher balances of capital lease debt for all of
2000. Note that the capital leases that were recorded as of December 31, 1999 had only been in place for
one to three months of 1999. Additional capital leases in the amount of $1.3 million were entered into
in early 2000.

Miscellaneous expense increased by 200% for 2000 to $.9 million, compared with $0.3 million for 1999.
This increase was primarily due to $1.0 million of write- offs related to investments in dealers and
notes receivable from dealers. In addition, the Company recognized a $0.4 million loss due to the
curtailment of its pension plans in September 2000.
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Restructuring - In the fourth quarter of 2000 the Board of Directors' approved management's plan to
restructure the Company (the . "Plan"). Pursuant to the Plan, 152 employees were laid off effective
December 15, 2000; another 222 employees were notified prior to the end of 2000 that their positions
would be eliminated in fiscal 2001. As of December 31, 2000, Comdial accrued severance of $1.9 million
and related benefits of $0.5 million, for a total restructuring cost of $2.4 million related to the
Plan.

Impairments of Long-Lived Assets - In accordance with SFAS No. 121, "Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and
Other Assets to Be Disposed of", the Company evaluates long lived assets for impairment whenever events
or changes 1in circumstance indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In
light of the restructuring and the initiative to outsource manufacturing, the Company identified certain
of its fixed assets related to its manufacturing operations, 'purchased software, capitalized software
development costs, and the goodwill related to its purchase of Array as assets that were impaired. This
was based on an analysis of discounted and undiscounted {(as applicable) cash flows, which were no longer
deemed adequate to support the value of the assets associated with the business. The impairments,
included in Impairments of Long-Lived Assets on the consolidated income statement are discussed below:

Purchased Software Impairment - In connection with the downsizing of Comdial's entire operations,
Comdial abandoned a systems implementation project that began in 1999. As a result, Comdial wrote-off
purchased software and other related costs in the amount of $3.9 million in 2000. The Company financed
the purchase of the software through a series of five-year capital lease obligations, which are a
continuing obligation of the Company.

Property and Equipment Impairment - As a result of the outsourcing of the manufacturing operations, the
majority of the manufacturing assets are expected to be sold or otherwise disposed of. The Company
determined that the projected undiscounted cash flows related to those assets were not adeguate to
support the value of the assets associated with the business. Such analysis resulted in a write-down of
fixed assets in the amount of $0.3 million as of December 31, 2000.

Capitalized Software Impairment - As part of Comdial's decision to outsource manufacturing and reduce
the number of product lines, certain capitalized software development costs were deemed to be impaired.
Software development costs previously capitalized relating to product lines that are to be discontinued
were written off due to the Company's inability to realize any future benefit from these assets. The
write~off of capitalized software amounted to $.4 million.

Goodwill - The Company sold the majority of the assets of Array and entered into a licensing agreement
with ePHONE Telecom, Inc. in March 2000. In light of the sale, the Company performed an impairment
analysis on the projected cash flows of the remaining assets and determined that the goodwill associated
with its purchase of Array, was, in fact, impaired. The impairment of the goodwill was based on an
analysis of projected undiscounted cash flows, which were no longer deemed adequate to support the value
of the goodwill associated with the business. The Company recorded an impairment write-off of $2.8
million related to goodwill.

Loss before income taxes, as a result of the foregoing, amounted to $47.9 million as compared with $10.0
million of income before income taxes in 1989. Major factors contributing to the loss for 2000 include
restructuring and asset impairments, totaling $9.8 million, as described above. Other factors include
increased bad debt reserves, establishment of a warranty reserve specifically for warranty claims,
inventory write-offs due to product discontinuance, and increased reserves for expected returns.
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Income tax expense for 2000 amounted to $15.4 million, compared with $2.7 million for 1999. The tax
expense recognized in 2000 was primarily due to the provision for a full valuation allowance of $34.1
million against the deferred tax assets. The tax expense recognized in 1999 was reduced primarily due to
the utilization of deferred tax benefits of $2.1 million that were generated from net operatlng losses
("NOLs") in previous years (see Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The following table sets forth Comdial's cash and cash equivalents, current
maturities on debt, and working capital at the dates indicated:

December 31,

In thousands 2001 2000
Cash and cash equivalents $1,239 $ 2,428
Current maturities of debt 2,586 24,848
Working capital {(deficiency) 1,806 (7,993)

The Company believes its current cash levels and cash flows from operations will be adequate to fund
operations and meet its debt service requirements for at least the next twelve months. However, to the
extent that additional funds are reguired in the future to address working capital needs and to provide
funding for capital expenditures, expansion of the business or additional acquisitions, the Company will
need to seek additional financing. There can be no assurance that additional funding will be available
when required or on acceptable terms. If such additional financing is not available to the Company when
required, it could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition and results of
operations.

Through November 22, 2000, all operating cash needs were funded through a $50 million revolving credit
facility provided by Bank of America. As of November 22, 2000, Comdial and Bank of America, N.A. entered
into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement restructuring the terms of the Credit Agreement with the
Bank dated October 22, 1998. This agreement is now funding all operaticnal reguirements as needed.
Comdial reports the credit facility activity on a net basis on the Consclidated Statements of Cash
Flows. Comdial considers outstanding checks to be a bank overdraft. As of December 31, 2001, Comdial's
cash and cash equivalents were lower than December 31, 2000 by $1.2 million, due primarily to the timing
of deposits and payments made at year-end.

Accounts Receivable at December 31, 2001, decreased by $2.9 million compared with December 31, 2000,
primarily due to the decreased level of sales during the year, as well as improved collections. Comdial
also increased its bad debt reserves by $2.2 million in the fourth gquarter of 2001 due to declining
economic conditions affecting primarily dealers and vertical market customers for the Company's Avalon
and Concierge products.

Inventory at December 31, 2001, decreased by $5.9 million compared with December 31, 2000, due, in part,
to additional reserves for discontinued product lines and cbsclescence of $2.5 million. In addition, as
a result of the Company's decision to ocutsource the majority of its manufacturing operation, and its
plan to restructure, the Company reduced its overall inventory levels at December 31, 2001.

Other assets decreased by $2.3 million primarily due to current year amortization of capitalized assets
and the write-off of $1.4 million of capitalized software development and contract research and
development.
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Capital additions, excluding additions to capitalized software, for 2001 were approximately $0.2
million. Capital additions were funded by cash generated from operations and borrowings from the
revolver. Cash expenditures for capital additions for 2001, 2000, and 1999 amounted to $0.2 million,
$2.6 million, and $3.9 million, respectively. Management anticipates that approximately $0.1 million
will be spent on capital additions and $1.0 million will be spent on software development activities
during 2002. The significant decrease in capital additions in the future is the result of outsourcing
manufacturing, reducing the need for capital equipment. In addition, Comdial has substantially reduced
headcount, therefore reducing the amount of information technology expenditures that were previously
incurred by the Company.

Accounts payable at December 31, 2001, increased by $3.7 million when compared to December 31, 2000.
This increase was primarily due to timing of payment to vendors.

Working capital increased to $1.8 million at December 31, 2001 compared with a working capital
deficiency of $8.0 million at Decemper 31, 2000. This increase is primarily due to the reclassification
of $22.4 million of bank debt from current to long-term. See Note

LONG-TERM DEBT, INCLUDING CURRENT MATURITIES

In 1998, Comdial and Bank of America, N.A. ("Bank of America”) formerly NationsBank, N.A., entered into
a credit agreement providing Comdial with a revolving credit facility and a letter of credit
subfacility.

On November 22, 2000 and again on April 10, 2001, the credit agreement was
amended.

On March 6, 2002, Comdial and Bank of America entered into the First Amendment to the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement (the "First Amendment”) which reduced the Revolver commitment to $8 million,
reduced the Term Loan to approximately $4.9 million and agreed to extend the $1.5 million in letters of
credit until March 31, 2003. Both the Revolver and the Term Loan mature March 31, 2002.

The First Amendment changed the schedule of principal payments on the Term Loan balance. The term note
will start amortizing in September 2002 using a 36-month amortization schedule. The First Amendment also
changed the applicable interest rate to an interest rate based on the Prime Rate plus a specified
margin. Effective as of March 6, 2002, the interest rate is equal to the Prime Rate plus four percent.
As of March 6, 2002, Comdial had no additional availability under the Revolver or the Term Loan.

Comdial's indebtedness to Bank of America under the Credit Agreement, as amended by the First Amendment
is secured by liens on all of Comdial's properties and assets. The First Amendment modified the
financial covenants relating to consolidated net income and contained other covenants related to
consolidated net worth and cross default provisions. The First Amendment also provided for the waiver of
all 2001 violations and defaults.

In addition to the terms discussed above, in connecticon with the First
Amendment, $10 million of outstanding debt of Comdial to Bank of America was
converted into Series B Alternate Rate Cumulative Convertible Redeemable
Preferred Stock, par value $10 per share (the "Preferred Stock™). Comdial issued
1,000,000 shares of the Preferred Stock to Bank of America. The Preferred Stock
can be converted at any time into a maximum of 1.5 million shares of Comdial
common stock. This conversion ratio will be reduced to as low as 500,000 shares
of common stock in the event Comdial elects to pay down the Term Loan by up to
$3 million, in connection with new investment into the Company by an outside
investor. Comdial has a call option alleowing it to buy out Bank of America's
Preferred Stock at par value, but Bank of America has no mandatory redemption.
The Preferred Stock has a 5 percent cumulative annual dividend if paid with cash
or 10 percent if paid in common stock, at the election of Comdial. The shares of
common stock issuable to Bank of America upon conversion of the Preferred Stock
and as payment of dividends are subject to certain demand and piggyback
registration rights pursuant to a registration rights agreement which will
require the Company to register such shares of common stock for resale in the
public market upon request.
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OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

During fiscal years 2001, 2000 and 1999, primarily all of Comdial's sales, net income, and identifiable
net assets were attributable to the telecommunications industry.

CURRENT PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets ("SFAS No. 142"). SFAS No. 142 addresses financial accounting and reporting for
acquired goodwill and other intangible assets. SFAS No. 142 is required to be applied in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2001. The Company expects to realize an annual increase in pre-tax income
of $1.5 million due to the cessation of amortization on the goodwill.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 143, Accounting for Asset
Retirement Costs ("SFAS No. 143"). This Statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for
obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset
retirement costs. This Statement is required to be applied in fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2002. The adoption of this Statement is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's
operations.

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets ("SFAS No. 144"). Statement 144 provides guidance on
differentiating between assets held and used and assets to be disposed of. This Statement is required to
be applied in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. The adoption of this Statement is not
expected to have a material impact on the Company's operations.

During 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force reached a consensus on Issue 00-25, Consideration from a
Vendor to a Reseller. This consensus creates a presumption that all consideration paid by a vendor to a
reseller should be classified as a reduction of revenue in the vendor's income statement (instead of an
expense) unless certain criteria are met. Accordingly, the Company has classified certain sales rebates
and incentives as a reduction of revenue.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS

Comdial believes that it does not have any material exposure to market risk associated with activities
in derivative financial instruments, other financial instruments and derivative commodity instruments.
The Company has debt obligations that are sensitive to changes in the prime lending rate. The Company

estimates that an increase in interest rates of 1% would reduce income before taxes by approximately
$230,000 per year.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Stockholders and Board of Directors of Comdial Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Comdial Corporation ("the Company") as of
December 31, 2001, and the related consolidated statements of operaticns, stockholders' eguity
(deficit), and cash flows for the year then ended. Our audit also included the financial statement
schedule listed in the Index at Item l4(a). These financial statements and schedule are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements and schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. A&n audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that ocur audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Comdial Corporation at December 31, 2001, and the consolidated
results of their operations and their cash flows the year then ended, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ ERNST & YOQUNG LLP Tampa, Florida March 28, 2002

34




INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Comdial Corporation
Charlottesville, Virginia

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Comdial Corporation and subsidiaries
("Comdial") as of December 31, 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2000.
Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 14(a)2. These
financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of Comdial's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted ocur audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Comdial Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2000,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in
our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set
forth therein.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Richmond, Virginia
April 10, 2001
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In thousands, except par value

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable (less allowance for
doubtful accounts: 2001 - $3,533:; 2000 - $2,834)
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Propert{ and equipment - net
Goodwil

Capitalized software development costs - net
Other assets

Total assets } 43,092

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities
Accounts payable 11,266
Accrued payroll and related expenses 1,778
Accrued promotional allowances 2,336
Other accrued liabilities 2,658
Current maturities of debt

Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities 53,376 59,663

Stockholders' equity (deficit)
Common stock, $0.01 par wvalue )
(Authorized 30,000 shares; issued and

cutstanding: 2001 - 9,337; 2000 - 9,329) 93 93
Paid-in capital 123,427 123,427
Treasury stock, 132 shares, at cost (1,296) (1,296)
Accumulated deficit {132,508) (110,709)

Total stockholders' eguity (deficit) (10,284) 11,515
Total liabilities and stockholders' eguity (deficit) S 43,092 $ 71,178

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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In thousands, except per share amounts

Net Sales $ 76,167 $ 89,564 $140,757
Cost of goods sold 53,053 77,715 85,554
Gross profit 23,114 11,849 55,203

Operating expenses

Selling, general & administrative 29,892 36,621 30,336
Engineering, research & development 7,603 6,283 9,735
Goodwill amortization 1,942 3,195 3,180
Restructuring 486 2,355 -
Impairments of long-lived assets 3,224 7,425 -

Operating (loss) income (20,033) (44,030) 11,952

Other expense

Interest expense 2,759 2,902 1,633
Gain on disposal of assets (1,447) - -
Miscellaneous expense - net 454 832 286
{Loss) income before income taxes (21,799) (47,864) 10,033
Income tax expense - 15,400 2,690
Net (loss) income ($21,799) ($63,264) $ 7,343
(Loss) earnings per share: .

Basic $(2.37) $ (6.89) $ 0.82
Diluted $(2.37) $ (6.89) $ 0.82

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 9,211 9,188 8,948
Diluted 9,211 9,188 8,989

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Deficit

Deferred Stock
Common Stock Incentive

——————————————————————————————— Paid-in
Capital

Balance at January 1, 1899 $118,489

Proceeds from sale of common stock
Notes receivable

Stock options exercised 10 : 20
Deferred stock compensation 6 47

Incentive stock issued 8 1 53
Stock option compensation 41
Contingency stock issued for

KVT acquisition 72 1 303

Array acquisition 162

Net inccome
Balance at December 31, 1999
Proceeds from sale of common stock
Notes receivable

118,068

Stock options exercised 262 2 2,136
Treasury stock purchased

Deferred stock compensation 4 78

Incentive stock issued 11 169

Stock option compensation expense

Balance at December 31, 2000
Stock options exercised
Deferred stock compensation

Balance at December 31, 2001

Treasury Stock Receivable
----------------- on Sale Accumulated

In thousands Shares Anount of Stock Deficit Total

Balance at January 1, 1999 (116) ${(1,087) $(156) $ (54,788) $ 62,631
Proceeds from sale of common stock

Notes receivable 6 6

Stock options exercised 20

Deferred stock compensation 47

Incentive stock issued 54

Stock option compensation) 41

Contingency stock issued for -

KVT acguisition 304

Array acquisition 162

Net Lncome 7,343 7,343

Balance at December 31, 1999 {116) (1,087) (150} (47,445) 70,608
Proceeds from sale of common stock

Notes receivable {9} (149) 150 1

Stock options exercised {6) 2,132

Treasury stock purchased (7) (54) (54)

Deferred stock compensation 78

Incentive stock issued 169

Stock option compensation expense 1,845

Net loss (63,264) (63,264

Balance at December 31, 2000 (132) (1,296) - {110,709) 11,515

Stock options exercised 8

Deferred stock compensation (8}

Net loss {21,789} {21,799}

Balance at December 31, 2001 {132) $(1,296) $~ $(132,508} $(10,284

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31,
In thousands 2001 2000 1399

Cash flows from coperating activities:
Net (loss) income $(21,799) $(63,264) $ 7,343
Adjustments to reconcile net {loss) income to
operating cash flows

Depreciation and amortizatiocn 8,353 11,236 9,642
Impairments of long-lived assets 3,224 7,425 -
Bad debt expense 2,288 2,793 194
Inventory obsolescence and valuation provision 2,475 2,116 487
Deferred taxes - 15,456 2,147
Gain on sale of assets (1,447) - -
Changes in working capital compenents:
Accounts receivable 626 23,078 (16,888)
Inventory ' 5,529 5,280 (1,880)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 420 2,502 (5,560)
Accounts payable . 5,384 (7,613) 4,101
Other liabilities (3,392) 443 2,387
Other equity - 2,035 619
Net cash provided by (used by) operating activities 1,661 1,487 2,582
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition cost for Array ’ - - (5}
Proceeds received from sale of ePHONE assets - 648 -
Proceeds received from sale of American Phone
Center assets 1,400 -~ ~
Proceeds received from sale of property and equipment 11,453 891 1
Capital expenditures (294) {5,130} (4,953)
Capitalized software additions } : (2,768} {4,400) (4,700)
Net cash provided by (used by) investing activities 9,791 (7,991)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net (repayments) borrowings under revolver agreement (12,221} 5,528
Proceeds from issuance of common stock - 2,136
Principal payments on notes payable {389) -
Principal payments under capital lease obligations (31) (649
Net cash (used by) provided by financing activities {(12,641) 7,015
Net ({(decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,189) 511
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,428 1,917
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 1,239 $ 2,428

Supplemental information - Cash paid during the year for:
Income taxes $ = S 508
Interest 2,719 2,902

Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Accounts payable converted to notes payable $ 1,640 $ -
Assets acquired through capital lease transactions - 1,264
Contingency stock issued for acquisitions - -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1299

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidatioen

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Comdial Corporation and its subsidiaries
(together, "Comdial" or the "Company"). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Comdial is a United States ("U.S.") based developer and distributor of business communication systems.
Comdial's principal customers are small to mid-sized offices throughout the U.S. and certain
international markets. The distribution network consists of major distributors and direct sales to
dealers, national account customers and government entities. Beginning in fiscal 2001, the Company has
outsourced the majority of its manufacturing operations to three suppliers,.

USE OF ESTIMATES IN THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States ("GAAP") requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and for the reporting periods. The most significant
estimates relate to the allowance for doubtful accounts, inventory obsolescence, warranty reserves,
allowance for product returns, intangible asset valuations and lives, employee benefit plans, and the
valuation of deferred tax assets. These estimates may be adjusted as more current information becomes
available, and any adjustment could be significant.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash egquivalents are defined as short-term liguid investments with maturities, at the time of purchase,
of less than 90 days that are readily convertible into cash. Under Comdial's current cash management
policy, borrowings from the revolving credit facility are used for general operating purposes. The
revolving credit facility is reduced by cash receipts that are not needed for daily operations. Bank
overdrafts of $2.1 million are included in accounts payable at December 31, 2000. Bank overdrarts are
outstanding checks that have not (1) cleared the bank or (2) been funded by the revolving credit
facility. The revolving credit facility activity is reported on a net basis in the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (standard in the case of manufactured goods or purchased
cost for finished goods purchased from outsource manufacturers) or market. Cost approximates first-in,
first-out method.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment is recorded at cost less impairment losses, 1f applicable. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method for all buildings, land improvements, machinery and equipment,
and capitalized lease property over their estimated useful lives or lease term, if shorter. Expenditures
for maintenance and repairs of property and equipment are charged to expense. Improvements and repairs,
which extend economic lives, are capitalized.

In 2000, Comdial expensed certain computer hardware and scoftware due to the rapid change in technology
that has affected a need for continual replacements. In 2000, some of the major expenditures for
computer hardware and software were financed through operating and capital leases.
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The estimated useful lives of the Company's property and equipment are as
follows:

Buildings 30 years Land Improvements 15 years Machinery and Equipment 7 years Computer Hardware
Equipment and Toecling 5 years Leasehold Improvements 5 years Computer Software for Internal Use 3 years

INTANGIBLES

The cost in excess of the fair value of net assets of businesses acquired (goodwill) 1is amortized over
periods ranging from 2 to 10 years. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company had goodwill of $3.4
million and $6.1 million, net of accumulated amortization of $14.0 million and $16.7 million,
respectively. The Company recognized amortization expense of $1.9 million, $3.2 million and $3.2 million
in 2001, 2000 and 1998, respectively.

The Company evaluates periodically the propriety of the carrying amount of intangible assets, including
goodwill, as well as the amortization period to determine whether current events or circumstances
warrant adjustments to the carrying value and/or revised estimates of useful lives. This evaluation
consists of the projection of undiscounted operating cash flows before depreciation, amortization,
nonrecurring changes and interest over the remaining amortization periocds of the related intangible
assets. If such projections indicate that undiscounted operating cash flows, as adjusted, is not
expected to be adequate to recover the carrying amounts of the related intangible assets, a loss is
recognized to the extent that the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value. At this time, the
Company believes that no impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets has occurred, other than as
recorded and disclosed in Note 16, and that no reduction of the estimated useful lives is warranted.
LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment as circumstances change that might affect those assets.
Impairment loss is not receognized unless a portion of the carrying amount of an asset is no longer
recoverable based on a review of the asset's expected future undiscounted cash flows.

During 2001 and 2000, as a result of the Company's restructuring and the initiative to outsource
manufacturing, the Company identified certain long-lived assets that were impaired. In addition, a
portion of the Company's goodwill was deemed impaired. See Note 16.

CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS

. In 2001, 2000 and 1999, Comdial incurred costs associated with the development of software related to
Comdial's various products, including development performed by outside contract engineers. The
accounting for such software costs is in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
("SFAS") No. 86, "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be .Sold, Leased, or Otherwise
Marketed". Costs capitalized in accordance with SFAS No. 86 are amortized using the straight-line method
over their useful lives, which are estimated by the Company to be three years. This three year straight-~
line method causes greater expense for each period versus using the revenue method. The total amount of
unamortized software development costs is $7.8 million and $9.4 million, respectively, at December 31,
2001 and 2000. Accumulated amortization of software development costs is $8.6 million and $6.7 million,
respectively, at December 31, 2001 and 2000. Total software development costs of $2.8 million, $4.4
million and $4.7 million were capitalized in the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1998,
respectively. Amortization of capitalized software development costs of $3.1 million, $3.3 million and
$2.4 million was recorded in the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
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As a result of the discontinuance of certain of its product lines in 2001 and 2000, the Company
recognized an impairment loss on the associated capitalized software development costs. See Note 16.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research and development costs for the fiscal years ended 2001, 2000 and 1999, comprise the majority of
engineering, research, and development costs, which were $7.6 million, $6.3 million and $9.7 million,
respectively. Comdial is unable to segregate and quantify the amount of research and development costs
from other engineering costs for such fiscal years.

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION

Comdial accrues estimated costs relating to postretirement health care and life insurance benefits. In
2001, Comdial recognized no income or expense compared to income of $12,000 during 2000 and expense of
$137,000 during 1999. See Note 10.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes revenue using the guidance from Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (SAB 101),
"Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements" and AICPA Statement of Position 97-2, "Software Revenue
Recognition." Accordingly, revenue is recognized when all of the following four criteria are met:. (1)
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery of the products and/or services has occurred;
(3) the selling price is both fixed and determinable and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured.
Certain of Comdial's sales have multiple elements, such as product and installation, and the Company
allocates the revenues from these contracts to the elements and recognizes them separately. Generally,
the Company recognizes revenues based on their respective fair values on product sales at the time of
shipment. The Company accrues a provision for estimated returns concurrent with revenue recognition and
classifies certain sales rebates and incentives to its dealers and distributors as a reduction of
revenue. Comdial recognizes service revenue upon completion of the repairs or installation.

The Company recognizes shipping and handling fees as revenue, and the related expenses as a component of
cost of sales. All internal handling charges are charged to selling, general and administrative
expenses.

ADVERTISING COSTS

Costs related to advertising are generally expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was $0.4 milliion,
$1.0 million and $1.4 million in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK~BASED COMPENSATION

Comdial accounts for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method under Accounting
Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 25. Comdial has disclosed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements pro forma net income and earnings per share, as if Comdial had applied the fair value method
for stock options and similar eqguity instruments, in accordance with SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock~-Based Compensation".

Until March 2001, the 1992 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Stock Plan") had features that permitted option
reciplents to tender shares as partial or full consideration of the exercise price, which caused the
Stock Plan to be classified as a variable plan. Under variable plan accounting, compensation expense is
measured, as of each reporting date, as the amount by which the guoted market price of the shares of the
Company's stock covered by the option grant exceeds the exercise price; compensation expense is
recognized over the option's vesting period. Changes, either increases or decreases, in the gquoted
market price of the Company's shares between the date of grant and the date of exercise result in a
change in the measure of compensation expense. After the March 2001 amendment, the Stock Plan bhecame a
fixed plan.
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The other option plans are accounted for as fixed plans. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been
recognized for the Company's fixed stock option plans other than the performance based options that are
part of the plan for the Company's directors.

The Company recognized compensation expense in the amount of $0, $847,000 and $511,000 for its variable
stock option plan for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1899, respectively. The compensation
expense recognized for its director's performance-based stock options was $0, $130,000, and $85,000 for
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Income Taxes

Comdial uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes, which is based on the differences
between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities multiplied by the enacted tax
rates that are known to be in effect when the differences reverse. The measurement of deferred tax
assets is impacted by the amount of any tax benefits where, based on available evidence, the likelihood
of realization can be established. Comdial has incurred cumulative operating losses through 2001 for
financial statement and tax reporting purposes and has adjusted its valuation allowance account to equal
the net deferred tax asset (see Note 7). Tax credits, if any, will be utilized to reduce current and
future income tax expense and payments.

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE

Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing income by the weighted average number of common and
potentially dilutive common shares outstanding during the period. See Note 8. .

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued
liabilities approximate fair value due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities. The
Company has evaluated the fair value of its debt at December 31, 2001 and estimated it to be between $20
million and $22 million, due to the restructuring of its long-term debt. See Note 6.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

The Company has reclassified certain amounts for 2000 and 1998 to conform to the 2001 presentation.
These and other reclassifications had no effect on operating or net income.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONQOUNCEMENTS

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets ("SFAS No. 142"). SFAS No. 142 addresses financial accounting and reporting for
acquired goodwill and other intangible assets. SFAS No. 142 is required to be applied in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2001. The Company expects to realize an annual increase in pre-tax income
of $1.5 million due to the cessation of amortization on the goodwill. The adoption of this Statement is
not expected to have a material impact-on the Company's operations.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 143, Accounting for Asset
Retirement Costs ("SFAS No. 143"). This Statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for
obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset
retirement costs. This Statement is required to be applied in fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2002. The adoption of this Statement is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's
operations.

43




In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets ("SFAS No. 144"). Statement 144 provides guidance on
differentiating between assets held and used and assets to be disposed of. This Statement is reguired to
be applied in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. The adoption of this Statement is not
expected to have a material impact on the Company's operations.

During 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force reached a consensus on Issue 00-25, Consideration from a
Vendor to a Reseller. This consensus creates a presumption that all consideration paid by a vendor to a
reseller should be classified as a reduction of revenue in the vendor's income statement (instead of an
expense) unless certain criteria are met. Accordingly, the Company has classified certain sales rebates
and incentives as a reduction of revenue.

NOTE 2. ACQUISITIONS & DISPOSALS
SALE OF AVALON BUSINESS

In QOctober 2001, Comdial entered into an agreement to sell its Avalon product line and certain related
assets to a third party for approximately $125,000. Significant terms of the contract include
conditional exclusivity of the rights and technology associated with the Avalon product, license fees to
be paid to Comdial over a three-year period, and assignment of in-process customer contracts. Due to
losses on assignments of in-process customer contracts, the Company recognized a loss of $81,000 in 2001
related to the sale, which is recognized in gain on sale of assets in the accompanying statements of
operations.

SALE OF AMERICAN PHONE CENTERS, INC.

In May 2001, the Company sold certain assets of its subsidiary, American Phone Centers ("APC"), for $1.4
million, all of which was collected in 2001. Included in the sale were the following assets: inventory,
equipment, excess and discontinued products and certain intellectual property rights associated with
APC. A sales and marketing executive of Comdial owns approximately 5% of the buyer. In addition, 53 of
the Company's employees became employees of the buyer. The Company and the buyer entered into two
ancillary agreements related to repair of products and the sale of discontinued products. The Repair
Agreement authorizes the buyer to perform certain non-warranty repair work on Comdial products. Under
the Discontinued Product Agreement, the buyer is authorized to sell certain discontinued Comdial
products. The Company recognized a loss of $45,000 on the sale during 2001, which is recognized in gain
on sale of assets in the accompanying statements of operations.

SALE/LEASEBACK OF MANUFACTURING FACILITY

In March 2001, the Company sold its Charlottesville, Virginia, headquarters and manufacturing facility.
The purchase price for the property was $11.4 million, all of which was collected in 2001. The Company
is leasing back a portion of the facility through August 30, 2003, for low volume board production,
light assembly, engineering, and technical services functions. Over the 30 month period, lease payment
obligations total $2.6 million.

The total gain on the sale of the facility amounted to $5.1 million. The Company immediately recognized
a gain of $2.9 million in 2001 which is the amount by which the gain exceeds the present value of the
minimum lease payments to be made by the Company from the closing date through August 30, 2003. The
remaining amount of the gain of $2.2'million has been deferred due to the leaseback and is being
amortized over three years, the term of the lease, as a reduction of rent expense. During 2001, the
Company amortized $1.1 million as a reduction of rent expense. As of December 31, 2001, the balance of
the deferred gain amounts to $1.1 million.
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SALE OF ARRAY ASSETS

In March 2000, the Company entered into a Strategic Alliance agreement with ePHONE Telecom, Inc.
("ePHONE") related to the business of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Array Telecom Corporaticn. Pursuant
to the agreement, the Company sold certain fixed assets and products, and provided a license in certain
intellectual property for a five-year term to ePHONE. The agreement also allowed ePHONE to utilize the
name "Array" and provided ePHONE with access to its distribution channels. ePHONE paid Array on the
closing date $2.7 million in cash and is required to pay royalty fees to the Company based on certain
gross sales over a five-year period. The Company had been recognizing the gain of $1.9% million into
income over a five-year period from the date of closing. Due to ePHONE filing for arbitration against
the Company on October 2, 2001 and the subsequent termination of the agreement (see Note 13), Comdial
ceased to recognize any gain during the fourth gquarter of 2001, As of December 31, 2001, the balance of
the deferred gain amounts to $1.3 million.

NOTE 3. INVENTORIES
Inventory consists of the following:

December 31,

In thousands 2001 2000
Finished goods $5,040 $ 7,064
Work-in-process - 80
Materials and supplies 4,487 8,287

Total $9,527 $15,431

Comdial provides reserves to cover product obsolescence and those reserves impact gross margin. Reserves
for inventory obsolescence amounted to $4.0 million and $5.4 million as of December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Future reserves will be dependent on management's estimates of the recoverability of costs
from inventory.

In the fourth quarter of 2000, the Ccmpany decided to outsource the majority of its manufacturing
operations. As a result, the Company recorded a lower of cost or market adjustment of its inventory in
the amount cf $2.4 million to reduce the carrying value of its materials inventory.

The Company purchases substantially all of its finished goods from three
outsource manufacturers.

NOTE 4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following:

December 31,

In thousands 2001 2000
Buildings and leasehold improvements $ 618 $ 11,905
Land and land improvements - 692
Machinery and equipment 11,174 32,501
Computer hardware equipment and tooling 4,400 7,830
Computer software for internal use 3,354 3,291
Less accumulated depreciation {13,707) (37,466)

Property and equipment - Net $ 5,839 $ 18,753

Depreciation expense charged to operations for the years 2001; 2000 and 1999,
was $3.0 million, $4.4 million and $3.6 million, respectively.
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Due to the Company's decision to outsource the majority of its manufacturing operations, management
determined through an impairment analysis that certain of its fixed assets associated with manufacturing
were impaired. Accordingly, the Company recognized impairment losses on its property and equipment of
$1.0 million and $0.3 million in fiscal 2001 and 2000, respectively. See Note 16.

NOTE 5. LEASE OBLIGATIONS
Comdial has various capital and operating lease obligations. Future minimum lease commitments for

capitalized leases and aggregate minimum rental commitments under operating lease agreements that have
initial non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year are as follows:

Year Ending December 31, Capital Operating
In thousands Leases Leases

thereafter

Total minimum lease
commitments

Less amounts representing
interest and other costs

Principal portion of
minimum lease commitments
at December 31, 2001
" including current amounts
of $42 $3,138

Assets recorded under capital leases (included in property and equipment in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets) are as follows:

December 31,

In thousands 2001 2000
Capitalized software $ - $ 669
Less accumulated

amortization - (77)
Capitalized software ~ Net s - $ 592

For 2000, Comdial entered into new capital lease obligations that amounted to approximately $1.3
million. All capital lease balances as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, are for software originally
planned to be used internally. Amortization of assets recorded under capital leases is included in
depreciation expense. During the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company determined that certain assets
associated with these capital lease obligations were impaired (See Note 16). The capital lease amounts
associated with the impaired assets continue to remain reccrded as an obligation of the Company.

Operating leases are for office space and factory and office eguipment. Total rent expense for operating
leases, including rentals which are cancelable on short-term notice, for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999, were $1.6 million, $3.7 million and $2.7 million, respectively.
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NOTE 6. DEBT

Long-term debt consists of the following:

December 31,

In thousands 2001 2000
Revolver (1) ) $16,500 516,624
Term Loan (1) 6,404 18,500
Capital Leases (2) 3,578 3,285
Notes Payable (3) 947 -
Promissory Note (4) 2,079 -

Total Debt $29,508 38,409
Less current maturities on debt 2,596 24,848

Total long-term debt

f1) Both the Reveolver and the Term Loan, made pursuant to the Credit Agreement
with Bank of America, carried an interest rate based on Prime plus a 300
basis points margin. As of December 31, 2001, Comdial's borrowing rate was
8.00%, which includes the additional applicable margins.

The Company could use the Revolver with Bank of America for working capital
and for other general corporate purposes. As of December 31, 2001, the
Company had no additional availability under the Revolver or the Term Loan.

As of April 10, 2001, Comdial and Bank of America, N.A. ("Bank of America'")
agreed to new terms related to its revolving credit facility and Term Loan.
The terms as set forth in the 2Amended and Restated Agreement were as
follows:

The reveolving credit facility ("the Revolver") remained at $16.5
million. Comdial was allowed to utilize the facility provided that
the collateral was not less than $13.5 million through September 30,
2001, $14.0 million through October 31, 2001, and $16.0 million
through November 30, 2001. Furthermore, the facility's maturity had
been extended until March 31, 2002.

The Term Loan principal payment of $2.5 million due September 30,
2001 was replaced by an amount necessary to reduce the debt to §$5
million. The expected amount was $1.3 million. The remaining balance
of the term loan of approximately $5.0 million was due as follows:
$2.5 million on December 20, 2001 and $2.5 million on March 31, 2002.

The Earnings Before Income Taxes and Depreciatiocon and Amortization
("EBITDA") covenant was replaced by a minimum EBITDA for June 30,
September 30, and December 31, 2001 equivalent to $1.9 million, $6.0
million, and $9.7 million, respectively. The EBITDA covenant was
measured on a cumulative basis from April 1, 2001.

The Company did not make the required principal payment of $1.3 million on
September 30, 2001. In December 2001, Bank of America and the Company
agreed to waive the December 31, 2001 principal payment as well as the
minimum EBITDA covenant for the third and fourth quarters of 2001 until
January 15, 2002 and then extended it again until February 28, 2002.
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On March 6, 2002, Comdial and Bank of America entered into the First
Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the "First
amendment") which reduced the Revolver commitment to $8 million, reduced
the Term Loan to approximately $4.9 million and agreed to extend the $1.5
million in letters of credit until March 31, 2003. Both the Revolver and
the Term Loan mature March 31, 2003.

The First Amendment changed the schedule of principal payments on the Term
Loan balance. The term note will start amortizing in September 2002 using a
36-month amortization schedule. The First Amendment also changed the
applicable interest rate to an interest rate based on the Prime Rate plus a
specified margin. Effective as of March 6, 2002, the interest rate is equal
to the Prime Rate plus four percent. As of March 6, 2002, Comdial had no
additional availability under the Revolver or the Term Loan.

Comdial's indebtedness to Bank of America under the Credit Agreement, as
amended by the First Amendment, is secured by liens on all of Comdial's
properties and assets. The First Amendment modified the financial covenants
relating to consolidated net income and contained other covenants related
to consolidated net worth and cross default provisions. The First Amendment
also provided for the waiver of all 2001 violations and defaults.

In addition to the terms discussed above, in connection with the First
Amendment, $10 million of outstanding debt of Comdial to Bank of America
was converted into Series B Alternate Rate Cumulative Convertible
Redeemable Preferred Stock, par value $10 per share (the "Preferred
Stock"). Comdial issued 1,000,000 shares of the Preferred Stock to Bank of
America. The Preferred Stock can be converted at any time into a maximum of
1.5 million shares of Comdial common stock. This conversion ratio will be
reduced to as low as 500,000 shares of common stock in the event Comdial
elects to pay down the term note by up to $3 million in connection with new
investment into the Company by an outside investor. Comdial has a call
option allowing it to buy out Bank of America's Preferred Stock at par
value, but Bank of America has no mandatory redemption. The Preferred Stock
has a 5 percent cumulative annual dividend if paid with cash or 10 percent
if paid in common stock, at the election of Comdial. The shares of common
stock issuable to Bank of America upon conversion of the Preferred Stock
and as payment of dividends are subject to certain demand and piggyback
registration rights pursuant to a registration rights agreement which will
require the Company to register such shares of common stock for resale in
the public market upon request.

Due to the restructuring discussed above, $22.4 million due to Bank of
America has been excluded from current liabilities at December 31, 2001, in
accordance with SFAS No. 6, "Classification of Short-Term Obligations
Expected to be Refinanced".

The Company has a Master Lease Agreement with Relational Funding
Corporation and its assignees (collectively "RFC"). This agreement covers
certain leases related to an abandoned software implementation and hardware
for internal use. Effective August 1, 2001, the Company and RFC entered
into an agreement to restructure the payment schedule for both the
operating and capital leases as follows: Beginning August 1, 2001, the
operating and capital lease monthly payments were reduced from $150,000 to
$75,000 per month. The monthly operating lease payments were reduced by 25%
and the capital lease payments by 75%. The difference between the original
payments and the reduced payments will be deferred until the end of each of
the lease terms at which time all deferred amounts and accrued interest
related to such will be due. Interest on the deferred amounts will be
accrued at a rate of 10% per annum. As of December 31, 2001 the Company was
in default on its payments to RFC. On March 21, 2002, the Company and RFC
reached agreement to reduce the total payments due under the operating and
capital leases from a combined balance of approximately $5.5 million to a
payout schedule over 72 months totaling approximately $2.3 million. For the
first 30 months, the monthly payment is $39,621, which then reduces to
$25,282. In addition, Comdial agreed to provide RFC warrants tc purchase
175,000 shares of the common stock of the Company for $0.61 per share,
which have an estimated fair market value of approximately $0.1

million.
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(3) The Company has unsecured notes payable in the amount of $0.9 million
outstanding as of December 31, 2001. The notes have interest rates
ranging from 0% to 14.5%. Monthly principal and interest payments on the
notes total $60,000. One of the notes has quarterly principal payments of
$25,000 plus interest. Maturity dates on the notes range from December
2001 to September 2004. As of March 2002, the notes have been
renegotiated to an outstanding balance of $0.2 million.

(4) On October 12, 2001, the Company signed a promissory note with one of its
suppliers that converts $2.1 million in accounts payable owed to the
supplier to a long-term note. The note bears interest at 7.5% per annum.
Principal and interest payments are due monthly through June 2003. In
February 2002, this note was canceled (see Note 17).

NOTE 7. INCOME TAXES

The components of the income tax expense (benefit) for the following years
ended December 31 are as follows:

In thousands 2001 2000 1999
Current - Federal $ - $ (40) $ 410
State - (16) 133

Deferred - Federal - 14,200 1,573
State - 1,256 574

Total provision S - $15,400 $2,690

The income tax provision reconciled to the tax computed at statutory rates for
the years ended December 31, is summarized as follows:

In thousands 2001 2000 1999
Federal tax at statutory rate
(35% in 2001, 2000, and 1999) $(7,408) $(16,752) $ 3,512
State income taxes (net of federal tax
benefit) { 779) 806 764
Nondeductible charges 52 40 707
Other adjustments ( 143) 187 (124)
Expiring business credits 66 504
Adjustment of valuation allowance 8,278 31,043 (2,673)
Income tax provision $ - $ 15,400 $ 2,690

No net deferred tax assets have been recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The components of the net deferred tax assets (liabilities)
December 31, 2001 and 2000 are as follows:

Deferred Assets (Liabilities) December 31,
In thousands 2001 2000
Net loss carryforwards $20,839 $ 13,918
Tax credit carryforwards 1,411 1,411
Inventory 1,774 3,274
Pension - 128
Postretirement 281 287
Compensation and benefits 1,357 1,818
Capitalized software development costs 1,746 2,838
Other deferred tax assets 3,257 1,510
Goodwill 5,407 5,151
Research and development expenditures 6,786 4,515
Allowance for bad debts 1,331 1,067
Total deferred tax assets 44,189 35,917
Fixed asset depreciation (1,771) (1,776)
Total deferred tax liabilities (1,771) (1,776)
Net deferred tax assets ’ 42,418 34,141
Less: Valuation allowance (42,418) (34,141)

Total $ - $ -

at




Comdial periodically reviews the requirements for a valuation allowance and makes adjustments to such
allowances when changes in circumstances result in changes in management's judgment about the future
realization of deferred tax assets. Due to the three-year cumulative basis losses, the Company recorded
a valuation allowance equal to its net deferred tax assets of $42.4 million and $34.1 million for the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999, the Company recorded an increase of its valuation allowance of $8.3 million, $33.8 million, and a
decrease of $2.7 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2001 Comdial had net operating loss and credit carryovers of
approximately $55.9 million expiring beginning in 2002 through the year 2021.

NOTE 8: EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
Unexercised options to purchase 1,021,990; 1,051,653 and 1,079,788 shares of common stock for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, were not included in the computations of diluted

loss per share because assumed conversion would be antidilutive.

The following table discloses the annual EPS information for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

In thousands except per share data 2001 2000 1999

Basic:
Net loss ($21,79%) ($63,264) $7,343
Weighted average number of common

shares outstanding during the period 9,201 9,170 8,934
Add - Deferred shares 10 18 14
Weighted average number c¢f shares used in cal-

culation of basic earnings per common share 9,211 9,188 8,948
Basic EPS ($2.37) ($6.89) $ .82
Diluted:
Net loss ($21,799) ($63,264) $7,343
Weighted average number of shares used in cal-

culation of basic earnings per common share 9,211 9,188 8,948
Effect of dilutive stock options - - 41

Weighted average number of shares used in cal-
culation of diluted earnings per common share 9,211 9,188 8,989

Diluted EPS ($2.37) ($6.89) $ .82

During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, 8,500, 262,040, and 8,228 options were
exercised at a weighted average exercise price of $0, $8.15, and $2.34, respectively.

NOTE 9. PENSION AND SAVINGS PLANS

Cemdial currently has two pension plans that provide benefits based on years of service and an
employee's compensation during the employment period. One plan is a gualified plan for all employees of
Comdial and the other, which was initiated in April 1999, is a non-qualified plan ("Retirement Benefit
Restoration Plan"). The non-qualified plan is strictly for executive officers and/or highly compensated
employees who are designated as a participant of the plan by the Compensation Committee of Comdial. The
non-qualified plan is not funded.
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The calculation of pension benefits prior to 1993 was based on provisions of two previous pension plans.
One plan provided pension benefits based on years of service and an employee's compensation during the
employment period. The other plan provided benefits based on years of service only. The funding policy
for the plans was to make the minimum annual contributions required by applicable regulations. Assets of
the plans are generally invested in equities and fixed income instruments.

In July 2000, the Company frcze the Retirement Benefit Restoration Plan, and in September 2000, the
Company froze the qualified pension plan, thereby eliminating any further benefit accrual by employees
in either of the plans. This action by the Company resulted in a one-time curtailment loss of $0.5
million. In addition, the Company recognized a settlement gain of $0.1 million on the payment of lump-
sum retirement benefits to certain of its employees under the Retirement Benefit Restoration Plan, in
2000.

The following table sets forth the change in projected benefit obligations of
the pension plans during 2001 ard 2000.

In thousands 2001 2000

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 25,603 $25,786
Service cost - 1,051
Interest cost : 1,870 . 1,938
Actuarial loss (gain|} { 494) 1,019
Benefits paid (1,5486) (1,778)
Curtailment adjustment - {2,559}
Settlement adjustment - 144

Benefit obligation at end of year

The following tables sets forth the change in plan assets of the pension plans and amounts recognized in
Comdial's Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2001 and 2000.

In thousands 2001 2000
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $25,170 $24,080
Actual return on plan assets 1,873 907
Employer contribution - 1,959
Benefits paid (1,546) (1,776)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $25,479 $25,170

Funded status $ 64 § (433

Unrecognized actuarial gain (253) (71)
Unrecognized pricr service cost ’ - -

Net amount recognized $ (189) ~$ (504)

amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets consist of:

Prepaid benefit cost $ 2,147 $ 1,678
Accrued benefit liability (2,336) (2,182)
Net amount recognized $(189) $  (504)

The Retirement Benefit Restoration Plan has projected benefit obligations of $1.2 million and $2.0
million at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, with no plan assets.

Assumptions used in accounting for the plans as of December 31 were as follows:

2001 2000 1999
Discount rate 7.25% 7.50% 8.00%
Expected return on plan assets 9.00% 9.00% 9.00%
Rate of compensation increase N/A 4.50% 4.50%




Net periodic pension cost (benefit) for 2001, 2000 and 1999 included the
following components:

In thousands 2001 2000 1999
Service cost $ - $ 1,051 $ 1,758
Interest cost 1,870 1,938 1,692
Expected return on plan assets - (2,050) (1,777)
amortization of prior service cost (2,185) 186 124
Settlement gain - (112) -
Curtailment loss - 464 -
Recognized actuarial less (gain) - (17) 68

Net periodic pension cost (benefit) $ ( 315) $ 1,460 $ 1,865

In addition to these pension benefits, Comdial contributes to a 401 (k) plan, based on employee's
contributions. Participants can contribute from 1% to 17% of their salary and Comdial will match
contributions equal to 50% of the participant's contribution up to the first 6%. Comdial's total expense
for the matching portion of the 401(k) plan for 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $0.4 million, $0.6 million and
$0.6 million, respectively.

NOTE 10. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS

Comdial provides certain health care coverage (until age 65), which is subsidized by the retiree through
insurance premiums paid to Comdial, and life insurance benefits for substantially all of its retired
employees. The effect of SFAS No. 106, "Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than
Pensions," on operating income for 2001 was income of $0, compared to income for 2000 of $12,000 and
expense for 1999 of $137,000. The postretirement benefit obligation is not funded and does not include
any provisions for securities, settlement, curtailment, cr special termination benefits. In 1993, when
SFAS No. 106 went into effect, Comdial elected te amortize the cumulative effect of this obligation over
20 years {see unrecognized transition obligation in the table below).

During fiscal 2000, Comdial eliminated this benefit, except to the extent employees had already earned
them, and ceased to accrue any additional postretirement benefits under the program previously accounted
for in accordance with SFAS No. 106. The postretirement benefit obligation was reduced by $0.7 million
with a corresponding decrease to the unrecognized transition obligation. The effects of this transaction
on fiscal 2000 earnings were negligible.

The following table sets forth the change in postretirement benefit obligations and amounts recognized
in Comdial's Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2001 and 2000.

In thousands 2001 2000
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 388 $1,074
Service cost 4 4
Interest cost 29 27
Plan participants' contributions 5 13
Actuarial loss/(gain) 6 17
Benefits paid (20) (40)
Curtailment effect - (707)

Benefit obligation at December 31 $ 412 $ 388




The following tables set forth the change in plan assets of the postretirement benefits and amounts
recognized in Comdial's Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2001 and 2000.

In thousands 2001 2000
FPair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ - $ -
Employer contribution 15 27
Plan participants' contributions 5 13
Benefits paid ( 20) (40)

Fair value of plan assets at December 31 $ - $ -

Funded status $(412) $(388)
Unrecognized transition obligation 401 438
Unrecognized actuarial gain (735) (812)

Accrued benefit cost $(746) $(762)

For measurement purposes, a 6.5% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care
benefits was assumed for 2001. The rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 5.25% for 2005 and remain
at that level thereafter.

Net periodic postretirement (benefit) cost for 2001, 2000, and 1999, included

the following components:

In thousands 2001 2000 1999
Service cost $ 3 $ 4 $ 37
Interest cost 29 27 74
Amortization of unrecognized

transition obligation 37 37 91
One-time curtailment income - (6)
Recognized actuarial gain (69) (74) (65)

Net postretirement
(benefit) cost

Assumed health care cost trend rates could

amounts reported for the health care plans.

assumed health care cost trend rates would

In thousands

Effect on total of service and interest
cost components

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation

have a significant effect on the
A one-percentage point change in
have the following effects:

One-percentage
Point Increase
$ 1

One-percentage
Point Decrease
($1)




NOTE 11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

As of December 31, 2001, Comdial had two stock-based compensation plans. The 13992 Stock Incentive Plan
(the "Incentive Plan') provides for stock options to purchase shares of Common Stock which may be
granted to officers, directors and certain key employees as additional compensation. Pursuant to the
terms of the 1992 Non-employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan (the "Directors Stock Incentive Plan™),
each non-employee director shall be awarded 3,333 shares of Comdial's Common Stock for each fiscal year
Comdial reports income. In January 1997, in accordance with the terms of the Directors Stock Incentive
Plan, the board of directors adopted a resolution suspending 833 of the 3,333 shares of Comdial's common
stock automatically awarded to non-employee directors under such circumstances. In 2000, each non-
employee director was awarded 2,500 shares related to income earned by Comdial for fiscal year 199%. No
amounts were awarded for 2000 or 2001. The plans are composed of stock options, restricted stock,
nonstatutory stock, and incentive stock. Comdial's incentive plans are administered by the Compensation
Committee of Comdial's Board of Directors.

As of December 31, 2001, there were 2.0 million shares of Comdial's Common Stock reserved for issuance
under the Incentive Plan that was approved by the stockholders in 1996, including 0.2 million shares of
Comdial's Common Stock reserved for issuance under the Directors Stock Incentive Plan. Of this amount,

0.5 million shares had not been granted under either plan. Comdial has previously accepted notes
relating to the non-qualified stock options exercised by officers and employees. These notes receivable
relating to stock purchases amounted to $0, $0 and $150,000 at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively, and have been deducted from Stockholders' Equity (Deficit).

Options granted in 2001 and 2000 have a maximum term of ten years and vest in installments of 50%, 25%
and 25% per year on each of the first through the third anniversaries of the grant date. Options issued
in 1999 vest in installments of 33% per year on each of the first through the third anniversaries of the
grant date. All options granted through the Incentive Plan are granted at an exercise price equal to the
market price of Comdial's Common Stock.on the grant date.

Information regarding stock options granted under the Incentive Plan is
summarized below:

Options outstanding,
January 1; 1,051,653 . 1,079,788 - B 1,104,213
Granted 724,852 . 728,500 . 220,433
Exercised (8,500) . (262, 040) . {B,228
Terminated (746,015) R {494, 595) . (236,630

Options outstanding,
December 31;

Options exercisable,

December 31; 406,437 2.87 265,755 8.986 598, 468 8.57
Per share ranges of options outstanding
at December 31 $0.28 - $13.50 $1.41 - $13.50 $1.41-513.50

Dates through which options outstanding
at December 31,
were exercisable 1/2002 - 12/2011 1/2001-12/2010 1/2000-12/2009%

(1) Weighted-average exercise price at grant date.
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The following table summarizes information concerning currently outstanding and
exercisable options at December 31, 2001:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Number Average Weighted- Number Weighted-~
Range of Outstanding Remaining Average Exercisable Average
Exercise . at Contractual Exercise at Exercise
Prices 12/31/01 Life Price 12/31/01 Price

$ 0.28 to 1.35 434,936 9.4 $ 0.40 199,436 $ 0.27
$ 1.35 to 2.70 368,087 8.5 1.88 84,066 1.87
$ 2.70 to 4.05 10,001 .3 3.00 10,001 3.00
5 5.40 to 6.75 3,833 2.8 5.78 3,833 5.79
$ 6.75 to 8.10 32,716 6.1 7.57 24,164 7.55
$ 8.10 to 9.45 32,261 4.2 8.87 32,261 8.87
$ 9.45 to 10.80 4,000 2.1 10.59 4,000 10.59
$ 10.80 to 12.15 28,926 6.0 10.94 28,826 10.94
$ 12.15 to 13.50 107,250 8.2 12.54 19,750 12.73
0.28 to 13.50 1,021,990 8.5 $ 2.95 406,437 $ 2.97

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions:

2001 2000 1999
Risk-free interest rate 3.039% 6.03% 5.15%
Expected life : 7.36- 5.10 6.5
Expected volatility 110.3% 87% 65%
Expected dividends none none none

If compensation cost for Comdial's Stock Incentive Plans had been determined
based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under the plan, consistent
with the method prescribed by SFAS No. 123, Comdial's net income (loss) and
earnings (loss) per share would have been shown in the pro forma amounts
indicated below:

In thousands except per share amounts 2001 2000 1999

Net {(loss) income: As reported $(21,799) $(63,264) $ 7,343
Additional
Compensation
expense 1,
Pro forma $(22,

Basic (loss) earnings per share:
As reported $ 2.3
Pro forma (2.4
Diluted (loss) earnings per share:
As reported $ (2.3
Pro forma (2.4

The weighted average fair value of options granted in which the option price
equaled the fair market value of the Company's stock on the date of grant is $0.51, $2.74 and $6.14 for
the years ending December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 respectively.

NOTE 12. SEGMENT INFORMATION

During 2001 and 2000, substantially all of the Company's sales, net income, and identifiable net assets
were attributable to the telecommunications industry with cover 98% of sales occurring in the United
States.
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In the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company adopted a Restructuring Plan, the principal terms of which
are discussed in Note 15 below. In 2001, pursuant to this plan, the Company discontinued the prior
organization and consolidated its Strategic Business Unit ("SBU") segments that were defined as Comdial
Convergent Communications Corporation, Comdial Enterprise Solutions, Inc., Key Voice Technologies,
Comdial Business Communications Corporation and Array. The consolidation of these business units
resulted in the organization of product segments to correspond with the industry background of primary
business and product offerings which fall into three categories: (1) voice switching systems for small
to mid-size businesses, (2) voice messaging systems, and (3) computer telephony integration ("CTI")
applications and other. Each of these categories is considered a business segment, and with respect to
their financial performance, the costs associated with these segments can only be quantified and
identified to the gross profit level for each segment. These three product segments comprise
substantially all of Comdial's sales to the telecommunications market.

The information in the following tables is derived directly from the segments internal financial
reporting used for management purposes. Unallocated costs include operating expenses, goodwill
amortization, interest expense, other miscellaneous expenses, and income tax expense. Comdial does not
maintain information that would allow assets, liabilities, or unallocated costs to be broken down into
the various product segments as most of these items are shared in nature.

The following tables show segment information for the years ended December 31:

(In thousands) 2001 2000 1999

Business Segment Net Sales

Switching $ 53,511 $ 49,545 $ 81,868

Messaging 15,183 28,014 38,907

CTI & Other 7,473 12,005 19,982
Net sales $ 76,167 $ 89,564 $140, 757

" (In thousands) 2001 2000 1999

Business Segment Profit

Switching $ 13,702 $ 5,646 $ 29,148
Messaging 8,967 13,248 21,943
CTI & Qther 445 (7,045) 4,112
Gross profit 23,114 11,849 55,203
Operating expenses 43,147 55,879 43,251
Interest expense, net 2,759 2,902 1,633
Miscellaneous expense - net 454 932 286
Gain on sale of assets ( 1,447) - -
Loss before income taxes (821,799) ($47,864) $ 10,033

Comdial had sales in excess of 10% of net sales to three customers as follows:

In thousands 2001 2000 1999
Sales:
ALLTEL Supply, Inc. $ 9,148 $14,563 $24,393
Graybar Electric Company, Inc. 29,770 24,683 34,750
Sprint/North Supply, Inc. 11,007 16,035 25,323

Percentage of net sales:

ALLTEL Su%ply, Inc. 12% 16% 17%

Graybar Electric Company, Inc. 39% 28% 25%

Sprint/North Supply, Inc. 14% 18% 18%
Net sales of all three:

Switching 46,272 $49,894 $75,517

Messaging 3,653 5,387 8,949

Net sales $49,925 $55,281 $84,466




NOTE 13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Comdial currently and from time to time is involved in-litigation arising in the ordinary course of its
business. Those that the Company believes may have a significant impact on it are described below.
Comdial can give no assurance that the resolution of any particular claim or proceeding would not have a
material adverse effect on its results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.

On March 5, 2001, William Grover, formerly a senior vice president of Comdial, filed suit in state court
in Charlottesville, Virginia alleging breach of an employment contract and defamation, and seeking
compensatory, punitive and exemplary damages in the total amount of $1.92 million, plus interest. Among
other things, Mr. Grover claims that the for-cause termination of his employment was unjustified and
that he is therefore entitled to all benefits accrued to him pursuant to the Company's executive
retirement plan. The Company removed this case to the federal district court for the Western District of
Virginia, because Mr. Grover's state law claims against Comdial are preempted by federal law,
specifically ERISA. Presently, Mr. Grover is seeking to remand the case back to state court. Comdial
believes it has adequate substantive and procedural defenses against all claims made against Comdial in
this matter and no amounts have been accrued.

On October 5, 2000, William G. Mustain resigned as president and chief executive officer of Comdial. On
the same date, Comdial agreed to pay Mr. Mustain his normal salary for the remainder of 2000 plus
severance in the amount of $0.1 million per year for three years beginning on January 1, 2001. Mr.
Mustain was also entitled to be pald approximately $1.7 million in three installments over a 15 month
period plus certain fringe benefits under Comdial's Retirement Benefit Restoration Plan (the "Plan"). In
2001, Comdial made the initial payment of $0.6 million under the Plan. However, on June 30, 2001
Comdial notified Mr. Mustain that it would not make payment of the second $0.6 million installment due
under the Plan because of its financial condition, as permitted under the terms of the agreement with
Mr. Mustain. On December 27, 2001, Comdial reached agreement with Mr. Mustain on modified terms with
respect to the remaining amounts due to him. In lieu of those remaining amounts due of $1.1 million,
Comdial agreed to pay Mr. Mustain a total of approximately $0.3 million, payable in five annual
installments commencing in 2004. No gain will be recognized until the Plan is liquidated. Comdial also
agreed to continue to pay Mr. Mustain the aforementioned severance pay through the three-year severance
period that expires on December 31, 2003. All amounts due Mr. Mustain have been accrued as of December
31, 2001.

On September 28, 2001, Baisch & Skinner, Inc. ("Baisch") filed suit against Comdial and a second
defendant, Barron Communications, Inc. ("Barron"} in St. Louils County, Missouri, alleging multiple
counts of breach of contract and breach of warranty in connection with an agreement involving the
installation by Barron of a communications system at Baisch's place of business. The suit seeks $78,000
in compensatory damages and unspecified incidental and consequential damages, interest and costs.
Comdial believes it has ample defenses to the claims alleged in this matter. The matter is currently in
the discovery phase. No amounts have been accrued.

On October 2, 2001, ePHONE Telecom, Inc. filed for arbitration against Comdial in Washington, DC,
alleging fraud in the inducement, among other things, arising from the alleged breach of an asset
purchase and software license agreement. ePHONE is seeking rescission of the agreement and a return of
the full amount of $2.7 million paid to us thereunder. Comdial will vigorously defend itself against
ePHONE's allegations and it has filed counterclaims against ePHONE for an amount in excess of $2.0
million pased on ePHONE's failure tc make minimum royalty payments due under the agreement and for loss
of future revenues based on ePHONE's breach of the agreement and the resulting termination thereof. On
March 20, 2002, ePHONE requested leave to clarify 1ts original claim by asserting $5.0 million in
compensatory damages and $5.0 million in punitive damages in addition to the damages described above. No
ruling has been made on that request. Comdial believes it has ample defenses to the claims alleged
against Comdial in this matter. No amounts have been accrued.
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On November 2, 2001, Comdial reached a settlement of a lawsuit filed against the Company by Rates
Technology Inc. ("RTI") in the Eastern District of New York alleging that certain of its products had
infringed an expired patent held by RTI. According to the settlement agreement, Comdial agreed to pay an
amount not in excess of $0.5 million pursuant to a promissory note payable in guarterly installments
through August 2004 in exchange for dismissal of the suit against Comdial and King Technologies, Inc.
("King"). King had been named as an additiocnal defendant in the suit under an amendment by RTI to its
initial complaint. The specific financial terms of the settlement are confidential. As of December 31,
2001, the settlement amount had been accrued. On February 13, 2002, Comdial reached agreement with RTI
on modified payment terms under the aforementioned promissory note. The note has been paid in full.

NOTE 14, QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following presents the Company's quarterly financial data for the last two

years:
In thousands except First Second
per share amounts Quarter Quarter
2001
Net Sales $18,115 $ 20,261
Gross profit 7,801 7,915
Goodwill amortization 671 425
Interest expense 690 598
Net loss (1,092) (2,766)
Net loss per
common share: Basic (0.12) (0.30)
Diluted (0.12) (0.30)
2000
Net Sales $30,266 $ 18,506
Gross profit 11,843 1,546
Goodwill amortization 799 798
Interest expense 607 616
Net loss (2,333} (4,848)
Net loss per
common share: Basic (0.26) {0.53)
Diluted (0.26) (0.53)
In thousands except Third Fourth
per share amounts Quarter Quarter
2001
Net Sales $22,882 $ 14,909
Gross profit 7,342 56
Goodwill amertization 423 423
Interest expense 834 637
Net loss (2,997) (14,944)
Net loss per
common share: Basic (G.33) (1.62)
Diluted (0.33) (1.62)
2000
Net Sales $24,049 $ 16,743
Gross profit 4,277 (5,817)
Goodwill amortization 799 799
Interest expense 745 934
Net loss (5,137) (50, 9486)
Net loss per
common share: Basic (0.56) (5.53)
Diluted (0.56) (5.53)

Previously reported quarterly information has been revised to reflect certain reclassifications. These
reclassifications had no effect on previously reported consolidated net income. See Note 1.

NOTE 15. RESTRUCTURING

In 2000, due to declining market conditions, unfavorable economic factors, uncompetitive product costs,
and excess inventory levels, the Board of Directors and management deemed it necessary to develop a plan
to restructure the Company. This plan was approved by the Board of Directors, and implementation
commenced during the fourth quarter of 2000.

58




Significant terms of the restructuring plan (“the Plan") included outsourcing the manufacturing
operations, reducing the Company's workforce and selling the headquarters and manufacturing facility.
Pursuant to the Plan, 152 employees were terminated effective December 15, 2000; another 222 employees
were notified as of December 28, 2000 that their positions would be eliminated in fiscal 2001. The
employees to be terminated were part of the manufacturing functien and related general and
administrative positions in Charlottesville, Virginia. As of December 31, 2001, a total of 342 employees
have been terminated as part of the Plan and the remaining 32 employees are expected to leave by April
2002.

On September 28, 2001, as a result of the downturn in the economy and the events of September 11, 2001,
management and the Board approved and executed a second restructuring plan. The plan was designed to
achieve certain operational and financial efficiencies throughout the organization. A contingency plan
was also developed to guickly react if the disaster proved to cause more serious economic effects to the
company. Significant terms of the second plan included downsizing the workforce in both the Sarasota and
Charlottesville locations. Accordingly, reductions were made across several departments including sales,
finance, manufacturing, engineering, and technical support. Thirty employees in total were terminated.
Employees were notified as of September 28, 2001 that their positions had been eliminated.

During the month of October, the Company decided that further restructuring was required. During
November 2001, 'a third restructuring plan was announced. The Company decided to make changes to the
engineering department, as well as cut expenses further in light of the events of September 11 and the
effects that this event had on the sales of its products. The Company announced that it would be
outscurcing the entire production and assembly work in Charlottesville. During November 2001, it was
announced that the Company would eliminate more than 75 positions between November 2001 and April 2002
as it executes this exit from manufacturing.

As of December 31, 2000, the Company accrued severance and related benefits in the amount of $2.4
million related to the Plan. During 2001, the Company accrued an additional $0.8 million of severance
and related benefits for the September and November restructurings. During 2001, the Company made cash
severance payments of $2.3 million relating to the 2000 and 2001 restructurings. During 2001, $0.4
million was reduced from the restructuring accrual for employees who terminated their employment
voluntarily before their severance date and, therefore, received no severance pay. As of December 31,
2001, the Company has a remaining obligation of $0.5 million related to severance and related benefits,
which will be paid during 2002. These amcunts are included in accrued payroll and related expenses in
the accompanying December 31, 2001 consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 16. IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

During 2001 and 2000, Comdial recorded impairment losses on long-lived assets, including goodwill, of
$3.2 million and $7.4 million, respectively. Asset impairments for 2001 and 2000 of $1.0 million and
$0.3 million, respectively, were required related to the manufacturing equipment that will be disposed
as a result of the outsourcing of Company's manufacturing operations. The asset impairments were
measured by the excess of the carrying value of the assets over the fair value of the assets. Fair value
of the assets was determined by independent valuations and quoted market prices. The Company expects to
realize an annual savings of $0.3 million due to the cessation of depreciation on the assets held for
disposal.
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Other impairment losses consisted of capitalized software development costs in the amount of $1.4
million and $0.4 million for 2001 and 2000, respectively, related to discontinued products. These losses
were based on a comparison of the projected undiscounted cash flows to the carrying value of these
assets. In 2000, $3.9 million of software purchased for internal use that was no longer going to be
utilized due to the Company's downsizing was written off.

In March 2000, the Company sold the assets of its wholly owned subsidiary, Array. Pursuant to the sale
of the assets, the Company licensed its technology to ePHONE. The Company was to receive royalty fees
based on certain gross sales over a five-year period. The Company determined that the present value of
the future cash flows related to the licensing agreement was less than the carrying value of the
goodwill. Accordingly, the Company recorded a $2.8 million impairment loss on goodwill during 2000. Due
to ePHONE filing arbitration against the Company on October 2, 2001 (see Note 13), Comdial deemed the
remaining goodwill balance of $0.8 million in 2001 to be impaired and recorded a loss for this amount.

NOTE 17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
See Note 6 for subsequent events related to long-term debt.

In the first quarter of 2002, the Company reached agreements with certain vendors and other creditors to
forgive $7.1 million in current non-bank obligations, net of fees payable to the debt management firm
that the Company hired to assist with these efforts. These liabilities included amounts owed to a former
distributor of the Company's products, several component parts suppliers and a seller of industrial
equipment. The gains on forgiveness of $4.6 million will be recognized in 2002,

Included in the non-bank obligations reduction is $2.1 million related to a promissory note that was
canceled by a supplier upon Comdial returning the original inventory purchased from the supplier. Upon
return of the inventory, Comdial entered into a purchase commitment with the supplier to repurchase the
inventory by January 2007, with a minimum monthly purchase amount of $25,000. Also included in the non-
bank obligations reduction is $0.5 million related to a supplier canceling the amount owed by Comdial in
exchange for a purchase commitment of $0.8 million for product that Comdial must purchase by December
2002.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTANTS

On April 24, 2001, the Registrant dismissed Deloitte & Touche LLP as its
independent auditors.

The reports of Deloitte & Touche LLP on the financial statements for the past two years did not contain
an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty,
audit scope, or accounting principles.

Furthermore, except for the two matters reported below, during the two most recent fiscal years and the
subsequent interim period, there were no disagreements with Deloitte & Touche LLP on matters of
accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure that,
if not resolved to their satisfaction, would have caused Deloitte & Touche LLP to make reference to the
subject matter of the disagreement(s) in their report.
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In connection with the audit of the Registrant's consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2000, there was a disagreement between management and Deloitte & Touche LLP related to the
accounting for its 1992 Incentive Stock Option Plan ("the 1992 Plan"). Management recorded adjustments
related to this plan in the 2000 consolidated financial statements and also restated the 1998 and 1999
consolidated financial statements, as described in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2000 and, as a
result, Deloitte & Touche LLP indicated that this disagreement was satisfactorily resolved.

Also in connection with the audit of the Registrant's consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2000, there was a disagreement related to the accounting for income taxes in 2000.
Management recorded adjustments related to this matter in the 2000 consolidated financial statements
and, as a result, Deloitte & Touche LLP indicated that this disagreement was satisfactorily resolved.

The Audit Committee of the Company's Board of Directors discussed the subject
matter of both disagreements with Deloitte & Touche LLP.

On May 1, 2001, the Registrant engaged Ernst & Young LLP as its independent auditors. The Company has
authorized Deloitte & Touche LLP to respond fully to the inguiries of Ernst & Young, LLP concerning the
subject matter of the foregoing disagreements. The decision to change auditors was approved by the
Registrant's Board of Directors on April 23, 2001.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT Information concerning Directors and
Executive Officers of the Registrant is incorporated by reference under the caption "Election of
Directors" and "Executive Officers of Comdial" of Comdial's definitive proxy statement for the annual
meeting of stockholders.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Executive compensation and management transactions information is incorporated
by reference under the caption "Executive Compensation'" of Comdial's definitive
proxy statement for the annual meeting of stockholders.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT Information is incorporated by
reference under the captions "Securities Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" of
Comdial's definitive proxy statement for the annual meeting of stockholders.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Informaticn is incorporated by reference under the caption "Family
Relationships" and "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” of Comdial's
definitive proxy statement for the annual meeting of stockholders.
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Part IV
ITEM 14,

(a)

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

1. Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Comdial Corporation and its

Subsidiaries

Report of Ernst & Young LLP
Report of Deloitte & Touche LLP

Financial Statements:
Consolidated Balance Sheets -
December 31, 2001 and 2000
Consolidated Statements of Operations -
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows -
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements -
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999

2. Financial Statements - Supplemental Schedules:

Schedule IT - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable,
required, or because the required information is included in the

consolidated financial statements or notes.

3. Exhibits Included herein:

(3) Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws:

(Deficit) -

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of Comdial Corporation.
(a) Item 3.1 to Item 6 of Registrant's Form 10-Q for the

period ended July 2, 1885.) *

not

(Exhibits

3.2 Certificate of BAmendment of the Certificate of Incorporation
of Comdial Corporation as filed with the Secretary of State of
. (BExhibit 3.2 to

the State of Delaware on February 1, 1984

Registrant's Form 10-0 for the period ended July 2, 1895.)~*
3.3 Bylaws of Comdial Corporation. (Exhibit 3.3 to Registrant's
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1983.)*
(10) Material Contracts:
10.1 Registrant's 1992 Stock Incentive Plan and 1992 Non-employee

Directors Stock Incentive Plan. (Exhibits 28.1 and 28.2 of
Registrant's Form S-8 dated October 21, 1892.)*

10.2 Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant's 1992 Stock Incentive Plan
and 1992 Non-employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan.
10.1 and 10.2 of Registrant's Form 10-Q dated September 28,

(Exhibit

1997.)*

10.3 Amendment No. 2 to the Registrant's 1992 Stock Incentive Plan
and 1992 Non-employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan. (Exhibit
10.2 of Registrant's Form 10-Q dated June 30, 1996.)*

10.4 Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant's 1992 Stock Incentive Plan
and 1992 Non-employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan. (Exhibit

10.3 of Registrant's Form 10-Q dated June

30, 19%6.)*

10.5 Amendment to Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant's 1992 Non-
{Exhibit 10.5 to

employee Directers Stock Incentive Plan.

Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,

1997.)*

10.6 Amendment No. 4 to the Registrant's 1992 Stock Incentive Plan.
(Exhibit 10.6 to Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31, 1897.)~*

10.7 Amendment No. 4 to the Registrant's 1992 Non-employee

Directors Stock Incentive Plan. (Exhibit 10.7 toc Registrant's

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,

€3

13897.)~*




10.

10.

10.

10.

10.

10.

10.

10.

10

10

10.

10.

10.

10.

10.

10

10.

10.

10

10

10

11

12

13

15

.16

.17

18

19

20

21

22

.23

24

25

.26

.27

.28

The Registrant's Executive Stock Ownership Plan effective
January 1, 1996. (Exhibit 10.10 to Registrant's Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1995.)*

Amendment No. ! to the Registrant's Executive Stock Ownership
Plan dated July 31, 1997. (Exhibit 10.17 to Registrant's Form
10-K for the year ended December 31,

Amendment No. 2 to the Registrant's Executive Stock Ownership
Plan dated January 1, 1998. (Exhibit 10.18 to Registrant's
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1897.}*

The Registrant's Executive Severance Plan dated August 31,
1995, (Exhibit 10.11 to Registrant's Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1995.)*

Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant's Executive Severance Plan
dated July 31, 1997. (Exhibit 10.19 to Registrant's Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 1997.)~*

Development and Purchase Agreement dated February 21, 1997
among Registrant and Harris Corporation. (Exhibit 10.20 to
Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997.)*

FastCall Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 1997 among
Aurora Systems, Inc. and Spanlink Communications, Inc.
(Exhibit 10.21 to Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1987.)*

Asset Purchase Agreement dated July 14, 1998 among the
Registrant and Array Telecom Inc. and Array Systems Computing
Inc. (Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 28, 1998.)*

Second Amendment to Comdial's 401 (k) Plan dated November 29,
1998. (Exhibit 10.25 to Registrant's Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1998.)~*

Third Amendment to Comdial's 401(k) Plan dated February 8,
1999. (Exhibit 10.17 to Registrant's Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1999)*

Credit Agreement dated October 22, 18598 among Registrant and
NationsBank, N.A. (Exhibit 10.26 to Registrant's Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1998.)*

Comdial's Retirement Benefit Restoration Plan (Exhibit 10.19
to Registrant'’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
199g) *

Strategic Alliance Agreement dated March 31, 2000 between the
Registrant and ePHONE Telecom, Inc. {Exhibit 10.1 to
Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 2, 2000)*

Patent License Agreement dated March 17, 2000 between the
Registrant and Lucent Technologies GRL Corporation (Exhibit
10.2 to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 2,
2000) *

Amendment No. 5 to the Registrant's 1392 Stock Incentive Plan
(Exhibit 99.1 to Registrant's Form S-8 dated November 15,
2000) *

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated November 22, 2000
(Exhibit 10.23 to Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2000.)~*

Agreement of Sale and Purchase dated March 9, 2001 between the
Registrant and Semincle Trail Properties, LLC (Exhibit 3.1 to
Registrant's Form 8-K filed March 26, 2001})*

Deed of Lease dated March 9, 2001 between Seminole Trail
Properties, LLC and the Registrant (Exhibit 10.1 to
Registrant's Form 8-K filed March 26, 2001)*

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated April 10, 2001
(Exhibit 10.23 to Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2000.)*

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated
March 6, 2002 between the Registrant and Bank of America, N.A.

Certificate of Designation of Series B Alternate Rate

Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock dated
March 6, 2002
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10.29 Registration Rights Agreement dated March 6, 2002 between the
Registrant and Bank of America, N.A.

10.30 Preferred Stock Investment Agreement dated March 6, 2002
between the Registrant and Bank of America, N.A.

* INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE HEREIN.
(21) Subsidiaries of the Registrant

(23) Consent of Ernst and Young LLP
Consent of Delcitte & Touche LLP

(24) Power of Attorney

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

During the quarter ended December 31, 2001, Comdial filed no current reports
on Form 8-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized on the 29th day of March, 2002.

COMDIAL CORPORATION

By: /s/ Paul K. Suijk
Paul K. Suijk

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signarere mise pete
* Director March 29, 2002 -=~==-——-mmmmemmmmme Robert P. Collins

* Director March 29, 2002 -~-=-==—-=—emm———ne-— Nickolas A. Branica
* Director March 29, 2002 -~=------w--——-—cmenm David P. Berg

* Director March 29, 2002 -~---=m--——c-wmmenea- Sanford Schlitt

* By: /s/ Ralph R. Dyer
Ralph R. Dyer, as attorney
in fact pursuant to the power
of attorney contained in
Exhibit 24 of this Form 10-K.
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SCHEDULE II -~ VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

COMDIAIL CORPORATION
DECEMBER 31, 2001
In Thousands

CQL. A CoL. B COoL. C COL. D COL. E
Description Additions
Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance
Beginning Costs and Other at End
of Pericd Expense Accounts Deductions of Period
Year Ended December 3], 2001:
Deducted from asset accounts:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 2,834 $ 2,288 ($1,589)~ $ 3,533
Reserve for sales returns 2,447 - {2,224} 223
Reserve for inventory obsoclescence 5,355 2,475 { 3,B0B)*+r 4,022
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance 34,141 8,277 - 42,418
Total $ 44,777 § 13,040 ($7,621) $ 50,196
Year Ended December 31, 2000:
Deducted from asset accounts:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 2,793 {$281)* $ 2,834
Reserve for sales returns 2,029 - 2,447
Reserve. for inventory obsolescence 3,734 (1,618)+** 5,355
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance 33,841 - 34,141
Total {$1,878) $ 44,777
Year Ended December 31, 1999:
Deducted from asset accounts:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 194 ($901* $ 302
Reserve for sales returns 17 - 418
Reserve for inventory obsolescence 487 (610) v+ 3,23%
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance (2,866} - 300
Tatal ($1,968) {3700} § 4,259
[EREE—.
* Write off uncollectible accounts

*x Return of inventory
***  YWrite off obsolete inventory
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Exhibit 10.27

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT (this "First Amendment”) is dated as of
this 6éth day of March, 2002, by and between COMDIAL CORPORATION (the "Company"), a Delaware corporation
with an office at 106 Cattlemen Road, Sarasota, Florida 34232 and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (the "Bank"), a
national banking association with an office at 100 N. Tampa Street, Suite 1700, Tampa, Florida 33602.

The Company and the Bank are parties to an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of November
22, 2000 (the "Credit Agreement"), pursuant to which the Bank agreed, subject to the terms and
conditions contained in the Credit Agreement, to extend a revolving credit facility in the initial
aggregate principal amount not to exceed at any time outstanding $21,500,000, to provide for a
$5,000,000 letter of credit subfacility and to extend an $18,500,000 term loan facility. The Company and
the Bank are also parties to a letter agreement dated April 10, 2001 (the "April 10 Letter"), pursuant
to which the Bank agreed to modify certain terms of the Credit Agreement as provided therein. The
Company, the Guarantors (as defined in the Credit Agreement) and the Bank are also parties to a
Forbearance Agreement dated as of January 28, 2002 (the "Forbearance Agreement"), pursuant to which the
Bank agreed to forbear from the exercise of certain of its rights and remedies under the Loan Documents
(as defined in the Credit Agreement) for a period of time as specified therein so that the Company and
the Bank could discuss the possibility of restructuring the Indebtedness (as defined in the Forbearance
Agreement) .

The Bank and the Company have agreed to restructure the Indebtedness so as to (i) exchange $10,000,000
of the Indebtedness for preferred stock of the Company to be issued to the Bank pursuant to this First
Amendment and the Comdial Corporation Certificate of Designation of Series B Alternate Rate Cumulative
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock dated March 6, 2002 (the "Certificate of Designation"), the
Registration Rights Agreement dated March 6, 2002, by and between the Company and the Bank (the
"Registration Rights Agreement"), and the Preferred Stock Investment Agreement dated March 6, 2002, by
and between the Company and the Bank (the "Preferred Stock Investment Agreement”); (iil) reduce the
Revolving Credit Commitment (as defined in the Credit Agreement) and the amount outstanding under the
Revolving Credit Loans (as defined in the Credit Agreement) to an amount egual to $8,000,000; (iii)
reduce the Term Loan (as defined in the Credit Agreement) to an amount equal to $4,903,874.69; (iv)
reduce the L/C Obligations (as defined in the Credit Agreement) to an amount equal to $1,500,000; and
(v) amend the covenants contained in the Credit Agreement as set forth herein. The Company has agreed to
all of these terms and conditions. The Certificate of Designaticn, the Registration Rights Agreement and
the Preferred Stock Investment Agreement shall collectively be referred to as the "Equity Documents."

Accordingly, the Company and the Bank hereby agree as follows:

1. Capitalized terms used in this First Amendment and not otherwise
defined herein shall have the meanings assigned thereto in the Credit Agreement.




2. The definition of the term, "Borrowing Base,"” contained in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is
hereby deleted in its entirety and the following definition is substituted in its place:

"Borrowing Base" means, for any day, the sum of (i) eighty
percent (80%) of the aggregate Net Unpaid Balance of all Eligible
Accounts plus (ii) fifty percent (50%) of the value of all Eligible
Inventory , provided that sub-clause (ii) shall never exceed (A)
$4,000,000 for the period commencing on March 6, 2002 to and
including May 30, 2002, (B) $3,000,000 for the period commencing on
May 31, 2002 to and including August 30, 2002 and (C) $2,000,000 at
all times thereafter.

3. The definition of the term, "Default Rate," contained in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is
hereby deleted in its entirety and the following definition is substituted in its place:

"Default Rate" means a rate of interest equal to the Prime
Rate plus six percent (6%) per annum, with such rate to change as of
the date of each change in the Prime Rate..

4. The definition of the term, "L/C Fee," contained in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby
deleted in its entirety and the following definition is substituted in its place:

"L/C Fee" means, with respect to the Tecom Letter of Credit,
$35,000, and, with respect to the Maxi Switch Letter of Credit,
$15,000.

5. The definition of the term, "Revolving Credit Commitment," contained in Section 1.1 of the Credit
Agreement 1s hereby deleted in its entirety and the following definition is substituted in its place:

"Revolving Credit Commitment" means Twenty-One Million Five
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($21,500,000) for the period from the
Closing Date to and including December 30, 2000, Sixteen Million
Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($16,500,000) for the period from
December 31, 2000 to and including March 5, 2002 and Eight Million
Dollars ($8,000,000) for the period from March 6, 2002 to the
Revolving Credit Termination Date.

6. The definition of the term, "Revolving Credit Termination Date," contained in Section 1.1 of the
Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following definition is substituted in 1its
place:

"Revolving Credit Termination Date" means the earlier to occur

of (i) March 31, 2003 and (ii) the date on which the Revolving
Credit Commitment is terminated pursuant to Section 11.
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7. The following defined terms are hereby inserted in the
appropriate alphabetical order in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement:

"Bank's Consultant" shall mean Carl Marks Consulting Group,

LLC.

"Budgeted Consclidated EBITDA" means the projected
Consolidated EBITDA for a particular calendar month (i) in 2002, as
set forth in the Comdial Corporation Budgeted Income Statement for
2002 for such month delivered to the Bank by the Company on February
27, 2002 and (ii) in 2003, as set forth in the projected income
statement for the Company and its Subsidiaries for such month
delivered to the Bank no later than October 1, 2002 in accordance
with Section 8.19(b).

"Capital Expenditures" shall mean, for any period, capital

expenditures of the Company and its Subsidiaries for such period.

"Cumulative Consolidated EBITDA" means, for any period, ninety
percent (90%) of the sum of Budgeted Consolidated EBITDA for the
period commencing on April 1, 2002 to and including the date of
measurement.

"Equity Documents" shall mean, collectively, the Comdial
Corporation Certificate of Designation of Series B Alternate Rate
Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock dated March 6,
2002, the Registration Rights Agreement dated March 6, 2002, by and
between the Company and the Bank (the "Registration Rights
Agreement”), and the Preferred Stock Investment Agreement dated
March 6, 2002, by and between the Company and the Bank, and all
amendments, restatements and other modifications to such documents.

"Maxi Switch Letter of Credit"” means letter of credit number
3039893 in the face amount of $300,000 issued by the Bank for the
account of the Company and for the benefit of Maxi Switch, Inc.,
which letter of credit is scheduled to expire on March 31, 2002.

"Tecom Letter of Credit” means letter of credit number 3035219

in the face amount of $1,200,000 issued by the Bank for the account
of the Company and for the benefit of Tecom Co., Ltd., which letter
of credit is scheduled to expire on March 31, 2002.

8. Section 2.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its

entirety and the following provision is substituted in its place:

2.1 Revolving Credit Loans. Upon the terms and subject to the
conditions contained in this Agreement, the Bank agrees to make
loans (herein referred to collectively as the "Revolving Credit
Leans™) te the Company from time to time during the period from the
date of this Agreement until the Revolving Credit Termination Date;
provided that (i) for the period commencing on the Closing Date to
and including March 5, 2002, the aggregate principal amount of

-3-




all outstanding Revolving Credit Loans does not at any time exceed
the lesser of (a) the Revolving Credit Commitment minus the L/C
Obligations and (b) the Borrowing Base minus the L/C Obligations,
and {iil) for the period commencing on March 6, 2002 to and including
the Revolving Credit Termination Date, the aggregate principal
amount of all outstanding Revolving Credit Loans does not exceed the
lesser of (a) the Revolving Credit Commitment and (b} the Borrowing
Base,

9. The first sentence of Section 2.2 of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and the

following sentences are substituted in its place:

The obligation of the Company to repay the Revolving Credit Loans
will be evidenced by the Company's promissory note payable to the
order of the Bank at its office at 8300 Greensboro Drive, Suite 800,
McLean, Virginia 22102, or such other place as the holder may from
time to time designate, (i) for the period commencing on the Closing
Date to and including March 5, 2002, in substantially the form of
Exhibit A attached hereto with the blanks therein appropriately
completed, dated as of the date of the initial Revolving Credit Loan
and payable on the Revolving Credit Termination Date (the "Revolving
Credit Note") and (ii) for the period commencing on March 6, 2002
and thereafter, in substantially the form of Exhibit A-1 attached
hereto with the blanks therein appropriately completed, dated as of
March 6, 2002 and payable on the Revolving Credit Termination Date
(the "Replacement Revolving Credit Note"). Upon the execution and
delivery of the Replacement Revolving Credit Note, the Replacement
Revolving Credit Note will supercede and replace the Revolving
Credit Note and, from and after such date, all references to the
Revolving Credit Note in this Agreement and the Loan Documents shall
be deemed to be references to the Replacement Revolving Credit Note.

10. Section 3.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its
entirety and the following provision is substituted in its place:

3.1 Letter of Credit Facility. In accordance with the terms
and conditions contained in this Agreement and in the applicable L/C
Applications, the Bank has issued the Maxi Switch Letter of Credit
and the Tecom Letter of Credit (herein referred to collectively as
the "Letters of Credit") for the account of the Company, and, upon
the terms and subject to the conditions contained in this Agreement
and the applicable L/C Applications, the Bank agrees to extend the
expiration date of each of the Maxi Switch Letter of Credit and the
Tecom Letter of Credit to March 31, 2003. The Company acknowledges
and agrees that the Bank has no obligation to issue any other
Letters of Credit.

11. The first two sentences of Section 3.3 of the Credit Agreement are hereby deleted in their entirety

and the following sentence is substituted in their place:

The Company will pay the L/C Fee to the Bank on March 6, 2002, which
fee will be fully earned and nonrefundable once paid.
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12. Section 3.4 of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its

entirety and the following provision is substituted in its place:

3.4 Reimbursement Obligations. The Company will pay to the

Bank promptly upon demand any and all amounts paid by the Bank under
any Letter of Credit, as provided in the applicable L/C Application,
together with interest on such amount from the date such amount was
paid by the Bank to the date it receives payment in federal or other
immediately available funds at the Prime Rate plus four percent (4%)
per annum, with such rate to be reset on each day on which there is
a change to the Prime Rate. Such interest shall be computed for the
actual number of days elapsed over a year of 360 days.

13. Section 3.5 of the Credit Agreement 1is hereby deleted in its

entirety and the following provision is substituted in its place:

3.5 Expiration of Letters of Credit. Unless the Bank shall

agree otherwise, all Letters of Credit shall expire on or before
March 31, 2003.

14. Section 4.2 of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its

entirety and the folleowing provision is substituted in its place:

The obligation of the Company to repay the Term Loan will be
evidenced by the Company's promissory note payable to the order of
the Bank at its office at 8300 Greensboro Drive, Suite 800, McLean,
Virginia 22102, or such other place as the holder may from time to
time designate, (i) for the period commencing on the Closing Date to
and including March 5, 2002, in substantially the form of Exhibit B
attached hereto with the blanks therein appropriately completed,
dated as of the date of the single advance under the Term Loan (the
"Term Loan Nete") and (ii) for the period commencing on March 6,
2002 and thereafter, in substantially the form of Exhibit B-1
attached hereto with the blanks therein appropriately completed,
dated as of March 6, 2002 (the "Replacement Term Loan Note"). Upon
the execution and delivery of the Replacement Term Loan Note, the
Replacement Term Loan Note will supercede and replace the Term Loan
Note and, from and after such date, all references to the Term Loan
Note in this Agreement and the Loan Documents shall be deemed to be
references to the Replacement Term Loan Note. For the period
commencing on the Closing Date to and including August 31, 2002,
installments of interest on the Term Loan Note shall be due and
payable commencing on November 30, 2000 and continuing on the last
day of each month thereafter to and including August 31, 2002. For
the period commencing on the Closing Date to and including August
31, 2002, installments of principal on the Term Loan Note shall be
due and payable on the following dates in the following amounts:
June 30, 2001, $2,500,000; September 30, 2001, $2,500,000; and
December 31, 2001, $2,500,000. For the period commencing on
September 1, 2002 and continuing to and including February 28, 2003,
installments of principal and interest, each in an amount equal to
the




amount necessary to fully amortize the principal balance of the Term
Loan Note as of September 1, 2002 at an interest rate equal to the
interest rate provided in Section S over an assumed 36-month period,
shall be due and payable commencing on September 30, 2002 and
continuing on the last day of each month thereafter to and including
February 28, 2003. A final installment of the entire unpaid
principal balance of the Term Loan Note together with all accrued
interest thereon shall be due and payable on March 31, 2003. The
Company acknowledges and agrees that, because the Term Loan Note
will bear interest based on the Prime Rate, the Bank shall have the
right to adjust the amount of the principal and interest
installments due after an increase in the Prime Rate during the
period commencing on March 6, 2002 and continuing to and including
February 28, 2003. The Company further acknowledges and agrees that,
although a 36-month period will be used to determine the amount of
the first seven (7) installments of principal and interest due on
the Term Loan Note during the period commencing on January 1, 2002
and continuing to and including February 28, 2003, if not sooner
paid, the entire unpaid principal balance of the Term Loan Note
together with all accrued interest thereon shall be immediately due
and payable on March 31, 2003.

15. Section 4.4(a) (1) of the Credit Agreement 1s hereby deleted in

its entirety and the following provision is substituted in its place:

(a) (1} [Reserved].

16. Section 5.2 of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its

entirety and the following provision is substituted in its place:

5.2 Interest Rates. The outstanding principal balance of the
Revolving Credit Loans and the Term Loan as they exist from time to
time commencing on the Closing Date and continuing to and including
March 30, 2001 will (subject to Section 5.3) bear interest at an
annual rate equal to the LIBOR Dally Floating Rate plus three
percent (3%), with such rate to be initially set by the Bank on the
Closing Date and with such rate to be reset on each day during such
period on which there is a change to the LIBOR Daily Floating Rate.
The outstanding principal balance of the Revolving Credit Loans and
the Term Loan as they exist from time to time commencing on March
31, 2001 and continuing to and including January 14, 2002 will
(subject to Section 5.3) bear interest at an annual rate equal to
the Prime Rate plus three percent (3%), with such rate to be reset
on each day on which there is a change to the Prime Rate. The
outstanding principal balance of the Revolving Credit Loans and the
Term Loan as they exist from time to time commencing on January 15,
2002 and continuing until the Revolving Credit Loans and the Term
Loan are paid in full will (subject to Section 5.3} bear interest at
an annual rate equal to the Prime Rate plus four percent (4%), with
such rate to be reset on each day on which there is a change to the
Prime Rate. Interest on the Revolving Credit Loans and on the Term
Loan




17.

will be computed on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed
over a year of 360 days.

Sections 8.1(a)

and 8.1 (b)

of the Credit Agreement are hereby deleted in their entirety and the

following provisions are substituted in their respective places:

(aj)

as soon as availlable, but in no event more than forty-five

(45) days after the end of each of the Company's fiscal quarters,
consclidated and consolidating balance sheets of the Company and its
Subsidiaries as of the end of such quarter and consolidated and
consolidating income statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries
to the end of such quarter, each in reasonable detail and in form
and substance satisfactory to the Bank, prepared in accordance with
GRAP and certified by the chief financial officer of the Company,
provided that the Company may deliver, in lieu of the foregoing
quarterly financial statements, the quarterly report of the Company
for the applicable fiscal guarter on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC,
but only as long as the financial statements contained in such
quarterly report are substantially the same in content as the
financial statements referred to above in this Section 8.1(a); with
such quarterly financial statements to be accompanied by (i)
consolidated and consolidating balance sheets and consolidated and
consolidating income statements with respect to Material
Subsidiaries for which there has been any material financial
activity during the applicable quarter, prepared in the ordinary
course of the Company's business, and (ii) a compliance certificate,
in form and detail satisfactory to the Bank and signed by the chief
financial officer of the Company, which provides a detailed
calculation of the financial covenants contained herein as of the
applicable fiscal quarter end and a statement as to whether the
Company 1is in compliance with all of the terms and conditions of
this Agreement;

(b)

as soon as available, but in no event more than ninety

(90) days after the end of each of the Company's fiscal years, a
copy of the annual consolidated and consolidating financial
statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries in reasonable detail
and in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank, prepared in
accordance with GAAP and audited by certified public accountants of
national standing or otherwise satisfactory to the Bank, which
financial statements shall include consolidated and consolidating
balance sheets of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the end of
such fiscal year,
income and retained earnings of the Company and its Subsidiaries for
such fiscal year,
flows for the Company and 1ts Subsidiaries for such fiscal year, a
reconciliation of net worth, and all normal and reasonable financial

notes,

consolidated and consolidating statements of

consolidated and consolidating statements of cash

provided that the Company may deliver, in lieu of the

foregoing annual financial statements, the annual report of the
Company for the applicable fiscal year on Form 10-K filed with the
SEC, but only as long as the financial statements contained in such
annual report are substantially the same in content as the financial
statements referred to above in this Section 8.1(b); with such
annual financial statements to be accompanied by a compliance

certificate,

in form and




detail satisfactory to the Bank and signed by the chief financial
officer of the Company, which provides a detailed calculation of the
financial covenants contained herein as of the applicable fiscal
year end and a statement as to whether the Company is in compliance
with all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement;

18. Section 8.1(f) of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its
entirety and the following provision is substituted in its place:

(f) (1) As soon as available and in any event within fifteen
(15) days after the end of each fiscal month of the Company, a
Borrowing Base Certificate executed by the chief financial officer
of the Company setting forth the Borrowing Base and the Term Loan
Collateral value as of the last Business Day of such month, and, if
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries engaged in any Asset Sales
during such month in which the value of the assets so sold was less
than $50,000 or which, when aggregated with the value of all other
assets sold in connection with other Assets Sales occurring during
the same fiscal month of the Company, had a value greater than
$200,000, such Borrowing Base Certificate shall include an
itemization of the assets sold during such month, the value of such
assets, and the net consideration received for such assets; and (2)
as soon as available and in any event by 5:00 pm eastern time on
March 4, 2002 and not later than 5:00 pm eastern time on each Monday
thereafter: (i) a Borrowing Base Certificate current as of the
Friday immediately preceding such Monday.prepared by and executed in
accordance with the requirements of Section 8.1(f) (1) and centaining
all of the information required to be contained in the Borrowing
Base Certificate required by Section 8.1(f) (1), (ii) a sales report
in form and substance acceptable to the Bank in its sole discretion
current as of the Friday immediately preceding such Monday that
describes all sales of Inventory and other goods by the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries by the following three (3) customer types:
supply houses, dealers and national accounts, (iii) a report in form
and substance acceptable to the Bank in its sole discretion current
as of the Friday immediately preceding such Monday that identifies
any officers or key employees that have terminated employment with
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or have notified the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries of such officer's or employee's intention
to do so, (iv) a report in form and substance acceptable to the Bank
in its sole discretion current as of the Friday immediately
preceding such Monday that identifies any material customers of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries that have ceased purchasing
Inventory or other goods from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
or that have notified the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of such
material customer's intention to d¢ so, and (v) a report in form and
substance acceptable to the Bank in its sole discretion that
describes the status of the Company's efforts to acquire or be
acquired by another person or legal entity and the status of the
Company's efforts to refinance the Revolving Credit Loans and the
Term Loan.

19. Section 8.16 of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its
entirety and the following provision is substituted in its place:
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8.16 Establishment of Lock-Box Account and Notification to

Account Debtors. On or before April 30, 2002, the Company shall

execute and deliver to the Bank all documents required by the Bank
to establish and administer a lock~box account for the Accounts.
Immediately after such lock-box account has been established, the
Company and each Material Subsidiary shall promptly notify each
Account Debtor in respect of any Account that any payments due or to
become due in respect of such Account are to be made in the name of
the Company or such Material Subsidiary to such address and post
office box as shall be specified by the Bank.

20. Section 8 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by inserting
the following new sections immediately following Section 8.18:

8.19 Implementation of Procedures and Systems.

(a) In no event later than February 28, 2002, the Company and
its Subsidiaries shall implement procedures and systems that are
necessary to provide the Bank with the following financial
information, all of which information shall be in form and substance
acceptable to the Bank in its sole discretion:

(i) a projected income statement for the Company for
each calendar month in calendar year 2002 and for calendar year 2002
taken as a whole, which procedures and systems shall have the
ability to (A) be updated monthly, (B) create revised projected
income statements for each calendar month in calendar year 2002 and
for calendar year 2002 taken as a whole, and (C) provide an analysis
that compares the actual income and expenses for each line item in
each such projection for the month then ended and year to date to
the income and expenses that had been projected for the period being
measured. Commencing on March 15, 2002 and continuing on the
fifteenth (15th) day after the end of each calendar month
thereafter, the Company shall provide such reports to the Bank by
5:00 pm eastern time on such fifteenth day after the end of each
calendar month, each such report being current as of the end of the
immediately preceding calendar month.

(ii) a projected cash flow statement for the period
commencing on the date of measurement and terminating thirteen weeks
thereafter, which procedures and systems shall have the ability to
(A) be updated weekly, (B) create revised projected cash flow
statements for the period commencing on the date of measurement and
terminating thirteen week thereafter, and (C) provide an analysis
that compares the actual income and expenses for each line item in
each such projection for the week then ended to the income and
expenses that had been projected for such week. Commencing on the
March 11, 2002 and continuing on each Monday thereafter, the Company
shall provide such reports to the Bank by 5:00 pm eastern time on
each such Monday, each such report being current as of the Friday
immediately preceding each such Monday.
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(iii) a weekly cash receipts statement that summarizes
all cash receipts, compares the actual cash receipts to the cash
receipts that had been projected for that week, and identifies the
amount of cash on hand. Commencing on March 11, 2002 and continuing
on each Monday thereafter, the Company shall provide such reports to
the Bank by 5:00 pm eastern time on each such Monday, each such
report being current as of the Friday immediately preceding each
such Monday.

(b) In no event later than October 1, 2002, the Company and
its Subsidiaries shall implement procedures and systems that are
necessary to provide the Bank with a projected income statement for
the Company for each calendar month in calendar year 2003 and for
calendar year 2003 taken as a whole, which procedures and systems
shall have the ability to (&) be updated monthly, (B) create revised
projected income statements for each calendar month in calendar year
2003 and for calendar year 2003 taken as a whole, and (C) provide an
analysis that compares the actual income and expenses for each line
item in each such projection for the month then ended and year to
date to the income and expenses that had been projected for the
period being measured, all of which information shall be in form and
substance acceptable to the Bank in its sole discretion. Commencing
on January 15, 2003 and continuing on the fifteenth (15th) day after
the end of each calendar month thereafter, the Company shall provide
such reports to the Bank by 5:00 pm eastern time on such fifteenth
day after the end of each calendar month, each such report being
current as of the end of the immediately preceding calendar month.

8.20 ExXpense Reduction Report. Commencing on March 11, 2002
and continuing on the first day of each calendar month thereafter,
the Company shall provide to the Bank by 5:00 pm eastern time on
each such day a report in form and substance acceptable to the Bank
in its sole discretion that describes the progress the Company and
its Subsidiaries have made in implementing and executing the plan to
reduce the Company's and its Subsidiaries' consolidated operating
expenses to an amount not greater than the Company's and its
Subsidiaries' consolidated operating income, each such report being
current as of the end of the immediately preceding calendar month.

8.21 Bank's Consultant. The Company shall cooperate fully with
the Bank's Consultant, which cooperation shall include, without
limitation, allowing the Bank's Consultant reasonable access to
observe the Company's and its Subsidiaries' respective operations
and the opportunity to inspect their respective financial and other
reports and projections. Furthermore, the Company hereby agrees to
pay all costs and expenses arising from or in connection with the
Bank's Consultant in accordance with the consulting agreement
between the Company and the Bank's Consultant dated as of
__ . 2002 and attached hereto as Exhibit I (the

"Consulting Agreement"”), and the Company hereby
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irrevocably authorizes the Bank to charge any and all accounts of
the Company maintained at the Bank for the amount of such costs and
expenses as and when due in accordance with the Consulting
Agreement. Any portion of such fees not paid when due shall bear
interest at the Default Rate until paid in full.

21. Section 9.2 of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its
entirety and the following provision is substituted in its place:

9.2 Minimum EBITDA. The Company will not permit Consolidated

EBITDA or Consolidated EBITDA to. Budgeted Consolidated EBITDA to be
less than the following amounts or percentages, as applicable,
measured as of the end of the fiscal quarters of the Company shown
below for the periods shown below:
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Budgeted
Consolidated EBITDA

Minimum
Consolidated EBITDA

Cumulative
Consolidated EBITDA

March 1, 2002 to
and includin
March 31, 2002

April 1, 2002 to
and including
April 30, 2002

May 1, 2002 to and
including May 31,
2002

June 1, 2002 to
ggd including June

July 1, 2002 to
and including July
31, 2002

August 1, 2002 to
and including
August 31, 2002

September 1, 2002
to and includin
September 30, 2002

October 1, 2002 to
and including
October 31, 2002

November 1, 2002
to and including
November 30, 2002

December 1, 2002
to and includin
December 31, 2002

January 1, 2003 to
and including
January 31, 2003

{As set forth in
the projected
income statement
required by Section
8.19(b) for the
period January 1,
2003 to and
including January
31, 2003?

[80% of Budgeted
Consolidated EBITDA
for the period
January 1, 2003 to
and including
January 31, 2003}

[90% of the sum
of Budgeted
Consolidated
EBITDA for the
geriod April 1,
002 to and
including
January 31, 2003}

February 1, 2003
to and 1ncluding
February 28, 2003

[As set forth in
the projected
income statement
required by Section
8.19(b) for the
eriod February 1,
003 to and
including February
28, 2003]

[80% of Budgeted
Consolidated EBITDA
for the period
February 28, 2003
to and 1lncluding
February 28, 2003]

[90% of the sum
of Budgeted
Consolidated
EBITDA for the
period April 1,
2002 to and
including
gebruary 28,
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22. Section 10.3 of the Credit Agreement i1s hereby amended by deleting clause (i) and renumbering
clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) as clauses (i1}, (ii) and (iii) respectively.

23. Section 10.4 of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its
entirety and the following provision 1is substituted in its place:

10.4 Acquisitions. Acguire, or permit any Subsidiary to
acquire, in one transaction or a series of transactions, all or any
substantial part of the capital stock (or other ownership interests)
or assets of any other Person.

24. Section 10 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by
inserting the following new section immediately following Section 10.9:

10.10 Capital Expenditures. Expend, or permit any of its
Subsidiaries to expend, for Capital Expenditures an amount in excess
of $300,000 during any fiscal quarter of the Company occurring
during the period January 1, 2002 to and including March 31, 2003.

25, Sections 11.9 and 11.10 of the Credit Agreement are hereby deleted in their entirety and the
following two provisions are substituted in their respective places:

11.9 Any default shall be made in the performance of any other
obligation incurred in connection with any indebtedness for borrowed
money of the Company or any Material Subsidiary aggregating $25,000
or more, if the effect of such default is to permit the holder of
such indebtedness (or a trustee on behalf of such holder) to cause
it to become due prior to its stated maturity or to do so with the
giving of notice or passage of time, or both, or any such
indebtedness becomes due prior to its stated maturity or shall not
be paid when due; or

11.10 Cne or more final judgments for the payment of money
aggregating in excess of $25,000 which is or are not adequately
insured or indemnified against shall be rendered at any time against
the Company or any Material Subsidiary and the same shall remain
undischarged for a period of thirty (30) days during which time
execution shall not be effectively stayed; or

26. Section 11.13 of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its
entirety and the following provision is substituted in its place:

11.13 A default or an event of default shall have occurred
under any of the other Loan Documents or under any of the Equity
Documents; provided, however, that no such default shall constitute
an Event of Default hereunder if the default is remedied to the
Bank's satisfaction within any applicable grace or cure period;
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27. Section 13.4 of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its
entirety and the following provision is substituted in its place:

13.4 Notices. All notices, requests and other communications
to either party hereunder will be in writing and will be given at
its address or telecopy number set forth below or such other address
or telecopy number as such party may hereafter specify in writing
for this purpose by notice to the other party:

If to the Company:

Comdial Corporation

106 Cattleman Road

Sarasota, Florida 34232

Attention: Chief Financial Officer
Telecopy Number: (941) 925-7989

With a copy to:

Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP

Bank of America Plaza

101 East Kennedy Boulevard

Suite 2800

Tampa, Florida 33602

Attention: Darrell C. Smith, Esquire
Telecopy Number: (813) 229-1660

If to the Bank:

Bank of aAmerica, N.A.

100 N. Tampa Street, Suite ‘1700
Tampa, Florida 33602

Attention: Daniel Langelier
Telecopy Number: (813) 276-7813

With a copy to:

Troutman Sanders LLP

1111 East Main Street, 20th Floor
Richmond, Virginia 23219

Attention: Thomas E. duB. Fauls, Esquire
Telecopy Number: (804) 697-1339

Each such notice, request or other communication will be
effective if delivered by hand delivery or sent by telecopy,
recognized overnight courier service or certified mail, return
receipt requested, and shall be presumed toc be
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received by a party hereto (i) on the date of delivery if delivered
by hand or sent by telecopy, -(ii) on the next Business Day if sent

by recognized overnight courier service, charges prepaid, and (iii)
on the third Business Day following the date sent by certified mail,
return receipt requested, postage prepaid.

28. The Bank hereby waives all Defaults and Events of Default that existed (i) under the Term Loan Note
because of the Company's failure to pay timely the principal installments that were due on each of
September 30, 2001 and December 31, 2001, (ii) under Section 9.1 of the Credit Agreement for the period
ending December 31, 2000, (iii) under Section 9.2 of the Credit Agreement for the periods ending March
31, 2001, June 30, 2001, September 30, 2001 and December 31, 2001 and (iv) under Section 8.16 because
the Company failed to establish a lock-box by December 31, 2000, but the Bank expressly does not waive
any other Defaults or Events of Default that have occurred or exist as of the date of this First
mmendment or any Defaults or Events of Default that may occur or exist after the date of this First
Amendment under the Credit Agreement, as amended by this First Amendment, or any of the other Loan
Documents.

29, Simultaneously upon the satisfaction of all of the conditions precedent set forth in paragraph 33 of
this First Amendment and the Bank's execution and delivery of this First Amendment, the Company and the
Bank agree that the Bank shall exchange (A) (i) $7,500,000 of the indebtedness under the Revolving Credit
Loans (30 that the resulting principal balance outstanding under the Revolving Credit Loans shall be, as
of the date of this First Amendment, $8,000,000), which Revolving Credit Loans shall hereafter be
evidenced by the Replacement Revolving Credit Note, and (ii) $2,500,000 of the indebtedness under the
Term Loan (so that the resulting principal balance outstanding under the Term Loan shall be, as of the
date hereof, $4,903,874.69), which Term Loan shall hereafter be evidenced by the Replacement Term Loan
Note, for (B) 1,000,000 shares of Series B Alternate Rate Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred
Stock issued by the Company pursuant to the Equity Documents.

30. The Company hereby absolutely and unconditionally agrees to pay to the Bank a fee (the
"Restructuring Fee") in the amount of $150,000 in immediately available funds with respect to this First
Amendment, which Restructuring Fee the Company hereby acknowledges and agrees is fully earned as of the
date of this First Amendment and not subject to diminution for any reason. The Restructuring Fee shall
be payable as follows: $50,000 on the date of this First Amendment, $50,000 on April 5, 2002, and
$50,000 on May 5, 2002. If the Company shall fail to pay any portion of the Restructuring Fee in
accordance with the immediately preceding sentence, such failure shall be an Event of Default that is
not subject to any grace or cure period and the Bank shall have all of the rights and remedies set forth
in the Credit Agreement, as amended by this First Amendment, and the other Loan Documents.

31. The Credit Agreement is hereby amended to add a new exhibit,
which exhibit shall be in the form of Exhibit A-1 attached to this First .
Amendment and shall be labeled Exhibit A-1. The Credit Agreement is hereby
amended to add a second new exhibit, which second exhibit shall be in the form
of Exhibit B-1 attached to this First Amendment and shall be labeled Exhibit

B-1. The Credit Agreement is hereby amended to add a third new exhibit, which
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third exhibit shall be in the form of Exhibit I attached to this First Amendment

and shall be labeled Exhibit I.

32. The Company hereby represents and warrants to the Bank (which representations and warranties shall
survive the execution and delivery of this First Amendment) that, as of the date of the execution of
this First Amendment: . '

fa) It is in compliance with all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Credit Agreement, as
amended by this First Amendment, and each of the other Loan Documents.

(b} There exists no Default or Event of Default under the Credit Agreement, as amended by this First
Amendment, that has not been expressly waived pursuant to this First Amendment.

(c) Except as set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto, the
representations and warranties contained in Section. 6 of the Credit Agreement
are, except to the extent that they relate solely to an earlier date, true with
the same effect as though such representations and warranties had been made on
the date of this First Amendment; and the Company further represents and
warrants that each of American Telecommunications Corp., Comdial Consumer
Communications Corporation, Comdial Custom Manufacturing Inc., Comdial
Technology Corporation, Comdial Video Telephony Inc., Telecom Technologies Inc.
and Comdial Convergent Communications, Inc. was dissolved in December, 2001.

(d) - Bach of the Company and its Subsidiaries has full
corporate power and authority and has taken all necessary corporate action to
authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this First Amendment, the
new promissory notes (in the forms attached hereto as Exhibit A-1 and Exhibit

B-1, respectively, the "Replacement Revolving Credit Note" and the "Replacement
Term Loan Note," respectively), the acknowledgment of company and guarantors
attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit C (the "Acknowledgment") and
the Egquity Documents to which it is a party. No consent or approval of the
shareholders of the Company {except for any such approval as may be required by
NASDAQ in connection with the conversion of the Series B Preferred Stock (as
defined in the Certificate of Designation)) or any of its Subsidiaries or
consent or approval of, notice to or filing with, any Governmental Authority,
securities exchange or other securities self-regulatory organization (except for
any such consent, approval, notice, or filing as may be required by the
Securities and Exchange Commission or NASDAQ in connection with the conversion
of the Series B Preferred Stock), is required as a condition to the wvalidity of
or the performance by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of its obligations
under this First Amendment, either of the promissory notes described in the
immediately preceding sentence, the Acknowledgment or the Equity Documents.

(e} This First Amendment, the Replacement Revolving Credit Note, the Replacement Term Loan Note, the
Acknowledgment and the Eguity Documents have been duly executed and delivered by the duly authorized
officers of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries party thereto, and each such document constitutes
the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company and the applicable Subsidiaries which are parties
thereto, and is
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enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except to the extent such enforceability may be
limited by applicable bankruptcy, insclvency, reorganization and moratorium laws and similar laws
relating generally to the enforcement of creditors' rights.

(f) Except as disclosed on Schedule 1 attached hereto, there
are no proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened
before any court or administrative agency that wculd reasonably be expected, in
any particular case or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect upon
the ability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to perform any of its
obligations under the Credit Agreement, as amended by this First Amendment, the
Replacement Revolving Credit Note, the Replacement Term Loan Note, the
Acknowledgment, any of the other Loan Documents or any of the Equity Documents,
or could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(g) The execution, delivery and performance by the Company and its Subsidiaries of this First Amendment,
the Replacement Revolving Credit Note, the Replacement Term Loan Note, the Acknowledgment and the Equity
Documents in accordance with their respective terms do not (i) require any approval of, notice to or
filing with any Governmental Authority, securities exchange or other securities self-regulatory
organization (except for any such approval, notice, or filing as may be required by the Securities and
Exchange Commission or NASDAQ in connection with the conversion of the Series B Preferred Stock), or
violate any federal, state or local law, rule or ordinance relating to the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, {(ii} conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute a default under the charter,
bylaws or preference stock provisions of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any mortgage,
indenture, contract or agreement binding on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or affecting any of
their respective properties or any approval of any Governmental Authecrity relating to the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries, or (iii) result in or require the creation or imposition of any lien, security
interest, charge or other encumbrance (collectively, "Liens”) upon or with respect to any property now
owned or hereafter acquired by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than Liens arising under the
Loan Documents,

(h) This First Amendment and the Equity Documents are not being made or entered into with the intent to
hinder, delay or defraud any person or entity.

(i) Except as set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto, no
action or proceeding under any federal or state insolvency or debtor relief law,
including without limitation a voluntary or involuntary petition for bankruptcy
under any chapter of the Federal Bankruptcy Code, has been instituted or, to the
Company's knowledge, threatened against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

33. The Bank's agreement to enter into this First Amendment is
subject to the following conditions precedent:

{(a) The Company shall have executed and delivered to the Bank
this First Amendment.
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{b) The Company shall have executed and delivered the Replacement Revolving Credit Note and the
Replacement Term Loan Note in the forms of Exhibit A-1 and Exhibit B-1, respectively, attached hereto
with the blanks therein appropriately completed.

(c) The Company shall have delivered to the Bank (i) certified copies of the resolutions of its board of
directors and the boards of directors of its Subsidiaries authorizing and approving this First
Amendment, the Replacement Revolving Credit Note, the Replacement Term Loan Note, the Acknowledgment and
the Equity Documents and {(ii) a certificate of incumbency for the Company executed by the secretary of
the Company and a certificate of incumbency for each of its Subsidiaries setting forth the names of the
officers of the Company and the Subsidiaries, as applicable, that are authorized to execute any of this
First Amendment, the Replacement Revolving Credit Note, the Replacement Term Loan Note, the
Acknowledgment or the Equity Documents, together with a specimen signature for each such officer.

(d) The Company and each of the Company's Subsidiaries shall
have executed and delivered to the Bank the Acknowledgment.

(e) The Bank shall have received favorable opinions of cocunsel to the Company and the Subsidiaries
addressed to the Bank, dated as of the date hereof and satisfactory in form and substance to the Bank,
as to the good standing of each of the Company and its Subsidiaries in its state of incorporation, the
authority of each of the Company and its Subsidiaries to transact business in the State of Florida, the
due authorization, execution, delivery and enforceability of this First Amendment, the Replacement
Revolving Credit Note, the Replacement Term Loan Note, the Acknowledgment, the Equity Documents, certain
matters associated with the Eguity Documents, and such other matters as the Bank shall request.

(f) The Bank shall have received payment in immediately available funds of (i) an amount equal to all
accrued but unpaid interest on the Revolving Credit Note as of March 6, 2002, (ii) an amount equal to
all accrued but unpaid interest on the Term Loan Note as of March 6, 2002, (iii) the $50,000 portion of
the Restructuring Fee that is due and payable on the date of this First Amendment and (vi) the $50,000
L/C Fee that is due and payable on March &, 2002.

(g) The Company shall have executed and delivered, and shall have caused to be executed and delivered,
all of the Equity Documents and all other documents, instruments, opinions and other papers that the
Bank deems necessary or advisable be delivered to it or filed in connection with the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by the Equity Documents, the Certificate of Designation shall have been
adopted and become effective under the laws of the State of Delaware, and all other conditions and
matters set forth as conditions precedent in the Equity Documents shall have occurred and be acceptable
to the Bank.

(h) The Company shall have paid all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Bank in connection with the
structuring, negotiating and preparing of this First Amendment, the Replacement Revolving Credit Note,
the Replacement Term Loan Note, the Acknowledgment, the Equity Documents, and all documents,
instruments, agreements, opinions
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and other papers associated with the Equity Documents, including but not limited
to the fees and disbursements of counsel to the Bank.

(i) The Company and the Material Subsidiaries shall have executed and delivered a closing statement, an
aviation/international waters closing affidavit and a tax indemnity agreement, each in form and
substance acceptable to the Bank.

(j) The Company shall have executed and delivered a pledge agreement substantially in the form of the
Pledge Agreement, a blank stock power and the original share certificate or certificates for the capital
stock of Comdial Business Communications Corporation, all of which documents shall be in form and
substance acceptable to the Bank.

34, The Company and the Bank hereby agree that this First Amendment supercedes and replaces the April 10
Letter, and that the April 10 Letter is of no further force or effect.

35. Except as expressly amended hereby, the terms of the Credit Agreement shall remain in full force and
effect in all respects, and the Company hereby reaffirms its obligations under the Credit Agreement, as
amended by this First Amendment, and each of the other Loan Documents. The Company hereby waives any
claim, cause of action, defense, counterclaim, setoff or recoupment of any kind or nature that it may
have or assert against the Bank arising from or in connection with the Credit Agreement, as amended by
this First Amendment, the Revolving Credit Note, the Term Loan Note, the Acknowledgment, any of the
other Loan Documents, the Equity Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby or hereby that exist
on the date hereof or arise from facts or actions occurring prior to or on the date of this First
Amendment. Nothing contained in this First Amendment shall be construed to constitute a novation with
respect to any of the obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries described in the Credlt
Agreement or the other Loan Documents.

36. All references to the Credit Agreement in any of the Loan Documents, or any other documents or
instruments that refer to the Credit Agreement, shall be deemed to be references to the Credit Agreement
as amended by this First Amendment.

37. This First Amendment, the Replacement Revolving Credit Note, the Replacement Term Loan Note and the
Acknowledgment shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the
Commonwealth of Virginia, without reference to the conflicts or choice of law principles thereof.

38. This First Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an
original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

39. This First Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their

respective successors and assigns. The Company shall not have the right to assign any of its rights or
obligations under or delegate any of its duties under the Credit
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Agreement, as amended by this First Amendment, the Replacement Revolving Credit Note, the Replacement
Term Loan Note, the Acknowledgment or any of the other Loan Documents.

40. The Company and the Lenders hereby acknowledge and agree that any controversy or claim between or
among the parties to the Credit Agreement, as amended by this First Amendment, the Replacement Revolving
Credit Note, the Replacement Term Loan Note, any of the other Loan Documents or the Equity Documents,
including but not limited to those arising out of or related to this First Amendment or the
Acknowledgment, shall be determined by binding arbitration as described in Section 13.10 of the Credit
Agreement. As provided in the Credit Agreement, the Company hereby acknowledges and agrees that nething
in Section 13.10 of the Credit Agreement shall be deemed to limit the right of the Bank to obtain from a
court provisional or ancillary remedies such as (but not limited to) injunctive relief (including
without limitation specific performance as described in Section 14 of the Registration Rights
Agreement), writ of possession or the appointment of a trustee.

41. The Credit Agreement, as amended by this First Amendment, the Replacement Revelving Credit Note, the
Replacement Term Loan Note, the Acknowledgment and the other Loan Documents represent the final
agreement among the Company, its Subsidiaries and the Bank with respect to the subject matter hereof,
and may not be contradicted, modified or supplemented in any way by evidence of any prior or
contemporaneous written or oral agreements of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or the Bank.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank)
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Witness:

/s/ Ralph R. Dyer
Name: Ralph R. Dyer

Witness:

/s/ Ralph R. Dyer
Name: Ralph R. Dyer
#1035255v6

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly
authorized officers under seal, all as of the day and year first written above.

COMDIAL CORPORATION

By: /s/ Paul J. Suijk SEAL)
Name: Paul J. Suijk

Title: Senior Vice President/Chief
Financial Officer

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A,

By: /s/ Daniel Langelier SEAL)
Name: Daniel Langelierx
Title: Senior Vice President
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REVOLVING CREDIT NOTE

$8,000,000.00 March 6, 2002

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, COMDIAL CORPORATION (the "Company"), a Delaware corporation, promises to pay to the
order of BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (the "Bank") at its office at 100 N. Tampa Street, Tampa, Florida 33602,
or at such other place as the noteholder may from time to time designate in writing, the sum of EIGHT
MILLION DOLLARS ($8,000,000.00) or such lesser amount as may have been advanced hereunder and remain
unpaid on the Revolving Credit Termination Date (as defined in the Credit Agreement, as hereinafter
defined), and to pay interest on the unpaid balance of such sum from the date hereof at the rate or
rates, on the dates and upon the other terms and conditions contained in the Credit Agreement.

This Note evidences a borrowing under, is subject to the terms and conditions of, is entitled to the
benefits of, and is the Revolving Credit Note defined in, the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
dated as of November 22, 2000, by and between the Company and the Bank, as amended by a First Amendment
to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of March 6, 2002 (as so amended, the "Credit
Agreement"). The Credit Agreement contalns, among other things, provisions for the time, place and
manner of payment of this Note, the determination of the interest rate borne by this Note, and the
mandatory repayment of this Note under certain circumstances.

The events of default hereunder are the same as those described in the Credit Agreement which are
incorporated herein by this reference. In the event of the occurrence of any or all of such events, the
entire unpaid principal balance of this Note together with all accrued interest may automatically
become, or may be declared, immediately due and payable in the manner and with the effect as provided in
the Credit Agreement.

The Company agrees to pay on demand all costs of collection, including reasonable attorneys' fees, if
after default this Note is placed in the hands of an attorney for collection, or if after default the
holder finds it necessary or desirable to secure the services or advice of an attorney with regard to
collection.

Presentment, demand, protest and notice of dishonor are hereby waived by
all makers and endorsers hereon.

This Note shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of
Virginia, without reference to the conflicts or choice of law principals thereof.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, COMDIAL CORPORATION has caused its name to be signed
to this Note by its duly authorized officer as of the date first above written.

COMDIAL CORPORATION
By: /s/ Paul K. Suijk
Name: Paul K. Suijk

Title: Chief Financial Officer

#1035630v2
200160.545
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TERM LOAN NOTE

$4,903,874.69 March 6, 2002

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, COMDIAL CORPORATION (the "Company"), a Delaware corporation, promises to pay to the
order of BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (the "Bank") at its office at 100 N. Tampa Street, Tampa, Florida 33602,
or at such other place as the noteholder may from time to time designate in writing, at the times and in
the manner provided in the Credit Agreement {as hereinafter defined), the sum of FOUR MILLION NINE
HONDRED THREE THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED SEVENTY-FOUR AND ©68/100 DOLLARS ($4,903,874.69), and to pay
interest on the unpaid balance of such sum from the date hereof at the rate or rates, on the dates and
upon the other terms and conditions contained in the Credit Agreement.

This Note evidences a borrowing under, is subject tc the terms and conditions of, is entitled to the
benefits of, and is the Term Loan Neote defined in, the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of
November 22, 2000, by and between the Company and the Bank, as amended by a First Amendment to Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of March 6, 2002 (as so amended, the "Credit Agreement"). The
Credit Agreement contains, among other things, provisions for the time, place and manner of payment of
this Note, the determination of the interest rate borne by this Note, and the mandatory repayment of
this Note under certain circumstances.

The events of default hereunder are the same as those described in the Credit Agreement which are
incorporated herein by this reference. In the event of the occurrence of any or all of such events, the
entire unpaid principal balance of this Note together with all accrued interest may automatically
become, or may be declared, immediately due and payable in the manner and with the effect as provided in
the Credit Agreement.

The Company agrees to pay on demand all costs of collection, including reasonable attorneys' fees, if
after default this Note is placed in the hands of an attorney for collection, or if after default the
holder finds it necessary or desirable to secure the services or advice of an attorney with regard to
collection.

Presentment, demand, protest and notice of dishonor are hereby waived by
all makers and endorsers hereon.

This Note shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of
Virginia, without reference to the conflicts or choice of law principals thereof.




IN WITNESS WHEREQF,

COMDIAL CORPORATION has caused its name to be signed

to this Note by its duly authorized officer as of the date first above written.

#1035637v2
200160.545

COMDIAL CORPORATION

By: /s/ Paul K. Suijk
Name: Paul K. Suijk
Title: Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 10.28
COMDIAL CORPORATION
CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION
OF
SERIES B ALTERNATE RATE CUMULATIVE CONVERTIELE REDEEMABLE
- PREFERRED STOCK

Comdial Corporation, a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation
Law of the State of Delaware (the "Company"), certifies that pursuant to the authority contained in
Article THIRD of its Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, and in accordance with the provisions of
Section 151 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, its Board of Directors, at a
meeting duly convened and held on March 6, 2002, adopted the following resolution creating a series of
its Preferred Stock, par value $10.00, designated as Series B Alternate Rate Cumulative Convertible
Redeemable Preferred Stock:

RESOLVED, that a series of the class of authorized Preferred Stock, par value $10.00, of the Company be
hereby created, and that the designation and amount thereof and the voting powers, preferences and
relative, participating, optional and other special rights of the shares of such series, and the
qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof are as follows:

Section 1. Designation and Amount. The shares of such series shall be designated as the "Series B
Alternate Rate Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock" (hereinafter "Series B Preferred
Stock") and the number of shares constituting such series shall be 1,000,000 and no more.

Section 2. Dividends and Distributions.

{(a) Subject to paragraph (b) of this Section 2, the holders of
shares of Series B Preferred Stock, in preference to the holders of shares of
the Company's Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share ("Common Stock"), shall be
entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors, out of
funds of the Company legally available for the payment of dividends, quarterly
dividends per share payable in cash in the following amounts: $0.125 on the last
day of March, $0.125 on the last day of June, $0.125 on the last day of
September, and $0.125 on the last day of December in each year (each such date
being referred to as a "Quarterly Dividend Payment Date'") commencing on the
first Quarterly Dividend Payment Date which is after the date of issue of such
shares of Series B Preferred Stock; provided, however, that with respect to such
first Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, the holders of shares of Series B
Preferred Stock shall be entitled pursuant to this paragraph {(a) to receive the
pro rata portion of such quarterly dividend on the basis of the number of days
elapsed between the date of issue and the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Date.
such dividends shall be cumulative and shall accrue from the date of issue until
paid in cash.




{b) Alternatively, in lieu of paying a dividend on the Series B Preferred Stock in cash, the Company
shall have the option of paying any such dividend, when paid, in shares of the Company's Common Stock at
a rate equal to two times the cash dividend rate provided in Section 2(a) above, and in any such case
the value of shares of Common Stock paid as a dividend on the Series B Preferred Stock shall be
determined as provided for in the following paragraphs:

If the Company elects to issue the dividend in shares of Common Stock
rather than cash, the Company shall issue the holder the number of shares of
Common Stock having an aggregate Current Market Value equal to two times the
amount of the dividend payable to the holder had the Company elected that the
dividend be paid in cash, provided, however, the Company may not elect to issue
dividends in shares of Common Stock if such issuance would result in the holders
of Series B Preferred Stock owning an amount of the outstanding common stock of -
the Company on an as-converted basis that would require the Company to obtain
stockholder approval under NASDAQ Rule 4350(i). The "Current Market Value" for a
share of the Common Stock shall be determined as follows:

(i) if the Common Stock shall be listed (or admitted to unlisted trading privileges) on any single
national securities exchange, then the Current Market Value shall be computed on the basis of the last
reported sale price of the Common Stock on such exchange on the third Business Day prior tc the '
Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, or if no such sale shall have occurred on such day, then on the next
Business Day prior thereto on which day a sale occurred; or

(ii) if the Common Stock shall not be so listed (or admitted to unlisted trading privileges) and bid and
asked prices therefor in the over-the-counter market shall be reported by NASDAQ, including the Nasdag
National Market and the Nasdag SmallCap Market, then the Current Market Value shall be the average of
the closing bid and asked prices for the five trading days ending on the third Business Day prior to the
Quarterly Dividend Payment Date; or

(iii) if the Common Stock shall be listed (or admitted to unlisted trading privileges) on more than one
national securities exchange or one or more national securities exchanges and in the over-the-counter
market, then the Current Market Value shall, if different as a result of calculation under the
applicable method(s) described above in (i) and (ii) above, be deemed tc be the higher number calculated
in connection therewith; or

(iv) if the shares of Common Stock are traded over the counter, but not on any national securities
exchange and not in the NASDAQ National Market System or the Nasdag SmallCap Market System, then the
Current Market Value shall be the average of the mean bid and asked prices per share for the five
trading days ending on the third Business Day prior to the Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, as reported
by Pink Sheets LLC, or an equivalent generally accepted reporting service; or




{(v) if the Common Stock shall not be so listed, admitted to unlisted trading privileges, or traded over
the counter, and such bid and asked prices shall not be so reported, then the Current Market Value shall
be the average of the mean bid and asked prices per share for the last ten trading days on which bid and
asked prices were reported prior to the third Business Day prior to the Quarterly Dividend Payment Date.

The Company shall not be required to issue fractional shares of Common Stock in connection with its
election to pay the dividend in shares of Common Stock. If any fraction of a share of Common Stock would
be issuable upon the payment of the dividend (or any specified portion thereof), the Company shall pay
an amount in cash equal to the product of (a) such fraction and (b) the Current Market Value of a share
of the Commen Stock, determined as set forth above.

(c) Dividends paid on shares of Series B Preferred Stock in an amount less than the total amount of such
dividends at the time accrued and payable on such shares shall be allocated pro rata on a share-by-share
basis to all such shares of Series B Preferred Stock at the time outstanding. The Board of Directors may
fix a record date for the determination of holders of shares of Series B Preferred Stock entitled to
receive payments of a dividend declared thereon, which record date shall be no more than 60 days nor
less than ten days prior to the date fixed for the payment thereof.

(d) The holders of shares of Series B Preferred Stock shall not be entitled to receive any dividends or
other distributions except as provided in this Certificate of Designation of Series B Alternate Rate
Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock.

Section 3. Required Approval. The shares of Series B Preferred Stock shall not have any voting powers,
either general or special, except as required by applicable law and shall have approval rights as
follows:

(a) Without the approval of the holders of at least 67% of the
shares of Series B Preferred Stock at the time outstanding, the Company shall
not amend its Certificate of Incorporation to, adopt a certificate of
designation to, or otherwise (i) create any class of stock or issue any series
of Preferred Stock or any other equity security ranking prior to or in parity

the class or series of equity securities ranking prior to or in parity with the
Series B Preferred Stock as to dividends or upon liquidation is created or
issued in an Approved Transaction, as defined in Section 8 herein; or (ii) alter
or change any of the preferences, privileges, rights or powers of the holders of
the Series B Preferred Stock so as to affect adversely such preferences,
privileges, rights or powers. .

(b) In the event that any four consecutive quarterly dividends upon the Series B Preferred Stock which
the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock are entitled to receive hereunder shall be in arrears and
unpaid either in cash or in-kind, the holders of Series B Preferred Stock shall have the exclusive and
special right, voting separately as a class, to elect two (2) members of the Board of Directors or such
greater number of members as is necessary to




equal at least 20% of the total number of members of the Board of Directors at
all times thereafter.

Section 4. Certain Restrictions. Whenever guarterly dividends payable on
shares of Series B Preferred Stock pursuant to the terms of Section 2 are in
arrears, then thereafter and until all accrued and unpaid dividends on shares of
Series B Preferred Stock outstanding shall have been paid in full or declared
and set apart for payment, the Company shall not declare or pay dividends on, or
make any other distributions on any shares of any series or class other than
Series B Preferred Stock or purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of
any series or class other than Series B Preferred Stock; provided, however, that
such restrictions shall be deemed to be waived by the holders of the outstanding
shares of the Series B Preferred Stock if the declaration or payment of
dividends or distributions, or the repurchase, redemption or other acquisition,
is with regard to a series or class of capital stock issued in an Approved
Transaction.

Section 5. Redemption.

(a) The outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock may be redeemed at the option of the Company, in
whole or in part, at any time upon not less than 30 days nor more than 90 days prior written notice to
all holders of record of shares of Series B Preferred Stock to be so redeemed, at a redemption price
equal to all accumulated but unpaid dividends to and including the date fixed for redemption of such
shares (the "Redemption Date™) plus an amount (the "Applicable Amount") equal to (i) during the four
calendar years after the year of issuance of the Series B Preferred Stock, $10.00 per share or (ii)
during each calendar year after the fourth year, an amount equal to the Applicable Amount in the
preceding year plus $0.50 per share; provided that the redemption price per share for any transaction
which results in the total number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock that have been redeemed
(including the shares redeemed in such transaction) equaling at least ten percent (10%) of the total
number cf shares of Series B Preferred Stock which were originally issued, and for all subsequent
transactions, shall be the same price as was in effect during the year preceding the transaction which
results in the redemption of at least ten percent (10%) of the originally issued Series B Preferred
Stock. Subject to delivery of certificates for the shares to be redeemed, the Company shall pay the
Applicable Amount plus all accumulated but unpaid dividends on the Redemption Date.

(b) Unless default shall be made in the payment in full of the redemption price and any accumulated and
unpaid dividends, dividends on the shares of Series B Preferred Stock called for redemption shall cease
to accumulate on the Redemption Date, and all rights of the holders of such shares as stockholders of
the Company by reason of the ownership of such shares shall cease on the Redemption Date, except the
right te receive the amount payable upon redemption of such shares on presentation and surrender of the
respective certificates representing such shares. After the Redemption Date, such shares shall not be
deemed to be outstanding and shall not be transferable on the books of the Company except to the
Company .

(c) At any time on or after the Redemption Date, the respective holders of record of shares of Series B
Preferred Stock to be redeemed shall be entitled to receive the redemption price upon actual delivery to
the Company of certificates for the shares to be redeemed, such certificates, if required by the
Company, to be properly stamped for transfer and




duly endorsed in blank or accompanied by proper instruments of transfer thereof
duly executed in blank.

Section 6. Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up. In the event of any voluntary or involuntary
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the holders of shares of the Series B Preferred
Stock then outstanding shall be entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Company available for
distribution to its stockholders, before any payment shall be made to the holders of any cther class or
series of capital stock of the Company, an amount equal to $10.00 per share plus an amount equal to all
dividends accrued thereon to and including the date of payment; provided, however, the holders of the
Series B Preferred Stock shall be deemed to have waived such priority of payment with regard to another
class or series of capital stock issued in an Approved Transaction.

Section 7. Conversiocn.

(a) Conversion Ratio. Each share of Series B Preferred Stock shall be convertible at any time at the
option of the holder thereof, into shares of Common Stock. Subject to the other terms of this Section 7,
the number of shares of Common Stock deliverable upon conversion ¢of one share of Series B Preferred
Stock shall be one and one-half (1.3) shares of Common Stock, provided, however, in the event that while
shares of Series B Preferred Stock are held by Bank of America, N.A. or a nominee thereof the Company
issues new shares of equity securities to investors for new funding and a portion of the proceeds is
used to make a reduction in the outstanding prlncmpal amount ©of the Company's Term Loan, the conversion
ratio shall be adjusted as follows:

Term Loan Conversion Pre:Conversion ’ No. Shares
Paydown Ratio Equity ' Of Common
Cso 1.5:1 16.30% 1,500,000

$1.0 million 1.4:1 : 15.22% 1,400,000
$1.5 millicn 1.3:1 14.13% 1,300,000
$2.0 million 1.2:1 13.04% 1,200,000
$2.5 million 1.0:1 10.87% ' 1,000,000
$3.0 million 0.5:1 5.43% 500,000

For the purposes of this Section 7(a), 'the "Term Loan" shall mean the term loan payable to Bank of
America, N.A. in the original principal amount of $4,903,874.69, due March 31, 2003, evidenced by a Term
Loan Note dated March 6, 2002, as such term loan note may be amended, modified, renewed or replaced.

(b) Exercise of Conversion Privilege. Each holder of outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock may
exercise the conversion right provided in paragraph (a) above as to all or any portion of the shares he
holds by delivering to the Company during regular business hours, at the principal office of the Company
or at such other place as may be designated in




writing by the Company, the certificate or certificates for the shares to be converted, duly endorsed or
assigned in blank or endorsed or assigned to the Company (if required by it), accompanied by written
notice stating that the holder elects to convert such shares and stating the name or names (with address
and applicable social security or other tax identification number) in which the certificate or
certificates for shares of Common Stock are to be issued. Conversion shall be deemed to have been
effected on the date (the "Conversion Date”) when such delivery is made. As promptly as practicable
thereafter the Company shall issue and deliver to or upon the written order of such holder, at such
office or other place designated by the Company, a certificate or certificates for the number of shares
of Common Stock to which he is entitled and a check or other order for the payment of cash due with
respect to any fraction of a share, as provided in paragraph (c) below. The person in whose name the
certificate or certificates for shares of Common Stock are to be issued shall be deemed to have become a '
shareholder of record on the Conversion Date, unless the transfer books of the Company are closed on
that date, in which event he shall be deemed to have become a shareholder of record on the next
succeeding date on which the transfer books are open; but the Conversion Price shall be that in effect
on the Conversion Date.

(c) No Fractional Shares. The Company shall not be required to issue fractional shares of Common Stock
upon conversion of shares of Series B Preferred Stock. If more than one share of Series B Preferred
Stock shall be surrendered for conversion at any time by the same holder, the number of full shares of
Common Stock issuable upon conversion thereof shall be computed on the basis of the total number of
shares of Series B Preferred Stock so surrendered. If any fractional interest in a share of Common Stock
would be deliverable upon conversion, the Company shall make an adjustment therefor in cash based on the
Current Market Value of one share of Common Stock on the Conversion Date. The "Current Market Value" for
purposes of this paragraph shall be determined as set forth in Section 2(b), except that each reference
to "Quarterly Dividend Payment Date" in Section 2(b) shall mean "Conversion Date" for purposes of this
paragraph.

(d) Taxes Payable on Conversion. The issuance of shares of Common Stock on conversion of outstanding
shares of Series B Preferred Stock shall be made by the Company without charge for expenses or for any
tax in respect of the issuance of such shares of Common Stock, but the Company shall not be required to
pay any tax which may be payable in respect of any transfer involved in the issuance and delivery of
shares of Common Stock in any name other than that of the holder of record on the books of the Company
of the outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock converted, and the Company shall not be required
to issue or deliver any certificate for shares of Common Stock unless and until the person requesting
the issuance thereof shall have paid tc the Company the amount of such tax or shall have established to
the satisfaction of the Company that such tax has been paid.

(e} Conversion Price Adjustments. The Conversion Price of the Series
B Preferred Stock shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as follows:

(i) (A) If the Company shall issue any Additional Stock (as defined below) without consideration or for
a consideration per share that is less than the Market Price in effect immediately prior to the issuance
of such Additional Stock, the Conversion Price




shall forthwith (except as otherwise provided in this clause (i)) be adjusted as
to equal the price determined by the following formula:

NP = OP x (P x N}y +C

where

NP = new Conversion Price,

CP = old Conversion Price,

P = Market Price in effect immediately prior to the issuance of
Additicnal Stock,

N = the number of shares of Common Stock ocutstanding immediately prior
to the issuance of Additional Stock {including for this purpose the
number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the
Series B Preferred Stock at the Conversion Price in effect
immediately prior to such issuance),

Cc = the aggregate consideration to be received by the Company for the
Additional Stock, and

n = the number of shares of Additional Stock to be issued.

The "Market Price" shall mean the Current Market Value as defined in Section 2(b) hereof, with the date
of measurement under sub~clauses (i) to and including (v) of Section 2(b) being, for the purposes of
this Section 7(e), the third Business Day prior to the Issuance Date of such Additional Stock rather
than the third Business Day prior to the Quarterly Dividend Payment Date.

(B} No adjustment ©of the Conversion Price for the Series B Preferred Stock shall be made in an amount
less than one cent per share, provided that any adjustments that are thereby not required to be made
shall be carried forward and shall be taken into account in any subsequent adjustment. Except to the
limited extent provided for in Subsection 7(e) (1)} (E) (3), no adjustment of the Conversion Price pursuant
to this Subsection 7(e) (i) shall have the effect of increasing the Conversion Price above the Conversion
Price in effect immediately prior to such adjustment.

(C) In the case of the issuance of Common Stock for cash, the consideration shall be deemed to be the
amount of cash paid therefor before deducting any reasonable discounts , commissions cor other expenses
allowed, paid or incurred by the Company for any underwriting or otherwise in connection with the
issuance and sale thereof.

(D) In the case of the issuance of the Common Stock for a consideration in whole or in part other than
cash, the consideration other than cash shall be deemed to be the fair value thereof as determined by
the Board of Directors irrespective of any accounting treatment.




(E) In the case of the issuance of options tc purchase or rights to subscribe for Common Stock,
securities by their terms convertible into or exchangeable for Common Stock or options to purchase or
rights to subscribe for such convertible or exchangeable securities (which are not excluded from the
definition of Additional Stock), the following provisions shall apply:

(1) subject to subparagraph (4) below, the aggregate maximum number of shares of Common Stock
deliverable upon exercise of such cptions to purchase or rights to subscribe for Common Stock shall be
deemed to have been issued at the time such options or rights were issued and for a consideration equal
to the consideration (determined in the manner provided in Subsections 7(e) (i) (C) and 7(e)(i)(D)), if
any, received by the Company upon the issuance of such options or rights plus the additional
consideration, if any, to be received by the Company upon the exercise of such options or rights for the
Common Stock covered thereby;

(2) subject to subparagraph (4) below, the aggregate maximum number of shares of Common Stock
deliverable upon conversion of or in exchange for any such convertible or exchangeable securities or
upon the exercise of options to purchase or rights to subscribe for such convertible or exchangeable
securities and the subsequent conversion or exchange thereof shall be deemed to have been issued at the
time such convertible or exchangeable securities were issued or such options or rights were issued and
for a consideration equal to the consideration, if any, received by the Company for any such convertible
or exchangeable securities and related options or rights (excluding any cash received on account of
accrued interest or accrued dividends), plus the additional consideration, 1f any, to be received by the
Company upon the conversion or exchange of such securities or the exercise of any related options or
rights (the consideration in each case to be determined in the manner provided in Subsections 7(e) (i) (C)
and 7(e) (1) (D))

(3) in the event of any increase in the number shares of Common Stock deliverable upon exercise of such
options or rights or upon conversion of or in exchange for such convertible or exchangeable securities,
including, but not limited to, a change resulting from the antidilution provisions thereof, the
Conversion Price then in effect shall forthwith be readjusted to such Conversion Price as would have
been obtained had the adjustment that was made upon the issuance cof such options, rights c¢r securities
not converted prior to such change or the options or rights related to such securities not converted
prior to such change been made upon the basis of such change, but no further adjustment shall be made
for the actual issuance of Common Stock upon the exercise of any such options or rights or the
conversion or exchange of such securities; and

(4) upon the expiration of any such options or rights, the termination of any such right s to convert or
exchange or the expiration of any options or rights related to such convertible or exchangeable
securities, the Conversion Price shall forthwith be readjusted to such Conversion Price as would have
been obtained had the adjustment that was made upon the issuance of such options, rights or securities
or options or rights related to such securities been made upon the basis of the issuance of only the
number of shares of Common




Stock actually issued upon the exercise of such options or rights, upon the conversion or exchange of
such securities or upon the exercise of the options or rights related to such securities.

{ii) "Additional Steck" shall mean any shares of Common Stock issued (or deemed to have been issued
pursuant to Subsection 7(e) (i) (E)) on any date ("Issuance Date"), other than:

(&) Common Stock issued pursuant to a transaction
described in Subsection 7(e) (iii) hereof,

(B) Common Stock issuable or issued to directors, employees or consultants of the Company directly or
pursuant toc a stock option or other plan,

(C) Common Stock issued or issuable upon conversion of
any outstanding Series B Preferred Stock, and

(D} Common Stock issued in an Approved Transaction.

(1iii) If the Company should at any time or from time to time after the Issuance Date fix a record date
for the effectuation of a split or subdivision of the outstanding shares of Common Stock or the
determination of holders of Common Stock entitled to receive a dividend or other distribution payable in
additional shares of Common Stock or other securities or rights convertible into, or entitling the
nolder thereof to receive directly or indirectly, additional shares of Common Stock (hereinafter
referred to as "Common Stock Equivalents") without payment of any consideration by such holder for the
additional shares of Common Stock or the Common Stock Equivalents (including the additional shares of
Common Stock issuable upon conversion or exercise thereof), then, as of such record date {(or the date of
such dividend, distribution, split or subdivision if no record date is fixed), the applicable Conversion
Price of the Series B Preferred Stock shall be appropriately decreased so that the number of shares of
Common Stock issuable on conversion of each share of Series B Preferred Stock shall be increased in
proportion to such increase of cutstanding shares.

(iv) If the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding at any time after the Issuance Date is
decreased by a combination or reverse stock split of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, then,
following the record date of such combination or reverse stock split, the applicable Conversion Price of
the Series B Preferred Stock shall be appropriately increased so that the number of shares of Common
Stock issuable on conversion of each share of Series B Preferred Stock shall be decreased in proportion
to such decrease in outstanding shares.

(v) In case of any consolidation or merger of the Company with or into another corporation or the
conveyance of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company to another corporation, adequate
provision shall be made by the Company or by the successor or purchasing business entity so that each
share of Series B Preferred Stock shall thereafter be convertible into the number of shares of stock or
other securities or property tc which a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock deliverable upon
conversion of such Series B Preferred Stock immediately before the effectiveness of such consolidation,
merger or conveyance, would




have been entitled upon such consclidation, merger or conveyance; and, in any such case, appropriate
adjustment (as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company) shall be made in the application of
the provisions herein set forth with respect to changes in and other adjustment of the Conversion Price
of the Series B Preferred Stock) shall thereafter be applicable, as nearly as reasonably may be, in
relation to any shares of stock or other property thereafter deliverable upon the conversion of the
Series B Preferred Stock.

(f) Other Distributions. If the Company shall declare a distribution payable to holders of Common Stock
in securities of other persons, evidences of indebtedness issued by the Company or other persons, assets
(excluding cash dividends) or options or rights not referred to in Subsection 7(e) (iii), then, in each
such case for the purpose of this Subsection 7(f), the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock shall be
entitled to a proportionate share of any such distribution as though they were the holders of the number
of shares of Common Stock of the Company into which their shares of Series B Preferred Stock are
convertible as of the record date fixed for the determination of the holders of Common Stock of the
Company entitled to receive such distribution.

(g) Recapitalizations. If at any time or from time to time there shall be a recapitalization of the
Common Stock (other than a subdivision, combination, merger, sale of assets or other transaction
provided for elsewhere in this Section 7), provision shall be made sc that the holders of the Series B
Preferred Stock shall thereafter be entitled to receive upon conversion of the Series B Preferred Stock
the number of shares of stock or other securities or property of the Company or otherwise, to which a
holder of Common Stock deliverable upon conversion immediately before the effectiveness of such
recapitalization would have been entitled on such recapitalization. In any such case, appropriate
adjustment shall be made in the application of the provisions of this Section 7 with respect to the
rights of the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock after the recapitalization to the end that the
provisions of this Section 7 (including adjustment of the Conversion Price then in effect and the number
of shares purchasable upon conversion of the Series B Preferred Stock) shall be applicable after that
event as nearly equivalent as may be practicable.

(h) No Impairment. The Company will not, by amendment of its Certificate of Incorporation or through any
reorganization, recapitalization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, dissclution, issue or sale
of securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any
of the terms to be observed or performed hereunder by the Company, but will at all times in good faith
assist in the carrying out of all the provisions of this Section 7 and in the taking of all such action
as may be necessary or appropriate in order to protect the conversion rights of the holders of the
Series B Preferred Stock against impairment.

(i) Certificate as to Adjustments. Upon the occurrence of each adjustment or readjustment of the
Conversion Price of the Series B Preferred Stock pursuant to this Section 7, the Company, at its
expense, shall promptly compute such adjustment or readjustment in accordance with the terms hereof and
prepare and furnish to each holder of Series B Preferred Stock, by first class mail, postage prepaid, a
certificate setting forth such adjustment or readjustment and showing in detail the facts upon which
such adjustment or readjustment is
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based, including a statement setting forth (A) the consideration received or to be received by the
Company for any Additional Stock, (B) the Conversion Price then in effect, and (C) the number of shares
of Common Stock and the amount, if any, of other property which at the time would be received upon the
conversion of a share of the Series B Preferred Stock.

{j) Notices of Record Date. In the event of any taking by the Company of a record of the holders c¢f any
class of securities for the purpose of determining the holders thereof who are entitled to receive any
dividend (other than a cash dividend) or other distribution, any right to subscribe for, purchase or
otherwise acquire any shares of stock of any class or any other securities or property, or to receive
any other right, the Company shall mail to each holder of Series B Preferred Stock, at least 20 days
prior to the date specified therein, a notice specifying the date on which any such record is to be
taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution or right, and the amount and character of such
dividend, distribution or right.

(k) Notices. Any notice required by the provisions of this Section 7 to be given to the holder of shares
of Series B Preferred Stock shall be deemed given when personally delivered to such holder or five
business days after the same has been deposited in the United States mail, certified or registered mail,
return receipt requested, postage prepaid, and addressed to each holder cof record at his address
appearing on the books of the Company.

(1) Effect of Conversion After Certain Record Dates. If any shares of Series B Preferred Stock are
converted into shares of Common Stock after the record date for the happening of any of the events
described in subparagraphs (i), (ii) or (iii) of Section 7(e) but before the happening of such event the
Company may defer, until the happening of such event, (i) issuing to the holder of shares of Series B
Preferred Stock so converted the shares of Common Stock which he is entitled to receive because of the
adjustments required pursuant to any such subparagraph and (ii) paying to such holder any cash in lieu’
of a fractional share pursuant to this Section 7.

{m) Reservation of Stock Issuable on Conversion. Shares of Common Stock issued on conversion of shares
of Series B Preferred Stock shall be issued as fully paid shares and shall be nonassessable by the
Company. The Company shall, at all times, reserve and keep available for the purpose of effecting the
conversion of the outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock such number of its duly authorized
shares of Common Stock as shall be sufficient to effect the conversion of all of the outstanding shares
of Series B Preferred Stock.

Section 8. Approved Transactions. As used in Sections 3, 4, 6 and 7 of this Certificate, the term
"Approved Transaction" shall mean any transaction entered into by the Company which results in the
issuance of shares of the Company's capital stock (or securities convertible into or exchangeable or
exercisable for shares of capital stock) to a third party so long as such transacticon shall have been
approved or consented to, in either case in writing, by a majority of the holders of the outstanding
shares of Series B Preferred Stock. The approval of or consent to such transaction shall be deemed to
have been given by such holders of a majority of the Series B Preferred Stock if such holders shall have
received a Third Party Opinicn customary in form and substance that the transaction is fair to the
Company from a financial point of view not less
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than five business days prior to the closing of such transaction.
mean a fairness opinion addressed to the Company's Board c¢f Directors and the holders of a majority of
the Series B Preferred Stock from a nationally recognized investment banking firm selected by the

Company which selection shall be subject to the approval of the holders of a majority of the Series B
Preferred Stock.

The term "Third Party Opinion" shall

Section 2. Transfer Restrictions. The holder of

any shares of Series B Preferred Stock shall not
transfer cor purport to transfer any such shares

unless he shall have given to the Company, through its
Secretary, at least fifteen (15) business days' written notice of the proposed transfer, the number of
shares proposed to be transferred, the price at which the proposed transfer is to be made, and the name
of the prospective transferee. During such fifteen (15} business days, the Company shall have the sole
option to exercise its right of redemption consistent with the terms of Section 5 of this Certificate.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Comdial Corporation has caused this Certificate of Designation to be duly executed
by Nickolas A. Branica, its President, and attested to by Paul K. Suijk, its Secretary, and has caused
the corporate seal to be affixed hereto, this 6th day of March, 2002.

COMDIAL CORPORATION

By: /s/ Nickolas A. Branica

President

ATTEST:

/s/ Paul K. Suijk

Secretary

(Corporate Seal)

1037123v4
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REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

THIS REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is entered into this 6th day of March, 2002, by and
between COMDIAL CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Company'") and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., a
national banking association (the "Bank").

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Preferred Stock Investment Agreement dated on an even date herewith
(the "Investment Agreement") by and between the Company and the Bank, whereby among other things the
Bank is exchanging $10,000,000 of outstanding debt owed by the Company into shares of the Company's
Series B Alternate Rate Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock, par value $10.00 per share
(the "Preferred Stock").

WHEREAS, as a condition to their willingness to enter into the Investment Agreement, the Bank desires
that the Company grant certain registration rights with respect to the Common Stock which they may
acquire upon conversion of the Preferred Stock.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual premises and covenants herein contained, and other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Bank and
the Company hereby agree as follows:

1. Definitions.

As used herein:

{a) Bxchange Act. The term "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended.

{b) Holder. The term "Holder"” means the Bank and all other Persons holding Registrable Securities so
long as the Bank or such other Persons holds Registrable Securities.

(c) Registration. The terms "register," "registered," and "registration" refer to a registration
effected by preparing and filing a Registration Statement in compliance with the Securities Act, and the
declaration or ordering of the effectiveness of such Registration Statement.

(d) Person. The term "Person”" shall have the meaning set forth in Section
2(2) of the Securities Act.

(e) Preferred Stock. The term "Preferred Stock" shall have the meaning set
forth in the recitals above.

(f) Prospectus. The term "Prospectus" shall have the meaning set forth in
Section 2(10) of the Securities Act.

(g) Registrable Securities. The term "Registrable Securities” means (i) all shares of Common Stock
issued or issuable pursuant to the conversion of the Preferred Stock and (ii) any shares of the Common
Stock of the Company or other securities issued in connection with any stock




split, stock dividend, recapitalization or similar event relating to the foregoing; excluding in all
cases, however, any Registrable Securities sold to the public pursuant to an effective Registration
Statement or sold pursuant to Rule 144 (or successor provision) promulgated under the Securities Act.

(h) Registration Expenses. The term "Registration Expenses” shall mean any and all expenses incident to
the performance of or compliance by the Company with this Agreement, including without limitation: (i)
all SEC or National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc¢. (the "NASD") registration and filing fees,
including, if applicable, the fees and expenses of any "qualified independent underwriter'" (and its
counsel) that is required to be retained by any Holder of Registrable Securities in accordance with the
rules and regulations of the NASD, (ii) all fees and expenses incurred in connection with compliance
with state securities or blue sky laws (including reascnable fees and disbursements of one counsel for
any underwriters or Holder in connection with blue sky qualification of any of the Registrable
Securities) and compliance with the rules of the NASD, (iii) all expenses of any Persons in preparing or
assisting in preparing, word processing, printing and distributing any Registration Statement, any
Prospectus and any amendments or supplements theretc, and in preparing or assisting in preparing,
printing and distributing any underwriting agreements, securities sales agreements and other documents
relating to the performance of and compliance with this Agreement, (iv) all rating agency fees, (v) the
fees and disbursements of counsel for the Company and of the independent certified public accountants of
the Company, including the expenses of any "cold comfort" letters required by or incident to such
performance and compliance, (vi) the fees and expenses of any exchange agent or custodian, (vii) all
fees and expenses incurred in connection with the listing, if any, of any of the Registrable Securities
on any securities exchange or exchanges, (viii) the reasonable fees and expenses of any special experts
retained by the Company in connection with any Registration Statement, and (v) the reasonable fees and
expenses of one special legal counsel for Holder.

(i) Registration Statement. The term "Registration Statement" shall mean any Registration Statement of
the Company that covers any of the Registrable Securities pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement,
and all amendments and supplements to any such Registration Statement, including post-effective
amendments, in each case including the Prospectus contained therein, all exhibits thereto and all
material incorporated by reference therein.

(j) Securities Act. The term "Securities Act” means the Securities Act of
1933, as amended.

(k} SEC. The term "SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

2. Registration Rights.

(a) Demand Rights. If the Company receives written request from the Holder
of the Registrable Securities that the Company file a Registration Statement
covering the Registrable Securities, then the Company shall as soon as
practicable after receipt of such request file a Registration Statement for a
public offering of all Registrable Securities which the Holder requests to be
registered ({which offering may be an underwritten offering in the Company's sole
discretiecn) and use its best efforts to cause such Registration Statement to
become effective; provided that (i)




the Company shall only be required to file up to four (4) such Registration Statements (other than on
Form S$-3 below) pursuant to this section and (ii) the amount of Registrable Securities to be registered
shall be equal to or greater than the lesser of (A) 250,000 shares of Common Stock and (B) a number of
shares having an anticipated aggregate public offering price (before underwriting discounts and
commissions) of not less than $250,000.

(b) Piggyback Rights. If at any time or from time to time, the Company
shall determine to register any Common Stock for public sale under the
Securities Act (other than on a registration statement related to any employee
benefit plan, acgquisition or corporate reorganization or registration for
foreign issuance or distribution) the Company will: (a) promptly give to the
Holder written notice thereof (which shall include a list of the jurisdictions
in which the Company intends tc attempt to gualify its Common Stock under the
applicable blue sky or other state securities laws); and (b) use all i
commercially reasonable efforts to cause to be included in such registration
under the Securities Act (and any related qualification under blue sky laws or
other compliance) and in any underwriting involved therein on the same terms and
conditions as the other securities included in such registration, all the
Registrable Securities specified in a written request made within 30 days after
receipt of such written notice from the Company by the Holder; except that, if,
in connection with any offering, the managing underwriter (or, in case of an
offering that is not underwritten, a nationally recognized investment banking
firm) shall advise the Company in writing that there should be a limitation on
the number of shares of Common Stock which may be included in the Registration
Statement because, in its judgment, such limitation is necessary to effect an
orderly public distribution that would not materially and adversely affect the
offering price or market price of the Common Stock, then the Company shall be
only obligated to include in such Registration Statement that number of
Registrable Securities that is in excess of the number of shares of Common Stock
the Company proposes to sell under the Registration Statement. If the
registration is initiated by the Company for its own account, the Company shall
not be required to reduce the number of shares of Common Stock to be offered by
the Company in such Registraticn Statement for any reason.

(c) Form S-3. After the Company has qualified for the use of a
Registration Statement on Form S-3, in addition to the rights contained in
Section 2(a) above, the Holder shall have the right to request the Company use
its best efforts to effect a registration of the Registrable Securities on Form
S-3 (each such request to be in writing and to state the number of shares to be
disposed of and the intended methods of dispositicn):; provided, however, that
the amount of Registrable Securities to be registered shall be equal to or
greater than the lesser of (A) 250,000 shares of Common Stock and (B) a number
of shares having an anticipated aggregate public offering price (before
underwriting discounts and commissions) of not less than $250,000.

3. Effectiveness.

A Registration Statement pursuant to which any Registrable Securities are
being offered will not be deemed to have become effective unless it has been
declared effective by the SEC; provided, however, that if, after it has been
declared effective, the offering of the Registrable Securities pursuant to such
Registration Statement is interfered with by any stop order, injunction or other
order or requirement of the SEC or any other governmental agency or court, such
Registration Statement will be deemed not to have been effective during the
period of such interference, until the offering of Registrable Securities
pursuant to such Registration Statement may legally resume. The




Company will be deemed not to have used best efforts to cause the Registration Statement to become, or
to remain, effective during the requisite period if it voluntarily takes any action that would result in
any such Registration Statement not being declared effective or that weould result in the Holder not
being able to cffer and sell the Registrable Securities during that period unless such action is
required by applicable laws and regulations or currently prevailing interpretations of the staff of the
SEC. The Company shall use best efforts to maintain the effectiveness for up to 180 days (or such
shorter period of time as the underwriters need to complete the distribution of the registered ocffering)
of any Registration Statement pursuant to which any of the Registrable Securities are being offered, and
from time to time will amend or supplement such Registration Statement and the Prospectus contained
therein to the extent necessary to comply with the Securities Act and any applicable state securities
laws or regulations. The Company shall also provide the Holder with as many copies of the Prospectus
contained in any such Registration Statement as the Holder may reasonably request.

4. Expenses of Registration.

All Registration Expenses incurred in connection with any registration, gqualification or compliance
pursuant to this Agreement shall be borne by the Company. Except as provided herein, the Holder shall
pay all underwriters' fees, discounts or commissions or transfer taxes, if any, relating to the sale or
disposition of the Holder's Registrable Securities.

5. Registration Procedures.

In the case of each registration, qualification, or compliance effected by the Company pursuant to this
Agreement, the Company will keep the Holder advised in writing as to the initiation of each
registration, qualification and compliance and as tc the completion thereof. At its expense, the Company
will:

(a) Prepare and file with the SEC a Registration Statement with respect to such ‘Registrable Securities
as described in Section 2 and use its best efforts to cause such Registration Statement to become
effective and to remain effective in accordance with Section 3 (provided that before filing a
Registration Statement or Prospectus or any amendments or supplements thereto, the Company will furnish
to the counsel selected by the Helder copies of all such documents proposed to be filed, which documents
will be subject to the review of such counsel);

(b) Prepare and file with the SEC such amendments and supplements to such Registration Statement and the
Prospectus used in connection therewith as may be necessary to keep such Registration Statement
effective and current for a period of not less than 180 days (plus any period during which Holders must
refrain from selling pursuant to Section 5(f)) or such shorter period which will terminate when all
Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement have been sold, and comply with the
provisions of the Securities Act with respect to the disposition of all securities covered by such
Registration Statement during such pericd in accordance with the intended methods of disposition by the
sellers thereof as set forth in such Registration Statement:;

(c) Furnish to each selling Holder and to each managing underwriter, if any, (i} at least three (3)
business day prior to filing with the SEC, any Registration Statement covering shares of Registrable
Securities, and any amendment or supplement thereto, and any Prospectus, which




documents will be subject to the reasonable review of the selling Holders and such underwriter, and,
with respect to a Registration Statement prepared pursuant to Section 2(a), the Company shall not file
any such documents with the SEC to which selling Holder shall reasonably object; and (ii) a copy of any
and all transmittal letters or other correspondence with the SEC or any other governmental agency or
self-regulatory body or other body having jurisdiction (including any domestic or foreign securities
exchange) relating to such offering of shares of Registrable Securities;

(d) (i) Furnish to the Holder, and to each underwriter, if any, without charge, such number of copies of
such Registration Statement, each amendment and supplement thereto, the Prospectus included in such
Registration Statement (including each preliminary Prospectus), and such other documents as the Holder
or underwriters may reasonably request in order to facilitate the disposition of the Registrable
Securities owned by the Holder; and (ii) consent to the use of the Prospectus or any amendment or
supplement thereto by the Holder of Registrable Securities included in the Registration Statement in
connection with the offering and sale of the Registrable Securities covered by the Prospectus or any
amendment or supplement thereto:;

(e) Use its commercially reasonable best efforts to register or qualify
such Registrable Securities under all applicable securities or blue sky laws of
such jurisdictions of the United States by the time the applicable Registration
Statement is declared effective by the SEC as the Holder and any underwriters
reasonably request in writing and do any other related acts which may be
reasonably necessary or advisable to enable the Holder and underwriters to
consummate the disposition in such jurisdictions of the Registrable Securities;
provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to (i) qualify as a
foreign corporation or as a dealer in securities in any jurisdiction where it
would not otherwise be required to qualify but for this Section 5(e), (ii) file
any general consent to service of process in any jurisdiction where it would not
otherwise be subject to such service of process, or (iii) subject itself to
taxation in any such jurisdiction 1f it is not then so subject;

(f) Notify the Holder, its counsel, and the managing underwriters, if any, promptly, and promptly
confirm such notice in writing, (i) at any time when a Prospectus relating thereto is required to be
delivered under the Securities Act,. of the happening of any event as a result of which, or the fact
that, the Prospectus included in such Registration Statement contains an untrue statement of a material
fact or omits any fact necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and, at the reasonable
request of a majority of the Holders, the Company will prepare a supplement or amendment to such
Prospectus so that, as thereafter delivered to the purchasers of such Registrable Securities, such
Prospectus will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any fact necessary
to make the statements therein not misleading; (ii) when a Registratiocn Statement has become effective
and when any post-effective amendments and supplements thereto become effective, (iii) of any request by
the SEC or any state securities authority for amendments and supplements to a Registration Statement or
Prospectus or for additional information after the Registration Statement has become effective, (iv) of
the issuance by the SEC or any state securities authority of any stop order suspending the effectiveness
of a Registration Statement or the qualification of the Registrable Securities or the initiation of any
proceedings for that purpose, (v) if, between the effective date of a Registration Statement and the
closing of any sale of Registrable Securities covered thereby, the representations and warranties of the
Company contained in any purchase agreement, securities sales agreement or other similar agreement, if
any, cease to be true




and correct in all material respects, and (vi) the Company's reasonable determination that a post-
effective amendment to the Registration Statement would be appropriate;

(g) If applicable, use its best efforts to cause all such Registrable Securities to be listed or gquoted
on each securities exchange or interdealer guotation system on which similar securities issued by the
Company are then listed or quoted;

(h) Provide a transfer agent and registfar for all such Registrable
Securities not later than the effective date of such Registration Statement;

(i) Enter into such customary agreements {(including underwriting agreements on customary terms) and take
all such other actions as the selling Holders or the underwriters, if any, reasonably requests in order
to expedite or facilitate the disposition of such Registrable Securities;

{3) Obtain for delivery to the Company and the managing underwriters, if any, with copies to the Holders
of the Registrable Securities being registered, a comfort letter from the Company's independent public
accountants in customary form and covering such matters of the type customarily covered by comfort
letters as the Holders shall reasonably request, dated the effective date of the Registration Statement
and brought down to the closing; .

(k) If necessary, obtain a CUSIP number for the Registrable Securities not
later than the effective date of the Registration Statement; and

(1) Make available for inspection by the selling Holder, any underwriter participating in any
disposition pursuant to such Registration Statement and any attorney, accountant or any other agent
retained by the Holder or any such underwriter, all financial and other records, pertinent corporate
documents and properties of the Company, and cause the Company's officers, directors and employees to
supply all information reasonably reguested by the Holder, any such underwriter, attorney, accountant or
agent in connection with such Registration Statement.

(m) Cooperate with the Holder to facilitate the timely preparation and delivery of certificates
representing Registrable Securities to be sold and not bearing any restrictive legends and registered in
such names as the Holder or the underwriters may reasonably request at least two Business Days prior to
the closing of any sale of Registrable Securities pursuant to such Registration Statement;

(n) As expeditiously as possible, upon the occurrence of any circumstance contemplated by Section

S5(f) (1), S{f)(1ii), S5(£f){iv), or S{Ef) (v) hereof, use best efforts to prepare a supplement or post-
effective amendment to such Registration Statement or the related Prospectus or any document
incorporated therein by reference or file any other required document so that, as thereafter delivered
to the purchasers of the Registrable Securities, such Prospectus will not contain any untrue statement
of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and to notify the Holder to
suspend use of the Prospectus as promptly as practicable after the occurrence of such an event, and the
Holder hereby agrees to suspend use of the Prospectus until the Company has amended or supplemented the
Prospectus to correct such misstatement or omission;




{o) Cooperate with each seller of Registrable Securities covered by any Registration Statement and each
underwriter, if any, participating in the disposition of such Registrable Securities and their
respective counsel in connection with any filings required to be made with the NASD:

(p) Make "generally available to its security holders" (within the meaning of Rule 158 of the Securities
Act} an earnings statement satisfying the provisions of Section 11(a) of the Securities Act and Rule 158
thereunder no later than 45 days after the end of the 12-month period beginning with the first day of
the Company's first fiscal guarter commencing after the effective date of the Registration Statement,
which earnings statement shall cover said 12-month period; and

(q) Use best efforts to take all other steps necessary to effect the registration of the Registrable
Securities covered by a Registration Statement contemplated hereby.

6. Indemnification and Contribution.

(a) In connection with any Registration Statement, the Company shall indemnify and hold harmless the
Holder and each underwriter who participates in an offering of the Registrable Securities, each Person,
if any, who controls any of such parties within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or
Section 20 of the Exchange Act and each of their respective directors, officers, employees and agents,
as follows:

(i) from and against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and
expense whatsoever, joint or several, as incurred, arising out of any
untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained
in any Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto) covering
Registrable Securities, including all documents incorporated therein by
reference, or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material
fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements
therein not misleading or arising out of any untrue statement or alleged
untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Prospectus {or any
amendment or supplement thereto) or the omission or alleged omission
therefrom of a material fact necessary in order to make the statements
therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading;

(i1) from and against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and
expense whatsocever, joint or several, as incurred, to the extent of the
aggregate amount paid in settlement of any litigation, or any
investigation or proceeding by any court or governmental agency or body,
commenced or threatened, or of any claim whatsoever based upon any such
untrue statement or omission, or any such alleged untrue statement or
omission, if such settlement is effected with the prior written consent of
the Company; and

(iii) from and against any and all expenses whatscever, as incurred
{including reasconable fees and disbursements of counsel chosen by Holder
or any underwriter (except to the extent otherwise expressly provided in
Section 6(c) hereof)), incurred in investigating, preparing or defending
against any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any court or
governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim
whatsocever based upon any such untrue statement or omission, or any such
alleged untrue statement or




omission, to the extent that any such expense is not paid under
subparagraph (i) or (ii) of this Section 6(a);

provided, however, that (i) this indemnity does not apply to any loss,
liability, claim, damage or expense to the extent arising out of an untrue
statement or omission or alleged untrue statement or omission with respect to a
Holder made in reliance upon and in conformity with written information
furnished in writing to the Company by the Holder, or any underwriter with
respect to the Holder, or any underwriter, as the case may be, expressly for use
in a Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto) or any Prospectus (or any
amendment or supplement theretc) and (ii) the Company shall not be liable to the
Holder, any underwriter or controlling Person, with respect to any untrue
statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission in any
preliminary Prospectus to the extent that any such loss, liability, claim,
damage or expense of the Holder, any underwriter or controlling Person results
from the fact that the Holder or any underwriter, sold Registrable Securities to
a Person to whom there was not sent or given, at or prior to the written
confirmation of such sale, a copy of the final Prospectus as then amended or
supplemented if the Company had previously furnished copies thereof to the
Holder or any underwriter or controlling Person and the loss, liability, claim,
damage or expense of the Holder or underwriter, or controlling Person results
from an untrue statement or omission of a material fact contained in the
preliminary Prospectus which was corrected in the final Prospectus. Any amounts
advanced by the Company to an indemnified party pursuant to this Section 6 as a
result of such losses shall be returned to the Company if it shall be finally
determined by such a court in a judgment not subject to appeal or final review
that such indemnified party was not entitled to indemnification by the Company.

(b} It shall be a condition to the obligation of the Company to effect a registration of Registrable
Securities under the Securities Act pursuant hereto that each seller of Registrable Securities,
severally and not jointly, indemnifies and holds harmless the Company, any underwriter and each of their
respective directors, officers (including each officer of the Company who signed the Registration
Statement), employees and agents, any underwriter or any other selling Holder within the meaning of
Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act, from and against any and all loss,
liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever described in the indemnity contained in Section 6(a)
herecf, as incurred, but only with respect to untrue statements or omissions, or alleged untrue
statements or omissions, made in a Registration Statement or any Prospectus in reliance upon and in
conformity with written information furnished to the Company by such selling Holder with respect £o such
Holder expressly for use in such Registration Statement, or any such Prospectus; provided that the
liability of each seller-of Registrable Securities pursuant to this Section 6(b) shall not exceed an
amount equal to the net proceeds of the sale of Registrable Shares sold pursuant to such registration
statement that are received by or for the benefit of such seller of Registrable Securities.

(c) EBach indemnified party shall give prompt notice to each indemnifying party of any action commenced
against it in respect of which indemnity may be sought hereunder, enclosing a copy of all papers
properly served on such indemnified party, but failure to so notify an indemnifying party shall not
relieve such indemnifying party from any liability which it may have under this Section 6, except to the
extent that it is materially prejudiced by such failure. An indemnifying party may participate at its
own expense in the defense of such action, or, 1f it so elects within a reasonable time after receipt of
such notice, assume the defense of any suit brought to enforce any. such claim; but if it so elects to
assume the defense, such defense shall be conducted by




counsel chosen by it and appreved by the indemnified party or parties, which
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. In the event that an indemnifying
party elects to assume the defense of any such suit and retain such counsel, the
indemnified party or parties shall bear the fees and expenses of any additional
counsel thereafter retained by such indemnified party or parties; provided,

however, that the indemnified party or parties shall have the right to employ
counsel (in addition to local counsel) to represent the indemnified party or
parties who may be subject to liability arising out of any action in respect of
which indemnity may be sought against the indemnifying party if, in the
reasonable judgment of counsel for the indemnified party or parties, there may
be legal defenses available to such indemnified party or parties which are
different from or in addition to those available to the indemnifying party, in
which event the fees and expenses of appropriate separate counsel shall be borne
by the indemnifying party. In no event shall the indemnifying parties be liable
for the fees and expenses of more than one counsel (in addition to local
counsel}, separate from its own counsel, for all indemnified parties in
connection with any one action or separate but similar or related actions in the
same jurisdiction arising out of the same general allegations or circumstances.
No indemnifying party shall, without the prior written consent of the
indemnified parties, settle or compromise or consent to the entry of any
judgment with respect to any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by
any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim
whatsoever in respect of which indemnification or contributicon could be sought
under this Section 6 (whether or not the indemnified parties are actual or
potential parties thereto), unless such settlement, compromise or consent (i)
includes an unconditional release in form and substance satisfactory to the
indemnified parties of each indemnified party from ail liability arising out of
such litigation, investigation, proceeding or claim and (ii) does not include a
statement as to or an admission of fault, culpability or a failure to act by or
on behalf of any indemnified party.

(d) In order to provide for just and equitable contribution in circumstances under which any of the
indemnity provisions set forth in this Section 6 is for any reason held to be unavailable to the
indemnified parties although applicable in accordance with its terms, the Company and the Holder shall
contribute to the aggregate losses, liabilities, claims, damages and expenses of the nature contemplated
by such indemnity agreement incurred by the Company and the Holder, as incurred; provided, that no
Person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities
Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any Person that was not guilty of such fraudulent
misrepresentation. As between the Company and the Holder, such parties shall contribute to such
aggregate losses, liabilities, claims, damages and expenses of the nature contemplated by such indemnity
agreement in such proportion as shall be appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the Company, on
the one hand, and the Holder, on the other hand, with respect to the statements or omissions which
resulted-in such loss, liability, claim, damage or expense, or action in respect thereof, as well as any
other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of the Company, on the one hand, and of the
Holder, on the other hand, shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the untrue
or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a material
fact relates to information supplied by the Company, on the one hand, or by or on behalf of the Holder,
on the other, and the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to
correct or prevent such statement or omission. The Company and the Holder agree that it would not be
just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 6 were to be determined by pro rata
allocation or by any other method of allocation that does not take into account the relevant equitable
considerations. For purposes of this Section 6, each affiliate of the Holder, and each director,

officer, employee, agent and Person, if any, who controls a Holder or such affiliate within the meaning
of Section 15 of the Securities Act or




Section 20 of the Exchange Act shall have the same rights to contribution as the Holder, and each
director of the Company, each officer of the Company who signed the Registration Statement, and each
person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or
Section 20 of the Exchange Act shall have the same rights to contribution as the Company.

(e) The obligations of the Company and the Holders under this Section 6 shall survive the completion of
an offering of Registrable Securities pursuant to a Registration Statement. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, to the extent that the indemnification and contribution provisions contained in the
underwriting agreement executed in connection with such Registration Statement conflict with the
foregoing provisions, the provisions in such underwriting agreement shall contreol; provided that the
Company will use its reasonable best efforts to negotiate terms of indemnification that are reasonably
favorable to the various sellers pursuant thereto, as appropriate under the circumstances.

{f) The indemnity agreements contained herein shall be in addition to any other rights to
indemnification or contribution which any indemnified party may have pursuant to law or contract and
shall remain operative and in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made or omitted by
or on behalf of any indemnified party and shall survive the transfer of the Registrable Shares by any
such party.

(g) The indemnification and contribution required by this Sectiocn 6 shall be made by periodic payments
of the amount thereof during the course of the investigation or defense, as and when bills are received
or expense, loss, damage or liability is incurred.

7. Information by Holder.

The Holder of Registrable Securities included in any registration shall furnish to the Company such
written information regarding Holder and the distribution proposed by Holder as the Company may
reasonably request in writing and as shall be required in connection with any registration,
qualification, or compliance referred to in this paragraph. The Company hereby acknowledges and agrees
that, unless otherwise expressly agreed to in writing by a seller of Registrable Securities to the
contrary, for all purposes of this Agreement the only information furnished or to be furnished to the
Company for use in any such registration statement, preliminary, final or summary prospectus or
amendment or supplement thereto are statements specifically relating to (i) transactions between such
seller of Registrable Securities and its affiliates, as that term is defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act ("Affiliates"), on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand; (ii) the beneficial
ownership of shares of the Company's Common Stock by such seller of Registrable Securities and its
affiliates and (iii) the name and address of such seller of Registrable Securities. If any additional
information about such seller of Registrable Securities or the plan of distribution (other than for an
underwritten offering) is regquired by law to be disclosed in any such document, then such seller shall
not unreasonably withhold its agreement referred to in the immediately preceding sentence.

8. Postponement Rights.

The Company shall have the right to postpone the filing (or suspend the effectiveness) of any
Registration Statement for a period of not in excess of 60 days if (A) the Company would, in the
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opinion of its counsel, be required to disclose in such registration statement a material business
situation, transaction or negotiation affecting the Company not otherwise then required by law to be
publicly disclosed and (B) in the good faith judgment of the Board of Directors of the Company, such
disclosure would materially and adversely affect such business situation, transaction or negotiation;
provided that the Company will promptly deliver evidence of such determination by the Board of Directors
of the Company to each Holder which shall have reguested to Join in such registration pursuant to
Section 2; provided, further, that the aggregate number of days of postponements and suspensions
hereunder shall not exceed 60 days during any twelve (12) month period. The Company shall give prompt
notice to each Holder of the end of any delay period hereunder. If the Company shall give any notice of
postponement or suspension of any Registration Statement, the Company shall not, during the period of
such postponement or suspension, register any shares of the Company's Common Stock, other than pursuant
£o a registration statement on Form S~4 or S-8 (or an eguivalent registration form then in effect). If
the Company shall give any notice of postponement of the filing or suspension of the effectiveness of a
Registration Statement, the Company shall, at such time as the reason that caused such postponement or
suspension no longer exists (but in no event later than 60 days after the date of the postponement or
suspension), use its best efforts to effect the registration under the Securities Act of the Registrable
Securities covered by the postponed or suspended Registration Statement. If the Company shall postpone
or suspend the filing of any Registration Statement, the Holder or Holders who delivered the demand
pursuant to Section 2(a) shall have the right to withdraw the demand for such registration by giving
notice to the Company within 20 days of the notice of postponement or suspension. In the event that the
demand is withdrawn, such demand shall not be counted for purposes of determining the number of
registrations to which Holders are entitled hereunder.

9. Limitations on Subsequent Registration Rights.

Except in the case of an "Approved Transaction" as defined in Section 8 of the Company's Certificate of
Designation establishing the Preferred Stock, the Company shall not grant to any holder of securities of
the Company any registration rights which have a priority greater than or equal to those granted to
Holders of Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 2 without the prior written consent of the Holders
of at least a majority of the aggregate ocutstanding Registrable Securities, voting as a single group.

10. No Preferred Stock Registration Rights.

Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to impose on the Company any obligations or duties as to
the registration of the Preferred Stock; provided that holders of Preferred Stock shall be entitled to
1nitiate or participate in a registration pursuant to Section 2 with respect to shares of Common Stock
issuable upon conversion of shares of Preferred Stock, which shares of Preferred Stock shall be
converted into Common Stock on or before the date the Registration Statement is declared effective by
the SEC.

11. Lock-Up Agreement.

Holder hereby agrees, so long as such Holder holds at least five percent (5%) of the Company's
outstanding voting equity securities, that it shall not, to the extent requested by the
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managing underwriter of securities of the Company, sell or otherwise transfer or dispose of any
Registrable Securities or other shares of stock of the Company then owned by such Holder (other than to
donees, members or partners of the Holder who agree to be similarly bound) for up to 90 days following
the date of the final prospectus in connection with any registration statement of the Company filed
under the Securities Act; provided, however, that such agreement shall be applicable only to the
registration statements of the Company that cover securities to be sold on the Company's behalf to the
public in an underwritten offering but not to Registrable Securities sold pursuant to such registration
statement; provided, further, that each officer and director who own equity securities of the Company
also agrees to such restrictions. In addition, Holder agrees to execute an agreement, in the lead
underwriter's standard form, reflecting the foregoing at the time of the underwritten offering. The
provisions of this Section shall be binding upon any transferee or assignee of any Registrable
Securities, whether or not such persons are entitled to registration rights pursuant to this Agreement.

12. Rule 144 Reporting Obligations.

With a view to making available the benefits of certain rules and regulations of the Commission which
may at any time permit the sale of the Registrable Securities to the public without registration, after
such time as a public market exists for the Common Stock of the Company, the Company agrees to:

{a) Make and keep public information available, as those terms are understood and defined in Rule 144
under the Securities Act, at all times after the effective date of the first registraticn under the
Securities Act filed by the Company for an offering of its securities to the general public;

{b) Use its best efforts to file with the Commission in a timely manner, taking into account any
permitted extensions of filing deadlines, all reports and other documents required of the Company under
the Securities Act and the Exchange Act (at any time after it has become subject to such reporting
requirements); and

{c) So long as Holder owns any Registrable Securities, to furnish to the Holder forthwith upon request a
written statement by the Company as to its compliance with the reporting requirements of Rule 144 (at
any time after 90 days after the effective date of the first registration statement filed by the Company
for an offering of its securities to the general public), and of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act
(at any time after it has become subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act), a copy of
the most recent annual or quarterly report of the Company, and such other reports and documents of the
Company as Holder may reasonably request in availing itself of any rule or regulation of the Commission
allowing Holder to sell any such securities without registration (at any time after the Company has
become subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act).

13. Legends.

Holder understands that the share certificates evidencing any Registrable Securities shall be endorsed
with the following legends (in addition to any legends required under applicable state securities laws):
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(a) "THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933. THEY MAY NOT BE SOLD,
OFFERED FOR SALE, PLEDGED OR HYPOTHECATED IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT AS TO
THE SECURITIES UNDER SAID ACT OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL SATISFACTORY TO THE CORPORATION THAT SUCH
REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED."

(by "THE SALE, TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT OF THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO
THE TERMS OF AN INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT AND A STOCKHCOLDER AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND THE
REGISTERED HOLDER OR HIS PREDECESSOR IN INTEREST. COPIES OF SUCH AGREEMENTS MAY BE OBTAINED BY WRITTEN
REQUEST MADE BY THE HOLDER OF RECORD OF THIS CERTIFICATE TO THE SECRETARY OF THE COMPANY."

(c) Any legend reguired to be placed thereon by any other applicable
state securities laws and any other agreement between the parties hereto.

14, Specific Performance.

The parties agree that irreparable damage will result in the event that the obligations of the Company
under this Agreement are not specifically enforced, and that any damages available at law for a breach
of any such obligations would be inadequate. Therefcre, the Holders of the Registrable Securities shall
have the right to specific performance by the Company of the provisions of this Agreement, and
appropriate injunctive relief may be applied for and granted in connection therewith. The Company hereby
irrevocably waives, to the extent that it may do so under applicable law, any defense based on the
adequacy of a remedy at law which may be asserted as a bar to the remedy of specific performance in any
action brought against the Company for specific performance of this Agreement by the Holders of
Registrable Securities. Such remedies and all other remedies provided for in this Agreement shall,
however, be cumulative and not exclusive and shall be in addition to any other remedies which may be
available under this Agreement.

15. Termination of Obligations.

The right of Holder to reguest registration or inclusion in any registration pursuant te Section 2
hereof shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the date on which the Holders, collectively, cease to own
Registrable Securities representing at least one percent (1%) of the outstanding Common Stock and (ii)
seven years from the date of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the rights, duties and
obligations of the Company and the Holders under Section 6 shall survive the termination of this
Agreement.

16. Assignability.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
respective heirs, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.
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17. Changes in Capital Stock.

If, and as often as, there is any change in the Common Stock by way of a stock split, stock dividend,
combination or reclassification, or through a merger, consolidation, reorganization or recapitalization,
or by any other means, appropriate adjustment shall be made in the provisions hereof so that the rights
and privileges granted hereby shall continue with respect to the shares as so changed.

18. Governing Law.

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of
Virginia, without regard to the conflict of laws provisions thereof.

19. Amendment.

Any modification, amendment or waiver of this Agreement or any provision hereof shall be in writing
executed by the Holders of a majority of the then outstanding Registrable Securities and the Company.
The Company shall provide. prompt notice of any such medification, amendment or waiver to all Holders of
the then outstanding Registrable Securities. Any amendment effected in accordance with this Section 18
shall be binding upon the Company, the Bank, and each other Holder of Registrable Securities.

20. Severability.

In the event that any one or more of the provisions contained herein, or the application thereof in any
circumstance, is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the wvalidity, legality and enforceability of
any such provision in every other respect and of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not be
affected or impaired thereby.

21. Successors and Assigns.

This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the successors, assigns and transferees
of the Bank, including, without limitation and without the need for an express assignment, subsequent
Holders. If any transferee of Holder shall acquire Registrable Securities, in any manner, whether by
operation of law or otherwise, such Registrable Securities shall be held subject to all of the terms of
this Agreement, and by taking and holding such Registrable Securities, such Person shall be conclusively
deemed to have agreed to be bound by and to perform all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement
and such Person shall be entitled to receive the benefits hereof.

22. Notices.

Any notice required or permitted to be given to a party pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement
will be in writing and will be effective on (i) the date of delivery by facsimile, or (ii) the business
day after deposit with a nationally-recognized courier or overnight service, including Express Mail, for
United States deliveries or (iii) five (5) business days after deposit in the United States mail by
registered or certified mail for United States deliveries. All notices not delivered
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personally or by facsimile will be sent with postage and other charges prepaid and properly addressed to
the party to be notified at the address set forth below such party's signature on this Agreement or at
such other address as such party may designate by five (5) days advance written notice to the other
parties hereto. All notices for delivery outside the United States will be sent by facsimile, or by
nationally recognized courier or overnight service. Any notice given hereunder to more than one person
will be deemed to have been given, for purposes of counting time periods hereunder, on the date given to
the last party required to be given such notice. Notices to the Company will be marked to the attention
of the Chief Financial Officer.

23. Attorneys' Fees.

If any action at law or in equity is necessary to enforce or interpret the terms of this Agreement, the
prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and necessary disbursements in
addition to any other relief to which such party may be entitled.

24. Entire Agreement.

This Agreement and the other writings referred to herein contain the entire understandings among the
parties with respect to its subject matter. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements and
understandings among the parties with respect to its subject matter.

25. Headings.

The headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and
shall not limit or otherwise affect the meaning hereof.

26. Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but
all of which together shall constitute one instrument.

27. Further Assurances.

From and after the date of this Agreement, upon the request of a party, the other parties shall execute
and deliver such instruments, documents or other writings as may be reasonably necessary or desirable to
confirm and carry out and to effectuate fully the intent and purposes of this Agreement.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Holder and the Company have executed
this Agreement on the day and year first above written.

COMPANY: COMDIAL CORPORATION

By: /s/ Paul K. Suijk

Name: Paul K. Suijk

Title: Senior Vice President/Chief Financial Officer

HOLDER: BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.

By: /s/ Daniel Langelier

Title: Senior Vice President

#1038873 (Richmond)
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PREFERRED STOCK INVESTMENT AGREEMENT

THIS PREFERRED STOCK INVESTMENT AGREEMENT is made as of this 6th day of March, 2002, by and between
COMDIAL CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation with an office at 106 Cattlemen Road, Sarasota, Florida .
34232 (the "Company"), and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., a national banking association with an office at 100
N. Tampa Street, Suite 1700, Tampa, Florida 33602 (the “Bank").

RECITALS

A. The Company and the Bank are parties to a Forbearance Agreement dated as of January 28, 2002,
pursuant to which the Bank agreed to forbear from the exercise of certain of its rights and remedies
under certain Loan Documents for a period of time to provide for discussions regarding the restructuring
of the Indebtedness.

B. The Bank has agreed to restructure the Indebtedness on the condition that the Company, among other
things, exchanges an amount of the Indebtedness equaling $10,000,000 in return for equity issued by the
Company in the form of preferred stock.

C. Therefore, the Company has agreed to issue to the Bank, in consideration of the exchange of
$10,000,000 of the Indebtedness, an aggregate of 1,000,000 shares of the Company's Series B Preferred
Stock, on the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Registration Rights Agreement of even
date herewith between the Bank and the Company. The execution of this Agreement and the Registration
Rights Agreement is a condition to the First Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the mutual
promises hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

"144a Information” shall mean all information required by Rule
144A(d) (4) (1) of the rules and regulations promulgated under the Securities Act.

"Accredited Investor" shall have the meaning as such term is defined in
Regulation D under the Securities Act.

"Aaffiliate” shall be as defined in Rule 12b-2 promulgated under the
Exchange Act.

"Agreement” shall mean the Preferred Stock Investment Agreement made as of the 6th day of March, 2002,
by and between Comdial Corporation and Bank of America, N.A.




"approved Stock Option Plan" shall mean (i) any stock option plan, stock purchase plan or other stock-
based incentive plan as such plan existed at the date of this Agreement or (ii) any stock option plan,
stock purchase plan or stock based-incentive plan (or amendments to such plans) approved by the Board of
Directors or the stockholders of the Company.

"Bank" shall mean Bank of America, N.A., a national banking association
with an office at 100 N. Tampa Street, Suite 1700, Tampa, Florida 33602.

"Certificate" shall mean that Certificate of Designation of Series B Alternate Rate Cumulative
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock of the Company dated as of March 6, 2002.

"Commission” shall mean the United States Securities Exchange Commission.

“Common Stock" shall mean the Bank's Common Stock, par value $.01 per
Share.

"Company" shall mean Comdial Corporation, a Delaware corporation with an
office at 106 Cattlemen Recad, Sarasota, Florida 34232.

"Converted Common Stock" shall mean the Common Stock of the Company
issuable or issued upon the conversion cof shares of Series B Preferred Stock.

"Convertible Securities"” shall mean any evidence of indebtedness, shares of capital stcck (other than
Common Stock) or other securities directly or indirectly convertible into or exchangeable for shares of
Common Stock.

"Credit Agreement"” shall mean the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of November 22, 2000,
between the Bank and the Company, as now or hereafter amended.

“Dividended Common Stock" shall mean that Common Stock paid by the Company
pursuant to Section 2(b) of the Certificate.

"Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

"First Amendment" shall mean the First Amendment to Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement of even date herewith between the Bank and the Company.

"Forbearance Agreement"” shall mean the Forbearance Agreement dated as of
January 28, 2002, between the Bank and the Company.

"Indebtedness” shall have the meaning set forth in the Forbearance
Agreement.

“Loan Documents"” shall have the meaning set forth in the Credit Agreement.




"PORTAL" shall mean the National Asscciation of Securities Dealers, Inc.
system for Private Offerings Resales and Trading through Automated Linkages.

"Proposed Offering Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.1
of the Agreement.

"Pro Rata Share” shall mean, as of a specified date, the percentage egual to the fraction, the numerator
of which is the number of shares of Common Stock held by the Bank or issuable upon the conversion of
Series B Preferred Stock held by the Bank as of such date, and the denominater of which is the sum of
{1) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding as of such date, plus (ii) the number of shares of
Common Stock issuable upon the exercise or cenversion, as applicable, of any convertible securities
outstanding as of such date (but only to the extent such convertible securities are exercisable or
convertible as of such date).

"Registration Rights Agreement"” shall mean the Registration Rights
Agreement of even date herewith between the Bank and the Company.

"Securities Act" shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“"Series B Preferred Stock" shall mean the Company's Series B Alternate Rate Cumulative Convertible
Redeemable Preferred Stock, par value $10.00 per share.

“"Shares" shall mean any shares of, or securities convertible into or
exercisable for any shares of, any class of the Company's capital stock.

“Transaction Documents" shall mean this Agreement, the Registration Rights Agreement and the First
Amendment, each of even date herewith between the Bank and the Company.

ARTICLE 2
ISSUANCE AND DELIVERY OF SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK

Agreement, the Company, in consideraticn for the Bank's agreement to.exchange
$10,000,000 of the Indebtedness of the Company to the Bank as provided for in
the First Amendment, shall issue to the Bank 1,000,000 shares of the Company's
Series B Preferred Stock having the rights, restrictions, privileges and
preferences set forth in the Certificate and as contained in this Agreement and
the other Transaction Documents.

2.2 Delivery of Certificates. Subject to the execution and delivery of the

forth in Section 33 of the First Amendment, the Company agrees to deliver to the
Bank promptly following such execution and delivery of one or more certificates
duly registered in the name of the Bank or




such nominee as the Bank may have selected, and bearing a legend as contemplated

by Article 4, Section (g) below.

ARTICLE 3
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company hereby represents and warrants to the Bank (which representations and warranties shall
survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement):

3.1 Authorization. All corporate action on the part of the Company, 1its
officers, directors and shareholders necessary for the authorization, execution
and delivery of this Agreement and all other agreements contemplated hereby to
which the Company is a party, including the Transaction Documents, the .
performance of all obligaticns of the Company hereunder and thereunder, the .
adoption of the Certificate and the authorization, sale and issuance (or |
reservation for issuance) of the Series B Preferred Stock and the shares of the
Converted Common Stock, has been taken. This Agreement has been validly executed
and delivered by the Company and is a valid and binding agreement of the
Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms.

3.2 vValid Issuance of Preferred and Common Stock. The shares of Series B
Preferred Stock, when issued and delivered in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement for the consideration expressed herein, will be duly and validly
issued, fully paid and nonassessable and will be free of restrictions on
transfer, other than restrictions on transfer contemplated by this Agreement and
the other Transaction Documents and under applicable state and federal
securities laws. The shares of Converted Common Stock and Dividended Common
Stock have been duly and validly reserved for issuance and, upon issuance in
accordance with the terms of the Certificate, will be duly and validly issued,
fully paid and nonassessable and will be free of restrictions on transfer, other
than restrictions on transfer contemplated by this Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents and under applicable state and federal securities laws.

3.3 Private Placement Exemption. The offer, sale and issuance of the
shares of Series B Preferred Stock contemplated by this Agreement and the
Transaction Documents are intended to be exempt from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Section 4(2) thereof and under
any applicable blue sky laws. Neither the Company nor any authorized agent
acting on its behalf will take any action hereafter that would cause the loss of
such exemptions.

3.4 Incorporation of Other Representations and Warranties. The
representations and warranties of the Company set forth in Section 32 of the
First Amendment are incorporated by reference into this Agreement with the same
force and effect as 1f such representations and warranties were set forth
verbatim herein.

ARTICLE 4
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE BANK

The Bank hereby represents and warrants to the Company as of the date hereof
that:




(a) This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and
delivered by the Bank and is a valid and binding agreement of the
Bank enforceable in accordance with its terms.

(b) The Bank understands that the offer and sale of the Series B
Preferred Stock is intended to be exempt from registration under the
Securities Act pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and
any applicable state securities or blue sky laws. (c) The Series B
Preferred Stock to be acgquired by the Bank pursuant to this
Agreement is being acquired for its own account and not with a view
to the resale or distribution of such Series B Preferred Stock or
any interest therein other than in a transaction registered under or
exempt from registration under the Securities Act.

(d) The Bank is an "Accredited Investor" as such term is defined in
Regulation D under the Securities Act.

(e) The Bank has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and
business matters so as to be capable of evaluating the merits and
risks of its investment in the Series B Preferred Stock and the Bank
is capable of bearing the economic risks of such investment,
including a complete loss of its investment in the Series B
Preferred Stock. The Bank understands that the Bank's investment in
the Series B Preferred Stock involves a high degree of risk.

(£) The Bank has had access to the Company's annual report on Form 10-K
for its most recent completed fiscal year, and all other reports or
documents filed by the Company pursuant to the Exchange Act most
recent completed fiscal year as well as all other materials relating
to the current business, operations and financial condition of the
Company, and has been given the opportunity to ask questions of, and
receive satisfactory answers from, the Company concerning the terms
and conditions of the Series B Preferred Stock and other related
matters. To the Bank's knowledge, the Company has made available to
the Bank or its agents all documents and information relating to an
investment in the Series B .Preferred Stock requested by or on behalf
of the Bank.

(g} The Bank understands that the Series B Preferred Stock has not been
and, except as provided for in the Registration Rights Agreement,
are not being registered under the Securities Act or any state
securities laws, and may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise
transferred except as permitted pursuant to this Agreement or the
Registration Rights Agreement.

(h) The Bank understands that the certificate(s) representing the Series
B Preferred Stock and the Converted Common Stock shall bear a
restrictive legend substantially in the form set forth in the
Registration Rights Agreement and that the Company may instruct its
transfer agent to not to effect the transfer of the legended
securities unless the conditions specified in the legends are
satisfied.




ARTICLE 5
PREEMPTIVE RIGHTS

this Article 5, the Company hereby grants to the Bank a right of purchase with
respect to any future issuance or sale by the Company of its Shares. At any time
the Company proposes to offer or sell any Shares, the Company shall first offer
the Bank the right to acquire Shares in accordance with the following

provisions:

(a) The Company shall deliver a Proposed Offering Notice to the Bank
stating (i) its bona fide intention to offer such Shares, (ii} the
number of such Shares to be offered and (iii) the price and other
terms, if any, upon which it proposes to offer such Shares.

(b) Within five (5) business days after delivery of the Proposed

Offering Notice, the Bank may elect, by delivering written notice to
the Company, to purchase or acquire, at the price and on the other
terms specified in the Proposed Offering Notice, up to an amount of
Shares equal to the Bank's Pro Rata Share of the total number of
Shares being offered by the Company such that, if the Bank exercised
its right to purchase under this Section 5.1 in full, its Pro Rata
Share of the newly issued Shares would not have changed from its Pro
Rata Share prior to such issuance. Any purchase of Shares by the
Bank shall close at the same time and upon the same general
conditions imposed by the Company on the sale of Shares to all other
parties.

5.2 Exceptions. Section 5.1 above shall not apply to: (i) the issuance or sale of any equity security by
the Company pursuant to a bona fide public offering registered under the Securities Act; (ii) the
issuance or sale of Common Stock or Convertible Securities pursuant to an Approved Stock Option Plan;
{iii) the issuance of securities in connection with a bona fide business acquisition of the Company,
whether by merger, consolidation, sale of assets, sale or exchange of stock or otherwise; (iv) the
issuance of Converted Common Stock upon cenversion of the Series B Preferred Stock; (v) to stock splits,
stock dividends or like transacticns; or (vi) the issuance of securities in connection with the
Company's restructuring plan.

ARTICLE 6
ASSIGNMENT AND AMENDMENT

6.1 Transfers; Third Party Beneficiaries. If any transferee of the Bank
shall acquire shares of Series B Preferred Stock or Converted Common Stock
representing at least 10% of the shares held by the Bank upon consummation of
the matters contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents
in any manner, whether by operation of law or otherwise, other than pursuant to
(1) a purchase of Converted Common Stock from the Bank in a public registered
offering made pursuant to a registration statement filed by the Company and
declared effective under the Securities Act: or (ii) from the Bank in a sale of
Converted Common Stock by the Bank pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities
Act, such shares of Series B Preferred Stock and Converted Common Stock shall be
held subject to all of the terms of this Agreement, and by taking and holding
such shares such transferee shall be entitled to receive the benefits of this




Agreement and shall be conclusively deemed to have agreed to be bound by and to
perform all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement.

6.2 Amendment. Any provision of this Agreement may be amended (either
generally or in a particular instance and either retroactively or
prospectively), only with the written consent of the Bank (or any of its
permitted successors or assigns) holding the majority of issued and outstanding
shares of Series B Preferred Stock or the eguivalent number (on an as-converted
basis) of shares of Converted Common Stock. Any amendment effected in accordance
with this Section 6.2 shall be binding upon the Company, the Bank, and each
permitted successor or assignee.

ARTICLE 7
COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY

(a) After the date hereof, the Bank shall be entitled to (i) receive all
information made available to shareholders of the Company at the
same time as such materials are distributed to its shareholders,

(ii) meet on a quarterly basis with members of senior management at
reasonable times and places, and (iii) have reascnable access to the
Company's outside auditors, in each such case, for so long as the
Bank and any of its affiliates beneficially own shares of the Series
B Preferred Stock and/or shares of Converted Common Stock
representing at least 50% of the shares held by the Bank upon
consummation of the matters contemplated by this Agreement and the
other Transaction Documents.

(b) The Bank agrees that any nonpublic information furnished to the Bank
pursuant to this Section 7.1 shall be deemed confidential
information and shall not be used by it as the basis for any market
transactions in the securities of the Company unless and until such
information is made generally available to the public..The Bank
further agrees that it will, upon learning that disclosure of such
information is sought by a court of competent jurisdiction, give
notice to the Company and allow the Company, at its expense, to
undertake appropriate action to prevent disclosure of the
information deemed confidential.

7.2 Reservation of Shares of Common Stock. For so long as any c¢f the

reserved for issuance a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock to satisfy
its conversion obligations under the Certificate.

7.3 Bylaws. The Company shall at all times cause its Bylaws to provide
that, {a) unless otherwise required by the laws of the State of Delaware, the
holders of at least fifty percent (50%) of the issued and outstanding shares of
Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitled to call a special meeting of the
Board of Directors or stockholders cf the Company and (b) the number of
directors fixed in accordance therewith shall in no event conflict with any of
the terms or provisions of the Series B Preferred Stock as set forth in the
Certificate. The Company shall at




all times maintain provisions in its Bylaws or Certificate of Incorporation indemnifying all directors
against liability and absolving all directors from liability to the Company and its stockholders to the
maximum extent permitted under the laws of the State of Delaware.

7.4 Exchange Act Reports. The Company covenants and agrees that,
commencing on the date of this Agreement, and for so long as the Bank holds any
shares of Series B Preferred Stock and/or shares of Converted Common Stock of
the Company, the Company will prepare and file with the Commission on a timely
basis all documents or amendments required under the Exchange Act and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder. The Company
further covenants and agrees that it will provide the Bank a copy of each such
filing immediately following its filing, and as many additional copies as the
Bank shall reasonably request.

7.5 Additional Financial Information. At all times, if any, during which
the Company is not subject to the reporting reguirements cof Section 13 or 15(d)
of the Exchange Act and the Bank holds any shares of Series B Preferred Stock
and/or shares of the Converted Common Stock, the Company will:

(a) Annual Reports. Furnish to the BRank, as soon as practicable, and in
any event within ninety (20) days after the end of each fiscal year of the
Company, a Balance Sheet as of the end of such fiscal year, a Statement of
Income and a Statement of Cash Flows of the Company for such year, setting forth
in each case in comparative form the figures from the Company's previous fiscal
year (if any), all prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles and audited by an independent certified public accounting firm
suitable to the Bank;

(b) Quarterly Reports. Furnish to the Bank as soon as practicable, and in
any case within thirty (30) days of the end of each fiscal quarter of the
Company (except the last quarter of the Company's fiscal year), quarterly and
year-to-date unaudited financial statements, including an unaudited Balance
Sheet, an unaudited Statement of Income and an unaudited Statement of Cash
Flows, together with a comparison to the Company's operating plan and budget and
statements of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief
Accounting Officer or Controller of the Company explaining any significant
differences in the statements from the Company's operating plan and budget for
the quarter covered and stating that such statements fairly present the
financial position and financial results of the Company for the guarter covered.

(c) Confidentiality. The Bank agrees to hold all information received
pursuant to this Section 7.5 in confidence, and not to use or disclose any of
such information to any third party, except to the extent such information may
be made publicly available by the Company; provided, however, that the Bank may,
in the ordinary course of business, provide the financial results of the Company
to third parties in the same manner such information is provided by the Bank
with respect to their portfolio companies; provided, further, however, that the
Bank shall obtain the prior written consent cf the Company before making any
such disclosure, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.




(d) Other Information. The Company shall provide such other financial data

and operational information as may reasonably be requested by the Bank.

7.6 Rule 144A Information, PORTAL. At all times during which the Company
is neither subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act, nor exempt from reporting pursuant to Rule 12¢g3-2(b) under the
Exchange Act, the Company covenants and agrees that it will provide in written
form, upon the written request of the Bank, or a prospective purchaser of
securities of the Company from the Bank, all information required by Rule
144A(d) (4} (1) of the rules and regulations promulgated under the Securities Act.
The Company further agrees, upon written request, to cooperate with and assist
the Bank and any member of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.
system for Private Offerings Resales and Trading through Automated Linkages
("PORTAL") in applying to designate and thereafter maintaining the eligibility
of the Company's securities for trading through PORTAL. With respect to each,
the Company's obligations under this Section 7.6 shall at all times be
contingent upon the Bank's obtaining from a prospective purchaser an agreement,
in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company, to use its
commercially reasonable efforts to safeguard the 144A Information from
disclosure to anyone other than employees of the prospective purchaser who
require access to the 144A Information for the sole purpose of evaluating its
purchase of the Company's securities.

7.7 Rule 144 Reporting. To make available the benefits of certain rules
and regulations of the Commission permitting the sale of the Series. B Preferred
Stock or the Converted Common Stock to the public without registraticn with the
Commission, the Company agrees that for so long as its Common Stock shall be
registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act, it will:

(a) make and keep public information available, as those terms are
understood and defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act;

(b) use its best efforts to file with the Commission in a timely manner all reports and other documents
required of the Company under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act; and

(c) so long as the Bank or any permitted transferee or assignee holds any Series B Preferred Stock or
the Converted Common Stock, furnish to the holder forthwith upon request a written statement by the
Company as to its compliance with the reporting requirements of said Rule 144, a copy of the most recent
annual or quarterly report of the Company, and such other reports and documents of the Company as a
holder may reasonably request in availing itself of any rule or regulation of the Commission allowing a
holder to sell any such securities without registration (at any time after the Company has become
subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act).

ARTICLE 8
GENERAL PROVISIONS

8.1 Notices. Any notice, request or other communication reguired or

permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly
given if persocnally delivered




or if deposited in the U.S. mail by registered or certified mail, return receipt
requested, postage prepaid, as follows:

(a) if to the Bank, at: Bank of America, N.A.
100 N. Tampa Street
Suite 1700
Tampa, Florida 33602
Attention: Daniel Langelier

with a copy to: Troutman Sanders LLP
(which shall not constitute 1111 East Main Street
notice hereunder) P.O. Box 1122

Richmond, Virginia 23218-1122
Attention: Thomas E. duB. Fauls, Esquire

(b) 1if to the Company, at: Cemdial Corporation
106 Cattlemen Road
Sarasota, Florida 34232
Attention: Paul K. Suijk

with a copy to: Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP
{which shall not constitute 101 E. Kennedy Boulevard, Suite 2800
notice hereunder) Tampa, Florida 33602

Attention: Darrell C. Smith, Esquire

Any party hereto {(and such party's permitted assigns) may by notice so given change its address for
future notices hereunder. Notice shall conclusively be deemed to have been given when personally
delivered or when deposited in the mail in the manner set forth above.

8.2 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the other Transaction
Documents, constitutes and contains the entire agreement and understanding of
the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes any and all
prior negotiations, correspondence, agreements, understandings, duties or
obligations between the parties respecting the subject matter hereof.

8.3 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by a construed
exclusively in accordance with the internal laws of the Commonwealth of
virginia, excluding that body of law relating to conflict of laws and cheice of
law. )

8.4 Severability. If one or more provisions of this Agreement are held to
be unenforceable under applicable law, then such provision(s) shall be excluded
from this Agreement and the balance of this Agreement shall be interpreted as if
such provision(s) were so excluded and shall be enforceable in accordance with
its terms.
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8.5 Third Parties. Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is
intended to confer upon any person, other than the parties hereto and their
successors and assigns, any rights or remedies under or by reason of this
Agreement.

8.6 Successors and Assigns. Subject to the provisions of Section 6.1,
provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and shall be binding
upon, the successors and permitted assigns of the parties hereto.

8.7 Captions. The captions to sections of this Agreement have been
inserted for identification and reference purposes only and shall not be used to
construe or interpret this Agreement.

8.8 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two counterparts, each
of which shall be deemed an original, but both of which together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.

8.9 Costs and Attorneys' Fees. In the event that any action, suit or other
proceeding is instituted concerning or arising out of this Agreement or any
transaction contemplated hereunder, the prevailing party shall recover all of
such party's costs and attorneys' fees incurred in each such action, suit or
other proceeding, including any and all appeals or petitions therefrom.

8.10 Adjustments for Stock Splits, Etc. Wherever in this Agreement there
is a reference to a specific number of shares of Common Stock or Series B
Preferred Stock of the Company of any class or series, then, upon the occurrence
of any subdivision, combination or stock dividend of such class or series of
stock, the specific number of shares so referenced in this Agreement shall
automatically be proporticnally adjusted to reflect the affect on the
outstanding shares of such class or series of stock by such subdivision,
combination or stock dividend.

8.11 Aggregation of Stock. All shares held or acquired by affiliated

entities or persons shall be aggregated together for the purpose of determining
the availability of any rights under this Agreement.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Investor Rights
Agreement as of the date and year first above written.

THE COMPANY:

COMDIAL CORPORATION
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Paul K. Suijk

Title: Senior Vice President/Chief Financial Officer

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
a national banking association

By: /s/ Daniel Langelier

Name: Daniel Langelier

Title: Senior Vice President

#1037120v4
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Exhibit 21

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The following are the subsidiaries of the Registrant and all are incorporated in
the State of Delaware, except as otherwise indicated:

Array Telecom Corporation

Aurcora Systems, Inc.

Comdial Business Communications Corporation

Comdial Enterprises Systems, Inc.

Comdial Real Estate Co., Inc. (incorporated in the State of Maryland)
Comdial Telecommunications International, Inc.

Key Voice Technologies, Inc.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Certified Public Accountants

We consent tc the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form $-8 Nos. 33-53562 and
33-50124) pertaining to the 1992 Stock Incentive Plan and Comdial Corporation 401 (k) Plan, respectively,
of our report dated March 18, 2002, with respect to the consclidated financial statements and schedule

of Comdial Corporation included in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31,

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Tampa, Florida
March 28, 2002

2001.




Exhibit 23.2

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 33- 53562 and No. 333-50124
of Comdial Corporation on Form $-8 of our report dated April 10, 2001 appearing in the Annual Report on
Form 10-K of Comdial Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2001.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Richmond, Virginia
March 29, 2002




Exhibit 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY

I, Robert P. Collins, a duly elected Director of COMDIAL CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation, do hereby
constitute and appoint Paul K. Suijk, Ralph R. Dyer, and Carla K. Luke, or any of them, my true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact, each with full power of substitution, for me and in my name, place and stead,
in any and all capacities (including without limitation, as Director of Comdial), to sign Comdial's
annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, which is to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, with all exhibits thereto, and any and all documents in connection
therewith, hereby granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority tec de and
perform any and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done, and hereby ratifying and
confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent may do or cause to be done by virtue herecf. This
power of attorney shall not terminate upon my disability.

Dated: 03/27/02

/s/ Robert P. Collins
Robert P. Collins




Exhibit 24

POWER OF ATTORNEY

I, Nickolas A. Branica, a duly elected Director of CCOMDIAL CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation, do
hereby constitute and appoint Paul K. Suijk, Ralph R. Dyer, and Carla K. Luke, or any of them, my true
and lawful attorneys-in-fact, each with full power of substitution, for me and in my name, place and
stead, in any and all capacities (including without limitation, as Director of Comdial), to sign
Comdial's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, which is to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, with all exhibits thereto, and any and all documents in connection
therewith, hereby granting unto said attorney~in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and
perform any and all acts and. things requisite and necessary to be done, and hereby ratifying and
confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent may do or cause to be done by virtue herecf. This
power of attorney shall not terminate upon my disability.

Dated: 03/27/02

/s/ Nickolas A. Branica
Nickolas A. Branica




Exhibit 24

POWER OF ATTORNEY

I, David P. Berg, a duly elected Director of COMDIAL CORPORATICN, a Delaware corporation, do hereby
constitute and appoint Paul K. Suijk, Ralph R. Dyer, and Carla K. Luke, or any of them, my true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact, each with full power of substitution, for me and in my name, place and stead,
in any and all capacities (including without limitation, as Director of Comdial), to sign Comdial's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, which is to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, with all exhibits thereto, and any and all documents in connection
therewith, hereby granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and
perform any and all acts and things reguisite and necessary to be done, and hereby ratifying and
confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. This
power of attorney shall not terminate upon my disability.

Dated: 03/27/02

/s/ David P. Berg
David P. Berg




Exhibit 24

POWER OF ATTORNEY

I, Sanford Schlitt, a duly elected Director of COMDIARL CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation, do hereby
constitute and Paul K. Suijk, Ralph R. Dyer, and Carla K. Luke, or any of them, my true and lawful
attorneys-in-fact, each with full power of substitution, for me and in my name, place and stead, in any
and all capacities (including without limitation, as Director of Comdial), to sign Comdial's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, which is to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, with all exhibits thereto, and any and all documents in connection therewith,
hereby granting unto said attorney-in~fact and agent full power and authority to do and perform any and
all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done, and hereby ratifying and confirming all that
said attorney-in-fact and agent may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. This power of attorney
shall not terminate upon my disability.

Dated: 03/27/02

/s/ Sanford Schlitt
sanford Schlitt
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